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AMERICAN ARBITRATION ASSOCIATION

Piotr Nowak, : ‘
Claimant/Counterclaim : CASENO. 14166 01589 12.
Respondent :
v. 3

‘ Arbitrator: Margaret R. Brogan
Pentisylvania Proféssichal Seceet LLC
and Keystone Spotts and Enfertainment :

LLC, :
Respondent/Counterclaim
V.

Pino Sports LLC
Counterclaim Respondent:

THE PHILADELPHIA UNION’S POST-HEARING BRIE

Respondent/Counterelaim Claimarit, Pennsylvania Professional Soccer LLC (hereinafter;
the “Philadelphia Union™) and Respondent, Keystone Sports-and Entertainmient LLC
(hereinafier, “Keystone”)' (the Philadelptiia Unipni and Keystone will herejfiafter eollectivély be
referred toas “Respondent), by and through their attornéys, Buckianan Ingersoll & Rooriey PC;
hereby submit the following Past-Hearing Brief,

BUCHANAN INGERSOLL & ROONEY PC

By: ls/Thomas G. Collins
Thomas G. Collins, Esquire
PA 1D No. 75896 '
Anthony F. Andrisano, Jr., Esquire
PA 1D No. 201231
409:N. Second Street, Suite 500
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Phone: (717) 237-4800
Fax: (717) 233-0852
E: thomas.collins@bipec.com
E: anthony.andrisano@bipe.com
Attornieys for Philadelphia Union

Dated: December 5, 2014

! Of note, Claimant has inchuded Keystone Sports and Entertainmeént LLC as a Respondent. Claivant, however, was
employed at.ali-tinfes by Pennsylvania Professibnal Soceer LLC and not Keystene Sports and Entertainmernt LLC.
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1.  INTRODUCTION

At its:core; this matter is a :réiﬁtive[g simple dispute between a Ma_]or League Soccer
Cliib, the Philadelphia Union, and its Team Manager; Pioti Nowak (Hereinafter, “Nowak® or
#Claimant”) {collectively, the “Parties”). The Parties executed a Manager Employment.
Agréement (hereinaftér, the “Employment Agreement”) on June 1,.2009; which made Mr,
Wowak the “sole manager of the Teain {Philadelphia Uiiion]” through December 31,2012, On
Decenmber 20, 2010, the Parties executed a Letter K_g‘;r_eeﬁient Addendur; whicli;, ‘imerxaiﬁ"q,i
‘extended the tertn of the Agreement to December 31, 2015 '(hvezrei'naﬁex, the “2010 Extension™).
‘On December 20, 201 1, the Parties entered o formal Addendum to the:eriginal Agreement,
which, infer alia, expressly nullified the 2010 Extension anid provided specific detail régarding
compenisation-and othier mattets tied to the extefiding of the term of the Employmmént Agreement
through December 31, 2015 (hereinafter, the “2011 Extension”).

Shortly after the execution of the 2011 Extension, Claimant began engaging:inapattern.
of conduct that, 43 explained more fully below; not enly violated thesexpress tenns of the
Employment Agroement, but ultimately left the Philadélphia Union‘with'absolutelyno choice
but-to exercise its discretionary right to terminate theAEanpil‘oyment‘ﬁg;eement;. effective June 13,
2012, Pertinent in this regard, the Employment Agreement expressly provided the Philadelphia
‘Union with the right to unilaterally terminate the Employment Agreement — without any further
monetary obligation to Claimant — if #t determined, in its good faith diseretion, that Claimant
engaged in certain conduet delineated within the-Employment Agreement. In other wotds, priot
to gxecuting the Employment Agreement, the Parties; through their respective counsel,
negotiated and agreed to provide the Philadelphia Union with the discretion fo unilaterally

terminate the Employmient Agreement should it determine, in its good faith discretion, that.
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Claimant engaged ih ceitain-conductspecifically enumerated within the Employment
Agreemesit. This contractually allocated diseretion was appropriate considering the context of
the Employment Agreement, which placed Claimant in a-position. of being one of the
Philadelphia Union’s most visible tepresentatives while; at the same.time; providing him with a

sigiiificant salary, the poteiitial for bonuses, and ofhier valuable compensation:

The gvidenos elicited during the 5-day Hearing in this matter indisputably establishes that
the Philadelphia Union was well within its discretionary right to terminate the Employment
Agreement-effective June: 13, 2012, Indeed,the record evidencé establishes that, shortly after the
commencement of the:2012 season, Claffriant began engaging. in a reprehensible pattera of’
condirct that hot only provided a.good faith basis for the Philadelphia Union to exercise its
discretionaryright to terminate the Employment Agreement, but which also rose o such
significant Tevel that the Philadelphia Unjon had no choice buft exercise such discretion. As
explained more fully below, this.contuet included, but-was siof 1imitéd to: (1):Claimant’s.
interfering with the players® nghts to contaét?—tﬁéaMaj‘or League-Soceer Plﬁyerlé Union
(“MLSPU"); (2) Claimant’s inapproptiate on-field conduct it 'violation of League rules,
including without limitation his conduct during the Aprit 21, 2012 Chivas USA game wherein he
left the Technical Area, chatged onto the field.of play, and initiated physical confact with an
opposing player (resultingin fines afid a.suspension to Claimant as well as finés-on the
Philadelphia Union); (3) Claimant’s Jeopardizing of the health-and safety of the players when he
admittediy failed to follow the directives.of the Athletic Trainers and forced the players —
including injured players — to participate in an unprecedented 10-12 mile trail run on a concrete
surface — further denying the players the ability to hydrate during the arduous trail run; (4)

Claithant’s jeopardizing of the hiealth and safety of the Philadelphia Union players by creating an
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atmosphere wheré players felt they had to hide concussion symptoms from the Philadelphia
Union’s me@ix’:ﬁaiirs_ttaf‘f;;_(j_s,)ﬁaimgnt"s-inappropﬁaté hazing of players, which-involved Claimant
physically slapping rodkie players, SRS <1 d (6)
Clajmant's repeated material breaches of the Employment Agreement, including withont
‘fimitation, his:seeking of other-employment and making disparaging remarks about the
‘Phiiladelphia Uijon and its mafiagement during the time he'was employed with the Philadelphia
Union..

Claimant’s.actions in this regard — which were either admitted by Claimant or established
theough the-eredible and consisterit festimony elicited during the-5-day Hearihg — unquestionably:
foll withiin the aibit of the condiict delingated within the termination provision of the
Emjpl'qynffént&é;gfréeeméﬁt. Moreover, duetothie severity of suchyactions, the Philadelphia Union
ot only liad a good faith basisto exercise its-discretionary right to-terminate the Employment
Agreement, butt was left-with absolutely no:choies but to exercise such discretion. Although,
this'should be obvicus frotn the:circumstances, the actions.of both Major League:Soccer {*MLS”
‘or the “League”) and thie Major Leagus Soccer Playérs Union (“MLSPU?) fiirther confirithis
point, T fact; based upon thie actions of bath the League and the MLSPU, the Philadelphia
Union was left-with no cheiee’but to exercise its discretionary right to terminate the Employment:
Agreement. As explained more fully below, the MLSPU independently — not from the
management of the Philadelphia Uriion —~ learned of the actions taken by Claimant relative to the
players and immediately contacted ihie League, ultimately informing the League, for the first
time in its existence, that it would consider striking — withholding its players from-the

Philadelphia Union — If Claimant was not renoved as the Manager of the Philadelphia Union.
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Additionally, based upon the information it obtained from the MISPU - not from the
mattagettient of the Philadelphia Union — the League injtiated an independent investigation into
Claimant, wltimately determining that Claimant engaged in feprehensible conduct relative tothe
players and that-such conduct warranted the termination of Claimant as the Manager of the
Philadelphia Union, Significantly, after conducting its investigation drid understanding the
position of the MLSPU, the League issued a directive-to the Philadelphia Union — explicitly
inforining the Philadelphia Union that Claimant was prohibited ffom having any futhier contact
with:he players. Itis important tonote here that the players arc employed:by the League and not
the Philadelphia Union.

Asnoted below; the-position of the League in this regard is impottant ih twa material
respects. FriéifSt; ‘fhéEmpqumenfAgreem‘ent specifically provides that :it'canffﬁé“term{ﬁdteﬂ'-—-
withiout-any further monetary-obligation to Clainiant - if the Philadelphia Uniion is. directed by
the League to teminate or suspend the Employment Agreement, Secondly; the League’s
positionretative to Claimani’s-actions — as well as the:position:of the MLSPU — illnsteates that
the I!Hiladﬂph'i'a-.uﬁidn had a good faith basis toexercise itsdiscrétion and terminate the
Employment Agre.eiment, Indged, the Leapue and the MLSPU ~ the two primaty entities:
controfling the business of prafessional soceer in the United States — not only believed that
Claimant’s actions were significant enough to warrant the termination of the Employment
Agreement, but, again, they both actually took positions that left the Philadelphia Union with no
choice but to exercise its discretionary right to terminate the Employment Agreement,

Claimant has attempted to muddy the waters by arguing that the Philadelphia Union
términated the Employment Agreement as a result of its financial position and/or as a result of a

perceived personal vendetta the Philadelphia Unfon’s CEO and Operating Partner, Nick
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Sakiewicz, bad against Claimant. Such ﬁrgum_ei;;t?s, however, ate simply fed herrings that-are hot
suppotted by the record evidence. As noted abiove, three separate entities — the Philadelphia
Union, the League and the MLSPU - all determined irdependerntly that Claimant engaged in
reprehensible conduct relative to'the players.and that his-actiops-warranted the Philadelphia
Union exercising its discretionary right to remove Claimant as the coach of the Philadelphia
Union.

1. FACTS

A.

On or about March 15, 2012, atound.the end’of the 2012 preseason training camp,
representatives from the MLSPU, including‘its: Exgentive Directer, Robert Foose, visited with
‘the Philadelphia Union’s players. (SMF-938:) Following this Maich 13, 2012 meeting, Mr.
Foose.contacted the Philadelphia Unién’s: Technical Ditector; Diggo. Gutierrez, “

Y. - (S1i¥ § 39) Mr. Foose
and Mr. Gutierrez exchanged emails from the initial March 15, 2012 meeting through March 20,
2012, uitimately — at least from the perspective of the MLISPU —resolving the issue. Mr. Foose
testified on tie point as follows:

...[Mr. Foose] called Diego, talked it through. He said he would get back

to me. We then had an e-mail exchange e uNERENE NN,

? Along with the instant Bfief, the Philadélphia Union is simultaneously filing a Proposed Statement of Undisputed
Material Facts, The Philadelphia Union hereby incorporates the satne by reference.’

5
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So I-get that information back. 1 responded by e-email to Diego arid-
[C!mman; was copied on the e-email that Diego had sentto.me, I

tesponded and said: Okay, SR

(SMF Y 40) (emphasis.added.)

This issue, however, wasnot resolved from Claimant’s perspective.. In fuct, Claimant
became awaré 6f the: (M :oinplaint was brought fo the attentioii of the MLSPU,
48 Mr. Gutierrez not only informed hir of the cemplaint, but Claimant was copied on the:emails
exchanged between Mr. Gufierrez and Mr, Foose. (SMF §41.) After being made aware of the

WS i551¢, Claimant met With thie Philadelphia Union’s two |

asked Mr. Jiend M. () whetber they or another member of the team raised an-issue:
with the MLSPU N . (SMF | 44.) - Claimant then
informed M, S and Mr. SRS that issues,

|, shonld be brought-
to the Claimant and not the MLSPU -~ directing them not to contact the MLSPU. (SMF {45.)
After meeting with-Mr, Slland Mr. @SS in his office, Claimant held a feam miecting:

and communicated the same message to the team — that issues,

should be brought to his-attention and not the MLSPU. (SMF §46.) As testified to by Mr.
G d:ving this team meetitig, Claimant said:

,..that we shouid not involve the Players Union for something that we can
handle infernally,

(SMF 9 47.)

RN i iits office. (SMF 1§42-43)) Duringthis meeting; Clairdnt initially
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Claimant actually ackriowledges that hé told the playets iot:to- involve the MLSPU, specifically
ttesti@i:n"gffhat_,—;durihfgf-this team nigeting, he'told the players the following:

So 1f any kmd of lssues w1il ogeut, I told them:basmﬁly;that galease, 1f

questions from lhe Piayers Umon abbut any kand:-ofceﬂcems,you"hawe or
you mijght have in the: futute.

(SME ] 48) (emphiasis‘added.)

determined to iden tiffy;the player that Brciught the: s sue to the attention of theMLSPU =~
:£the_pigycr",th‘athe;,frfayed;h_:im_ — that went behind his back to the MLSPU. Indeed; shortly after
holding the team meeting, Claimdnt called Mr. JIMBand, again, asked him Who went:to-the
MLSPY with the QI issue, speeifically asking Mr. gl whiether hié wais the-ong that.
‘brought the fssue to flis MLSPU. (8MF §49.) Although Claimant denies making;this-call,

‘another Philadelphia Union player, SN, was prosent at the time. Mr. Sl received

the phone call fromi. Claimant and ¢onfirmed, through his:testimony, that Claimant. did in-fact
make: thiscall to Mr. (Sl (SMFY.50.)
Claimant also separately called Mr. SEMEJ in an atteinpt to ascertain the: identity of the
, piayer~ that brought the GEEINPissue to the MLSPU, specifically asking Mr. iilliiilfto reveal the
identity of the player who brought the GEJlllIP issue to the attention of the MLSPU. (SMF §
51.) .During this conversation with Mr. Sl Claimant also reiterated his belief that there was
110 need to use the MLSPU for issues that arise; they can be handled internally. (SMF Y 52.)
Apparently unsatistied with refusal of Mr. @Sl and Mr. @Sl o reveal the identity of
the player that brought the il issue to the MLSPU, Claimant decided to contaet Mr. Foose.
{SMF Y 52.) During his conversation with Mr. Foose, who, again, is the head of the MLSPU;
Claimant not only informed Mr, Foose that he did not.think it was appropriate for players to be

.
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talking to the MLSPU, but he also specifically asked M., Foose to identify the player that
brought the @I issus to his atteiition — to the attention of the MLSPU, (SMF Y53.)

This was an “extremely unusual conversation® for Mr. Foose, a5 he never before had'a
conversation where.a coach-asked hi to disclose the fdentity of a player that raised an issue
with the MLSPU. .(SMF 154.) Notwithstanding the-unusuainess of his conversation with
Claimant, Mr. Foose did not immediately eontact the League; as he was:made aware of the
communications between Cimmantande‘andhe was aftaid Claimant would vetaliate
against Mr. GBI (SMF 55.) M, Foose’s:appreliension:in this regard turned out to be
completely warranted, as Claimant, admittedly; believed:that Mr. SESENSEENEEES.:ought the

A ssuc to the attention of the MLSPU, (SMF956.) Mr. SEIBwas traded a mere two-

weeks after Claimanit made the telephione call to M SMEMspecifically asking him whether he
was the one who raised:the issite with the MLSPU. (SMF 56.) Interestingly, while €laimant
maiittaing that the trade of Mr. S was nottetaliatory in nature; the record evidence
establishes that, during an emotichal statement made by Claimant after the May 26,2012 game.
against Tofonto” — & gatne of two aftér Mr. —was traded ~ Claimant threatened the team,
specifically stating that:

...he couldn’t be fired,. .he wasn’t afraid to do anything in regards to the
team... '

...he wasn’t afraid to shake the tree...he had traded awady [the] SUNR_—
(O - [the] leading goal scorer...[he] wasn’t affaid to make
moves and to roll with-it.

(SMF 1 94.)

Accordingly, while Claimant maintains that his trading of Mr. Slllllwas not retaliatory, the:

record evideénce establishes that Claimant used his trading of Mr. S S ::fcrred to in

? It was the May 26,2012 game against Toronto—the game where Toronto beat the Philadelphia Union, picking up
its first win of thé season. (SMF 1Y 90-94:)
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‘his eritotional statement, to-thregaten the players. In other words, do not crdss him, or you will be
traded..
After M., SEMBas traded; the MLSPU brought the following three issues to the
afterition of "_thﬁvjl-,eggugﬂdn{%ir;gza.preschedui‘e;d meeting it had with the League on May- 2'2,‘:
(1) the GNP issue; (2) fwo separate interférence issues —Claimant informing players not to
contact the Players ﬂﬂim@ﬁdclaiinam pressuring SEEREGEGGGGE disclose the
Adentity of individvals exercisitig their Union rights; and (3) their belief that Mr. SRSMwas.
traded in‘retaliation for Claimant's belief that Vir, SENSNNRNENG raiscd the SNIIIIP issue with
the MLSPU. (SMFY57.) Todd Durbin, the Executive Vice President of Competition, Playes
-and Labor Reélationsfor the Leagie; summed up the May 22, 2012 meeting as follows:
the?iayers Union had an issue that not only was Mr. Nowak directifig
them:aet 1 bringissuesto the Players Union but also séemed to be trying
tor find ont:who; in fact; had brought these issues to the Players Union aud
they were' véry concerned about retaliation takirgplace...one of their core
assertions was that there was a trade:-of a player by the name of Gl

OO ndl thiat they believed that not only was there the potential threat-of
tetaliation, but that retaliation Wa$ taking place.

(SMF{58.)

On ar about May 24, 2012, after hie met with the MLSPU, Mr. Durbin called Mr.
Sakiewicz-and informed hitn that there were several complaints regarding Clabmant interfering
with players’® rights fo commuricate with the MESPU, and, as a result, the League was:
performing an investigation. (SMF §59.)

To that end, not only did Claimant potentially violate the QISP cstablished by the
League’s Collective Bargaining Agreement, but he also interfered with the players” rights to
contact the MLSPU and retaliated against a player that he errantly believed betrayed him by

exercising his MLSPU rights. Moreover, Claimant’s actions in this regard were independently —
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ot by the management of the Philadelphia Unilon — brought to the attention of the MLSPU and
the ?Eeagué, resulting in an investigation being perfofmed:by the League.

Claimant’s Violation of League Rules During the April 21, 2012 Guame Against
Chivas:USA, including his Initiation of Contact with an 0 posing Player:

©On April 21, 2012, Claimant coached the Philadelphia Union in a gaime against Chilvas
USA. (SMF 61.) Duringthis game, Claimant, in violation of League Rules, left the:co;oz;s_
Technical Area, ran onto the field, participated in a “melee™ with the players, and initiated
physical contact with a playeron the opposing tearn. (SMF §72.) Morespecifically, asshown
within'the: video produiced by the Philadelphia Union relative to the:April 21,2012 Chivas USA
game," a Philadelphia Union player, SEMSEENN cngaged in & two-footed, studs-up challenge
(tackle) oan opposing player, resulting in Mr.@ireceiving.a red card and gjection from'the
gariie, (SMP{ 63,65, Mr.qEEEER challenge caused tempers to “flare” and.an ensiiing
“melee.” (SME §66.) Aspartofthe “nielee,” Claimant tefi the coach? 5“Technical Afea” - in
yiolation'of League rules ~ charged on to'the field and pushed - initiated physical contact with -
the goalkecper for Chivas USA.” (SMF 167.)

Contrary to ¢lear video evidence illustrating that Claimant pushed the goalkeeperfor
Chivas USA, Claimant initially testified that he did not “push-anybody:” (SMF § 68.) He later
attemipted to justify his actions during the Aprit21, 2012 Chivas USA game by elaiming that he
was protecting Mr. (Il (SMF { 69.) In other words, Claimant, an experienced coach of a
professional soccer team, believes he can justify his actions — justify why he thought it was
necessary to violate League rules by leaving the Technical Area, charging onto the field,

engaging in a “melee” with the players, and initiating physical contact with a player — by

* Of note; Claimant testified that the video produced by the Philadelphia Union —Respondent Exhibit 6 — fairly and
.accuratety reflected what bappened on April 21, 2012. (SMF {64.)

3 Aifhough nhappens quickly, if you pause the-video at the 1:53 minute miarky it-is cléar that Claimant pushes-the
opposing teatn’s poalkeeper,

10
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claiming that he was protecting Mi. (Sl - Forémost; thiere simply is 1io justification fora
sodch to leave the Technical Area and chatge onto the field of play, tetialone:for the coaclito
further initiate physical contact with'a piayer on the opposing team. Moreover;, even if such
actions:could be justified, the rationale offered by Claimant — that he was:protecting Mr. SR —
is not supported by the record evidence:. Indegd, a careful review of the' video illustrates that; at
the time Claimant reached Mr. W, the référee Was already there taking control of the
situation® (SMF §69.) Additioinally, at the time Claimant réached Mr. MR two to thtee
Philadelphia Union players were already there.or arriving atthe-same time-as Claimant—one-of
which was right there to protect Mr. (llll8:om the goalkeeper~ from the opposing player
Claimant pushed. (SMF {70y In fact, jh response to-being pushed by Claimant, the goalkeeper,
trying to get to Claimant; pushied that Philadelphia Univhplayet who was in-between him and
Clatmant.” (SMF {70.).

Not:only did Claimant’s actions-during the April 21,2012 Chivas USA game result in
Claimant teceiving a réd card ejection froni the game, buit the League also-took it upon itself to
conduct:an investigation into Glatinant’s ,candfuét.v (SMF {62, 73.) After completing its
investigation, the League concluded that the Claimant, in violation of League rules, left the:
coaches Technical Area and “initiated contact with an opposing player.” (SMF Y 73.) Based
upon the resulfs of its investigation, the League fined Claimant $5,000 and suspended him for
two (2) games. (SMF §76.) The League also fined the: Philadelphia Union $5,000. (SMF 75,)

Sipnificantly, while this was the first time that Claimant initiated physical contact with 4
player, this was not the first time Clalinant initiated physical contact with someone during his

tenure with the Philadelphia Union; he also pushed another Philadelphia Union employee, Rick

¢ See the video at the.0:15 mark anid 1:50 mark.
7 Again, see the video at the (215 mark and 1:50 mark,

11
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Jacobs, afiér a reserve-game in 2011, (SMF §78.) Similarly, this was ot the first time Claimant
received ared :Ca]a‘d!-'gjpc‘:tion from a gate fof 1éaving the Coach’sTechnical Area. Z(SMFfﬂ"ﬂ,-);
Indeed, he also received ated card and wasejected for leaving the Technical Area duringa U.S.

Open Cup game:against DC United on April 6,2011. (SMF Y 77.)

As a result of his red card ‘and ejection for violating Lisague ruleés by leaving:the
Technical Area:and initiating contact with-an opposing player during the April 21, 2012:Chivas
USA garme, the League suspended Claimant for two.games — the April 28,2012 gane against
‘San Jose and the May 5; 2012 game against Seattle, (SMF 94 83-84; 86.) The Philadelphia
Union lost both of these! gaimes.. (SMF 74 85, 87.) Unfoirtunately; its winless streak-coftinuéd
when Claimant retoraed fram his suspetision, s the Philadelphia Union. lost:its riext League.
‘game against the New- Yotk Red Bulls, and then it tied its following League game against FC
Dallas. (SME {1 88-89.)

The Philadelphia Union’s fiext League game was on May 26, 2012 against Toronto, and
although Toronto had-trot yet won d gathe at that point in the season, it eided up beating the
Philadelphia Union, (SMF 9§ 50-91.) After the game, Claimant was upset:and admittedly made
an “emotional statement” to the players. (SMF 4 92.) More specifically, according to several
players, Claimant made the following “emotional statement” after the. Toronto game:

We were supposed to have five days off, but not.I’mh going to think about
how long that’s actually going to be. We’re going to get home, we're
going to work hard, we're going to shake tree, and we’re going to figure

out who'sticks and who doesn’t...My job is not going anywhere, I ¢an’t be
fired.

12
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Cancel your trips. We're going to go back and we’te going to work hard,
(SMF 193.)
‘Within his “emotiorial statement,” Claimant also informed the:players that:

.:he-couldn’t be fired...he wasn't-afraid to do anything in regards-tothe
tean...

o Jie wasn’t afraid to shake the: trge, . ,he had traded away SN G_—_hd
[fhe,] leading goal scorer.. [he} wasn’t afraxd o make:moves and to:rell
with it;

(SMF §94.)

Claimant acknowledges that he originally — prior to the Torento game—planned:to.give
the players at Jéast four days-off starting on May 30, 2012, (SMF 95} However, as threatencd
‘fiv his “emotional statetnent” after the Torohto:ganie;® Claitait cancelledithe pliyers’ schisduled
days-off - requiring players to cancel their-vacation platis —and made thie players, forthe first
time in team history, show up at a trail located.atthe Youth Soccer Center (“¥8C”).on May-31,
2012: (SMF{99.)

2 Claimant’s Denial of Waterto the Players:Dyring the Tiail Rin,

The trail, which s located approxirmately-100 yards from fhe YSC facility, is-a-blacktop/
cement/pavement trail that is approximately two body widths wide, uneven in parts with rolling

hills, and approximately 1.3 miles in length. (SMFY] 100-101.) On that particular day, May 31,

¥ Notably, three days afier the Toronto game — on May 29, 2012 — the Philadeiphia Union had a U.S, Open Cup
{(non-League) game against the-Rochester Rhinos. (SMF §96.) Claithant, however, was unable to coach this game,
as he was suspended from the game as a result of his receipt of a red card ejection for leaving the coach’s Technical
Area during the. PhiladeIphia Union’s last U.S. Open Cup'game’on April 6, 2011, (SMF 197.) Accordingly, asa
result of g inappropriate on-f1 eld actions —~ including Ieaving the coach’s Techrical Atea on two separate occasions-
-as.well as his initiating contact with an opposmg player—Claimant was suspended and nnable to coach the
Philadelphia Union for three (3) games in a seven (7) game stretch from May 5, 2012, through May 29,2012. (SMF

fi98.)

13




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 22 of 116

2012, it was hot dnd suriny, about 80 degress and humid.” (SMP §102.) Shortly after the
players arrived at thie trail, Claiimant divected themy1o begin running the trail; he did not inform
them haw far he-was making theim run, he simply told.them:to keep running until he told them to
stop. (SMF §103) Afterthe:players completed three lengths of the trail —approximately 4
miles (“First Iiiterval’?) — he directed them t6 take ashort break, (SMF {105.)

During the shortbreak,Ciaamaniadmzttediy to?dthe players that they were prohibited
from hydrating — from drinking any-water — diririg the trail run,'” (SME ¥ 108.) Generally
speaking, it is the responsibility of the Athletic Traiiers to ensure the players are appropriately
‘Tydrated during practices, (SMF9.106.) Inthis regard, of thetime of the May 31, 2012 trail run,
the Athletic Trairers brotight 24 reusable “Gatorade™ watef boftles, Which are 22-otnce “squirt”
bottles; out to.the trail ~thete was essentially at leastione 22-ounce “squirt” bottle-available for
each player. (SMF 1107;) Although'these water bottles were available-to the players; after the
players completed the First Interval, Claimant refysed 1o allow players to,use them. (SMF{
108.) Tn fact, Claimant: adniits that tié took the reusable squit bottles provided by the Athletic
Trainers from the players and threw theri in‘the bushes"! (SMP{ 109.)

Believing that the denial of water'to. the players qupardized their health and safety,

especially considering the weather and the arduous nature.of the trail run, the Philadelphia

® Towatds the end of therhearing, Claimant infroduced —as Claimant Exhibit 13 — a Quality Controlled Local
Climatological Data Report (“Weather Report™); which, accordmg to-Claimant, provides a fair assessment of the
weatheron May 31, 2012, Itappears as though Claimant is offering this evidence to counteract the testimony of
several witnesses relative to the weather during fhe May 31,2012 trail run. Significantly, however, this Weather
Report only details the weather observed at the Philadelphia’ International Airport, which is approximately 30 miles
awa ‘rom the YSC fuellity. Accordmgiy, it does noi provade an accurate representat;on of the weather n( ﬂ:e YSC

¥ {mportantly, Claimaat admiits that he did not monitor or ensure that the piayers were hydrated before the start of
the run. (SMF §104.)

 Mr. GEEREtestified that he specifically witnessed Claimant take the reusable squirt water bottles and hide thent in
the woods — telling players “you guys don’t need water.” (SMF{ 110.)

14
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Union’s Head Athletic Trainer, Paul Rushing, confronted Claimant about his decision to deny
‘water 10 the players.. Mr. Rushing described the ensuing argument with Claimant as follows:

.-we had the bottles out, the watei bottles out and the Gatorade squieeze
bottles, arid put 'hose out and the p}ayers started gettmg a drmk  which 5.
andard, and ther oki r y. And
ther they-a 'Went on their next: bout [mterval trail run] and then I got inan
argument about the:water with him...He just said, *no water’...in a harsh

d apair, this whale thing was kind of snowba!lmg and I was

_,ve 1t was happemng And .my job is to protect the.
3 s way and do what I

1felt kke fwasxi’f"ai}ewed td do that. Ana agam, I was JUSt 'reali}) '
frustrated and really-upsetabout that...

So When [the piaygrs} iefc agam we got mtc more. of an argument and

'tizem i ‘tha bﬁskes.

s [Claimanit)..was basically saying...this is What 1 say and thisis
,wkat I want.you to.do-and i vou’re not with me, you're agginst me
Kind of thing. ..

(SMF q 111) (emphasis added.)

Philadelphia Union player, “happened to finish his First Interval of the:

ffo_i‘fiavszﬁirgzg:‘~exeﬁang'_e-t'ake plage between. Mr‘.»Ru'shing and Claimant:

...After both of them went _backand forth about whether water should be
distributed or not, Mr. Rushing,..pretty much had a Pontius Pilate
moment where he was like, *You kaow what? You’re in charge, but I
refuse to have my hands in this because this isn’t right. So if this is what
you want to do, I’m washing my hands of this. T want no part-of this. But
this isn’t right...[Claimant] — T remember him saying this distinctively
—was like...‘T don’t care, P’'m going to make men out of these guys.’

{(SMF § 114) (emphasis added:)
Accordingly, despite M, Rushing’s repeated efforts to convince Claimant that the denial
of water to the fp‘lgyers. during the trail run jeopardized their health and safety, Claimant refused

to concede his position — stating he “didn’t care,” he was “going to make men out of [the

15
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players);™® Claimant’s position in this regard is quite inferesting eonsidering that:Claimant
knew that MLS:games were actually being stopped fo allow players to take breaks and stay.
hydrated.. (SMF{ 130.) Nonetheless, agaist the clear directives of Mr. Rushing, Clatinant
refused to-allow the players to hydrate during the trail run, He simply:told them to keep:.runﬁin‘g;
untif he told them to stop.. (SMF 4 115.) In total, the players ran three-or four Intervals, totaling
Approximately 10-12 miles — all on a conerete surface; in hot and humid weather, and without the.
ability.to hydiate. (SMF {116

Itis important to reiterate that Claimant not only refised to-allow the playets to access.
waterduring the trail run, but he also physically took-water bottles from the hands.of the players:
and M, Rushing. Indeed, orie player, TR, tcstificd that when he-finished the Fitst
Interval of the tun, he witnessed Claiant physically take water b.dttles;'ﬁfdm ‘Mr. Rushing and
thow them. (SMF 4 114.) ‘Another player, SRSESNEGNY testificd that; after he complotod the
Fist Interval of the run, the following occurred:

Again, 1 sort-of happened upon it already oceurring and [Claimant}-was

like pretty explicitly letting everybody. know that.they weren’t goingto:
“haveany water '

And 1 remember having like a Kirkland Costco boftle, much like that
sort of plastic hottle, in my hand, And he [Claimant] took the water
bottle out of my hand and said that wlhen you’re thirsty, you lose
focus—which 1 sort of thought at the time, well, if I’in thirsfy and I get
some water, then 1’1l be focused, I'll be ready to run some more — and
then tossed if fo the side,

And then there were some hushed conversations going-on between. Paulie
[Paul Rushing], John [Hackworth}, and [Claimant] and I remermber kind of
uestioning Paulie as to, you know, frankly: What the hell’s going on? I

"2 Claimant also admits that made the following statements to Mr. Rushing.during the May 31, 2012 trait ron:

No fucking water put the water back, water will makeyou lose foous and if' yow’re thirsty you are
weak.

(SMF 4 118.)
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mean, it’s hot és hell, we’re outhere running: There’s no reason why: guys
shouldn’t have water. 1-certainly never had seen anything like that.

(SMFq112)

Additionally, after initially aiguing with Claimant regarding the playérs’ access to water
during the trail run, Mr. Rushing — as heé'was cxtre'rfﬁéiy toncerned abﬁuttp’iayeré' bcéo‘mifng
dehydrated —tried to sneak water to theplayers, but Claimant, once. again, physically took the
water bottles from M, Rushing, walked through the-players and threw the-water bottles into the
woods/bushes. (SMEY 116))

Accordingly, not orily did Claimant deny players agoess to water against the wishes.of
Mr,_Rush'En_g, but he also be¢ame physical with the playees and M. Ruishitig ~ physically taking
water bottles — including at least one individual, disposdble water bottle ~ from the hands of
players and Mr. Rushing and threw them into-the weods/bushes.

Once again needing to find som@ justification for his actions, Claimant testified that he
deriied water to the'players becavisé onie of %e‘{paner‘;s,T—_'was» sick and he did not
want the other players to get his illness. (SMF 9 119) This fast ditch and contrived etfort to
ﬂj,us’eify his actions — his-actions in jeopardizing the health and safety of the players-—was clearly
not-well thought out and, quite frankly, is absurd given the circumstances. First, after blaming
his withholding: of the water on M. SR sickness; Claimant testified that Mr.(i»was
sent back to the locker room. immediately after the-warm-up, (SMF 4120 In other words, Mr.
SR 5 not present during the trail run — during the time Claimant denied the players access
to water — and, thus, he obviously would have been unable to contaminate the water supply.
Second, Claimant, during the May 31, 2012 trail run, never mentioned M. (EEor his
sickness as the reason for his. denial of waterto the :ﬁlayers; rather, as-confirmed by the players

and Mr. Rushing, Claimant simply and repeatedly stated:
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.water makesyou weak. ¥you’re thirsty, you're weak... M you're
thirsty, you lose-focus...

(SMF 1 121) {emphasis added:)
In fact, Claimant admits that he made the following statements to Mr. Rushing during the May-
31,2012 trail fun:

No fucking water putthe water back, water will make you losé focus:
and if’you’re thirsty you are weak.

(SMF { 118) (emphasis added:y

Thitd, the record evidence establishes:that, generally speaking, when a player is siek; the
Athletic Trainers-take one of the 22-ounce reusable “squirt” bottles and pot different color tage
on it to-ensure that-only the sick player uses that particular water bottle —and:that the sipk:pih;zer
dogés not-drink outof the other water bottles. (SMF] 122.) In other words, Claimant’s-alleged
worry aboit Mr. (N sicktiess would have easily been resolved by. followings the standard
protacol of giving Mr, (e water bottle with a piece of tape-on it.

Fourth, the offered justification does not explain why Claimant ﬁhys"ibai;y took an.
individual,-disposable bottle From the hands of Mr: (I

Fi»fth,.}and, perhaps most importantly, any alleged eoncern over Mr. G sickiess
could have been easily. resolved by directing Mr. Rushing and the playets to ensure that-only
individual, disposable bottles were used. In fact, Claimant testified that if the players were given.
individual, disposable bottles of water or Gatorade, it would have probably alleviated his
concerns rélative to Mr. (I stomach flu. (SMF ¥ 123.) As established within the record
evidence, individual disposablé bottles of water and Gatorade were in fact available at YSC at
the time of the run. (SMF ¥ 124.) Indeed, Mr. Rushing brought three ice chests (one with

wheels on it) filled with thrée cases of individual (not shared) 16.9-ounce disposable water
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‘bottles and threé cases of individual (not shared) 20-ounce disposable Gatorade bottles to the
YSC that day. (SMF §126.) If requested — or if Mr. Rushing knew that-a player’s'sickness was.
the redson Claimant was denying hydration to the players — Mr. Rushing would have easily taken
the three.(3) minute, 100 yard walk from the trail to.cbitain the individual, disposable water and
Gatorade bottles, (SMR Y 127.) This was not dorie because contrary-to Claitant’s later
conitrived explanation — he simply never raised the issue. (SMFYY] 120-125)

Sixth, the May 31, 2012 training session was not the only time Giaf’&nzinf;@‘lﬁééalwater
limitations on the players, Tndeed, during the practice held on Jine7,2012, Claimant also
‘plaged a water volume limitation on the players, informing each:player that they wererlimited to
‘orie bottle of water-for the entire practice. (SMFYY 160-164.) M, S desctibed the water
limitation imposed by Clairant dirrinig the Jun 7, 2012 practics as follows:

..in reaction to the game we Just played against D.C. United, which was

an Open-Cup quarterﬁnal game it D.C;, so the ifcident with tha® |
the rumamg happener.i the week befere in praparaﬁon for that game, we: go

League game, and it comes to the point.of the Water hreak befcause
there 5 usuaiiy a standard water bieak duting each pracﬁce aﬁd. o .I

(SMF 7 163.)

Based upon the foregoing, Claimant’s attempt to offer (NN iliness as.an “after-
the-fact” justification for denying water to the players during the May 31, 2012 trail run is a
thinly veiled last ditch effort on his part to mask his completely inappropriate actions — actions

that he now knows jeopardized the health and safety of the players. In fact, this purported
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Jjustification is oﬁiy important in oné respect— it illustrates thaf Claimant understands the

serfousness of his decision to-prohibitplavers froni hydrating during a 10-12 mile trail rium, In

other words; if Claimant traly believed he-did notjeopardize the health-and safety of the players
by denying them water during the May 34, 2012 trail run, he:woyild not have:attempted to justify
‘his actions, especially with a justification so clearly finsupported by the record evidence.

3.

Before the start of practice on May 31, 2012; Mt, Rushing informed Claimant inside the
'YSC facility that four players wete on the injury List— SEETEGNGGGG_G_—E, vith 2 right big toe
injury, WS it 2 right ankle injuty, SRR v ith gastroenteritls, and (N
W with an ankle injury — and it was his.opinion that they should not participate in the trail

run; they shiould reinain i the facility.on a-bike: SMFE 131 With regards to Mr. NS

Mr. Rushing was:coricsined his participating in‘the rin — even'simply walking — because:

[N W suffered a toe fnjury... aud pbviously the big toe is the

weightbearing part of your foot, you don’t wint to put-weight on that foot.

if it’s-a fresh injury like that,
(8MF 7132.)
M. Rushing wanted Mr. Wl ori & bike; which is rionweightbiearing and-allows a player to
get fitness without pufting any pressure on the joint or the injured partof the body. (SMF 133.)
Similarly, Mr. Rushing-also did mot want Mr. (NN or Mr. GEEE paiticipating in the frail run
because he was afraid they would aggravate theic ankle Injuries — neither ¢f them had-ankles that
were ready for a 10 mile run on conerete in Mr. Rushing’s opinion. (SMF 134.)

Prior to start.of the May 31, 2012 trail run, My, Rushing conveyed his coucerns regarding

Mr. GEENRS, M. SN :nd Mr. G0 Claimant. (SMF ¥ 135.) Claimant’s response to

Mr. Rushing was that everyone “was going to go outside’™ and, to Mr. Rushing’s shock, Claimant
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shiocking to M. Rushing was that Clainiant also informed him that neither Mr. Rushing nor thie:
team dagtors were going:tomake. decisions régarding the ability of a player to train ot play in 2
game; these decisions were.now going to b made by Claimant.” (SMF{ 137.)

Interestingly enough; Claimant admitted during his testimony that, contrary to the clear
direction of Mr; Rushing; he “ordered” the injuréd players to participate — at least walk — the trdil
on May31,2012. (SME'Y[ 138) More specifically, Claimant testified that lie “ordered” TS
g S - SR participate in the trail run even though Mr.
Ru_s'li?ifi.lg,,@xgiidiﬁy‘infémm&l@iﬁimantthat they had injuries and should not participate. (SMF 4
139.). Tn faet, as it relates to his forcing of injured players to participate in the May 31, 2012'trail
rim, Clairiant testiffed as follows::

Q. Didiyowinsttuet hit to run on May 31%?

A, ..1told thatthe injury group that Papl Rushing was referring to would be the
Group No: 3:and they will walk the trail.

Qi Okay. 8o, you did instruct himito walk the trail; correct?
Yes.

Q. And Paul Rushing had told you that he wanted him back inside the facility on flie
bike; correct?

A.  That’s what he indicated before we leave the facility. He was making strong case
thiat those players have to be in the facility on the bikes.

(SMF ¥ 141.)
As aresult of their forced participation in the interval trail run on May 31, at least three
players — Mr. SR M. NN =nd Mr. SRR suffered set-backs with their injuries,

likely requiring these players-to miss additional playing time. (SMF Y 144.) At least two of the

B Claimant niade this statement f6°Mr. Rushing even though he readily admits that he is nota licensed dthletic.
trainer. {SMF § 143.)

21




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 30 of 116

irijured playets forced to paiticipate in the May 315t run, CNESSESRNND 2nd O
were viiable to-play in the next gairie for the Philade!iph’ia Union: In faet, both players were
unableto ',piay:.fér. at least sixteen (16) days after the run. (SMF 4 145.)
Additionally, at least one player — (NI +2s injured during the.interval frail
run, Mr. B testified directly on the point:
[had pain in'my foot the second day of the run, starting theraa. A bitof

‘pain that night. Tried to getthrough the first segment: of the second ~ day
‘tun-and [the Assistant: Athletic Trainer] pulled tie and said that’s etiolighi.

Kk #
..Shortly after they sent me to Chip Hummer, the team dostor; the team

physzclan, to get an MRL...Jt revealed I had a stréssreaction. Dr, Hummet

‘basically said had T gone any longer, it wonld have-turned fato a-stres

fracture, And sxzbsequently ] was on crutehies for afew days, T couidn’t

putany weight on it..
(8MF 4 146))
Inshort, Mr. (I vs injured ot May 31, 2012 during: the:trail run—apparently due to the.
Teéngth and intefisity of the running/training. (SMEY 147.) As atesult of the injury he suffered
diiring the trai ii::fu'n_;i Mr. -Was unablefo play forat least a week — missing at-léast one
game. (SMF ¥ 148.) Additionally, & “handful” of other players, including (NS
(complaining that his “feet were on fire”), came to Mr. Rushing after the May 31, 2012 run
seeking treatment— with several of the players being referred to a doctor the next day or within
thenext couple of days. (SMF § 149.)

Importantly, not only did Claimant, against the clear directives of the Athletic Trainers,

force injured players to participate in the May 31, 20 12 frail run, but he also told Mr. Rushing
that all medical decisions regarding the ability of a player to train or play ina game were now

going to be fiade by Claimant. Additionally, as:a result of Claimant’s actions in this fegard, the
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injured players not only suffered setbacks relative to their injuries, but:other players. actually
sustained injuries as a result of the length/ihtensity of the teail rum,

D. s It

.lee Involvemem 0f thie. Lea; e amI 1he MLSPU Occurred Ina‘e‘ endently:

On June 1,:2012 — the day aftér the May 31, 2012-trail rui:and, presumably, after Mr.
Fooise spoke with Phifadelphia Union playérs’ — Mr. Foose-contacted Mr. Durbisi'® to inform
him of the actions taken by Claimant during the May 31, 2012 practice; specifically informing
Mr. Durbin of the excessive length/intensity of the trail run, the fact that Claimant withheld
water from the players during the-run, the fact that Cldimant required injured players to
participate in the run, and the confrontation Claimant idd:with medical staft.”? (SMF {9 165-
166.) At.or around the same timie, Mr, Durbit was also made-aware of Claimant’s actions during'
the May 31, 2012 practice from Evan Hfi&biyﬁ;ﬁyh;o,féatf:.fhe.tim%: was in charge of team frainers
and medical operations: for the League: (SMF §167.) More specifically, Mr. Dabby informied
M. Durbin that the Philadelphia:Union team traitier (Vr, Rushing) had a “very serious incident
take place” during a training session ~both as it related to having injured players participate in
training and the withholding.of hy&ratimﬁtq‘pi»ayars., (SMF 4 168.)

At the time he received the information fiom Mr. Foose and Mr. Dabby — on or about

June 1, 2012 —the League, through Mr. Durbin, was already investigating the MLSPU

" Several piayers festified relative to the length-and intensity of the May 31, 2012 trail run, stating that it was

absofutely excessive. In fact, secording to Mr. (NI “[i1t was roughly twice as long as [he’d] ever run in [his)
@ years of professional soceer. .. including [his) tinie with the [United States) National Tean.” (SMi‘ Y9 153-155°)

Similarly, Mr, GEEED, who hias been a player within the Leagne for @ years and who also has expetience playing

for the United States Men’s National Soccer Team, testified that he had never previously been asked to run the

distance he was asked to run by Claimant during the trail un on May 31,2012, (SMF§ 156.)

Y The League, and not the Philadelphia Union, technically enploys the players. (SMF §220.)

' Atall times pertinent to the instant lmgatfon, Mr: Durhin was responisible for investigating, on behalf of the

League, any allegations of wrongdoing made against coaches, (SMF  166.)

17 Although M, Foose obtained the information relating to the May 31, 2012 trail nun from the players of the

Phﬂadelphza Union, he did not disclose the identity of the players to the League. (SMF¥171.)

% As noted in more detail, Mr. Dabby was'made-aware of Claimant’s actions on May'31, 2012 as a resnit of a report

prepared by Mr. Rushing,. (SMF 1 167.)

23




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 32 of 116

interference-allegations against Claimant (made at the end of May, 2012). (SMF {169, 1732
Upon receipt of these additional aliegation's; “major alarm bells” went off for Mr. Durbin, &nd, s
aesult, he informed Mr. Foose that the League would immediately conduet an-additional
investigation into Claimant’s actionsduring the May 31,2012 trail run. (SMF: 1[1[ 190, 172.) M.
Durlsin was responsible for overseeing the League’s investigation into, Claimant, although he was
assisted by Brett Lashbrook, the Special Assistant to the Commissioner. 9 (SMF 9] 177-178:):

Undéistanding the ‘serlousness of thie allegations made dgainst Claimant And toensure
that the health and safety of the players were not put at further risk, Mt. Durbin called ahd-
emailed Mr. Sakiewicz informing hiim of the allegations made against Claimant - the most
immediate of which was that Clairiant was not following the advice/input of the frainer. (SMFPY
179.) In particutar, on Jurié 6, 2012, Mr. Durbin sent'an email to M, -=Sai¢iéw.i=¢z;-ﬁf¢v iding him
with a letterdated May 31, 2012, frony Mr. Rushing to thie Philadelphia Union’s Team Physican,
Dr. Chip Hummer. (SME| 181,). This May 31, 2012 letter of Mr. Rushing informed Mr.
Durbin, the League; and Mr, Sakiewicz of the following issues relative fo.the May 31,2012
practice;

» That Mr. Rushing felt the players’ health was put at risk when they weré not
allowed to have water by Claimant during an 3-10 mile interval run in 80-82

degree heat;
» That Mr., Rushing felt at least three players suffered set-backs with their injuries;
. That when Mr, Rushing attempted to raise these issues with. Claimant; he was
advised by Claimant that neither he or any other member of the medical staff
W would make the determination as to which players are healthy enough to play in

each game or to part;mpate in training sessions — he was further totd that these
decisions were going (o now be made by Claimant.

{SMF ¥§ 182.)

 Gignificarily, the League does not lrave formal due process rules or appeal procedures with respect to'coaches.
(SMF § 190.)
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In response to Mr, Durbin®s June 6; 2012 erail, Mr. Sakjewicz senit an email to Mr,
Durbin assusing him:that he had iistructed the medical staffto'¢ontinue to-administer thie highest
level of medical care to the players and, if anything should change or prevent ihem from doing

After-ensuring that Mr. Sakiewicz understood the seriousness;of the-allegations:against
Claimarit and that Mr. Sakiewicz was taking measures to engiure that the health-and safety of the
‘players were being protected, Mr. Durbin informed Mr. Saliewicz that the League was
‘performing an investigation into these allegations—an investigation that was:iivaddition to'the
-;gngoi_ng-'inve:s,ti:g,a_tion the League was alrcady-_perfc)rmir_\rg'ase;asrrg:,s_u}t; of the playersunien
interference allegations made against Claimant at the-end of May, 2012: (SMF-Y 180:).

‘Shoitly théreafter, Mr. Durbin déterminied that the Letgue woild condiict a'series.of
fivterviews, and, after the completion ofthe interviews, Mr. Durbin would discuss the League’s
findings with Mr. Sakiewioz ~ before it put together:a report formally detailing the League’s
findings. (SMF Y 184.) As the players of the Philadelphia Uniion were “exirerely aftaid™ of the
potential “consequences” or “refaliation” if it became ktigwh that they paﬁzi’cipate'd"iii the
League’s investigation; the MLSPU asked thef.LEz}gut'e-to put Confidentiality Agreeme‘ntzs,}n
pﬁffac&m (SMF 4§ 174) The MLSPU and the League where able to agree on the language of the
Confidentiality Agreements and the League began its investigation into the allegations made

against Claimant. (SMF §176.)

20 Significantly, there was only one ofher instance in which the MLSPU-asked the League to putin place 2
Confidentiality Agreement relative to a League investigation into misconduct ~ that ‘othér Idstance invoived
Clairnant during Claimant’s tenure-as the head coach ofanother MLS team, DC United, (SMF §175.)
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Oi1 Suniday, June 10,.2012; the Leagué — through Mr. Durbin’s inivestigation — condueted
the gontemplated series ofiﬁtéW'ieWs§ ‘initially fiterviewiig Mr. Rushing®’ and then interviewing
the players. (SME-Y 185.) Later i the-day on June 10,2012, after completing the interviews,
Mr. Durbin contacted Mr: 'Séléiewiczgan:déinf‘omcd him:that a-formal report would be provided
shiortly, but that the testimony-received fiom the players was “very disturbing.” (SMF §191.)
During their convetsation on June: 10,2012, Mr. Durbin®s view was that Claimant’s employment
neededito b termiinated —~specifically itiforminig Mr. Sukiewicz that he believed Claimant
“need[ed] to be fired.” (SMF §192.)-

A few days later, the League, through Mr. Durbin, issued the MLS Report — dated June
12, 2012 — which detailed the final 'teSujlts_ngf the investigation performed by the League relative
to the allegations itiade:against Clainiant. -(SMF§ 187.). Wheh quiestioned asto why Mr. Durbin
completed the investigation without interviewinig Claimant, Me. Durbin responded:

The conclusion I came o, having heard the testimony of Mr. Rushing and,
hore 1mportant§y,, the testimony thatI did hear from the players, coupled

with the testimiony: that was repotted back to me by Mr, Lashbrook, I
ﬁldn’t seeapath. forward at that point in time.

(SMF 9°189) (emphasis added.).

Based-upon the findings within the MLS Repeit, Mr. Foose believed Claimant’s-actions
during the May 31, 2012 trail rin created a “very, very dangerous situation” for the- players,
specifically noting:

...it was a hot day, it 'was an extremely humid day — both of them were —

and the length of the runs was completely out of whack with anything
that I had ever heard of any coaching staff doing within the League.

So, you know, every player was eridangered with regard to the water
because it is simply not safe to be ouf in those conditions and running

% In fact, as part of Mt, Durbin’s investigation, Mr. Rushing was interviewed approximately three times. (SMF §
186.) '
2 As of June 12,2012, the'League’s investigation o the allepations against Claithant was complete. (SMF 1 188.)
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thatiength — even for athletes as fit as ours it is not safe to be.out and
doing that ~without access to water,

(SMF 4 194) (emphasis added.)

Agcopdingly, the MLSPU 160k the following position relative to Claimant:

lii’safe for ot‘sr vmembers %ﬁ have him as coach of the team, | 8o from the ‘
moment-we learned about the runs and the things that happened with: those
s well asthe concussion issues; pur position was hé can't continue as
coach:.

(SMF §:195) (emphasis added.)

"Si“gjﬁ’f:ﬁcanﬂy,Mr;Edose_,@ who had Jed the MLSPU since its inception on April

testified that the MLSPU had never previously (or subsequently). taken the position that a coach
ticeded 1o betemoved fron a team. (SMF 1.196,) Tri this instance, however, the MLSPU felt so
stionig i its position relative to Claiinant that it irifotmed Mr, Durbin that it-was contemplating a.
steike or withholding players Trom team activities if Claimant conitinued to coach the
Philadelphia Union:

So this was a-conversation that took place between Jon Newman [counsel

for MLS?U} and myself on the 10th and ‘when we talked about what was

goifig to be-happening next, the'Union, Players Union; gi :
‘co;mem, ﬁw heaith and sa ‘i’etv concern, for th ;2! avers, the.

to conmme to be the coach, that there were discussions abmxt whether‘
or not the plavers would, in fact, report for training.

(SMF 9 197) (emphasis added.)
Simply put, the MLSPU believed that Claimant’s actions watranted his términation —
‘warranting him being “fired as the coach [of the Philadelphia Union].” (SMF §198.)

Tmportantly, Mr. Durbin — and the League — shared the same view as Mr. Foose, with Mr. Durbin
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specifically testifying that Clajinant’s actions could net be-corrected and, as a result, he believed

Clainiant “néedfed] o be fired.” (SMF]§ 199-200.)

Philadelphia Union’s management. To.the contrary, after receiving a telephone call from Mr:
Foosé, Mr. Diwbin contacted Mr. Sakiewicz to advise him of the allegations miade against.the.
Clairmait and the fact that the Leagué would be pe’rfor'ming‘"ahjindepehdéht iﬁvé‘sﬁ‘ggﬁm into’
such-allegations. (SMF 1 165-166, 179.) Moreover, neithet Mt. Sakiewicz nor-any other
member of thePhiladelphia Union’s management was involved in the nvestigation performed
by flie League — the investigation, including the conclusions detailed within the resulting MLS

Repott, was independently perforimed by the League with the cogperatiofi of the MESPU.,

Agcordingly, both Mr. Durbin anid Mr.

not-continue 1o coach the Philadelyhia Union —on their-own. completely indeperider;

Sakiewicz or-anyone élse from the management of the Philadelphia. Union, (SMF 9200.)

E. My Sekiewicz’s Knowledge of and Independent:Investigation into the

Claimant’s Actions.

A noted-in the prior subseetion, the investigation performed by the League was not
initiated by Mr. Sakiewicz or.anyone else within the management of the Philadelphia Union; it
was initiated by the MLSPU when Mr, Foose — presumably after speaking with the players™ —
contacted Mr. Durbin to advise him of the issues surrounding the May 31, 2012 trail n.m_,24
(SMF 14 165-166.) However, Mr. Sakiewicz became aware of Claimant’s inappropriate actions

and he did perform an investigation on behalf of the Philadelphia Union relative to such actions.

2 To reiterate, the League, and not the Philadelphia Union, technically employs the players. (SMF 1220.)
2 Additionally, it was the MLSPU — Mr. Foose ~ that informed the League about the interference and retaliation
issues. (SMF 4 57-58.)
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To illustrate, on May 31, 2012, shorttly after the conclusion of the trail runs, Mr,
Sakiewicz was made:aware that the Claimant réquired the players, inchiding injured p{hy‘ers,jto
run approximately 10 miles.on the trails at YSC without hydration. (SMF §201.) Later that
same day in this regard ~ May 31, 2012 —Mr. Sakiewicz spoke with: the team physician, Dr.
Chip Hummer, for approximately- 4560 minutes, attempting to understand which players on the
team were injured, the level of their respective injuries; the potential impact the lack of hydration
¢can have.on players; and the exact détails of the length of the trails ruis. (SMF 202.) Mr.
Sakiewicz also asked Dr. Hummer to:document his knowledge and-opinion relative to the-trail
runs that took place on May 31, 2012. (SME{203.)

After speaking with Dr, Hummer — still on’May 31, 2012 — Mr. SakiewicZz contacted Mr.
Rushing and asked Mr. Rushing to desciibe the everits thit took place thit morning during the
trail:runs. (SMF §204.) Mr. Rushing’s conversation with Mr. Sakiewicez occurred after Mr,
Rushing had both sent his May 31, 2012 letfer to Dr. Hummer (SMFY| 205) and reached-out to.
Tohn Gallucei, one of the medical:coordinators for the League? (SMF §205). During their
conversation, which was approxiiately-an hour long, Mr. Rushing was “shaken,” his “voice was
cracking,” and he was “very, very upset,” as he was worried about losing his athletic trafning.
license because of the.events that took place during the May 31, 2012 trail runs. (SMF 1206.)
Mr. Sakiewicz, sbviously alarmed by Claimant’s actions, told Mr. Rushing that he no longer
reported to Claimant and that he was fo ensure that all players were approptiately hydrated, that.
he delivered the utmiost care to the players, and that he should immediately contact M,

Sakiewicz if anyone hindered his ability to comply with these directives. (SMF §207.)

* 150) Of note, after the conclusion of the run, M. Rushing was “upset and confused,” and worried about the status
of his:license as an athlétic trairiér and, as.such; he decided — on ks own accord 1o contact John Gallucci; one of
the niedical coordinators for:thé League, and asked him for advice.
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After speaking with Dr. Hummer and Mr. Rushing, Mr, Sakiewicz contacted Mr.
Debusschicte, the Philadelphia Union®s Executive-Vice President and CFO, and itformed him of
fiie situation related tothe trail rim and ditected Mr. Debusschere to monitor the team’s tiaining
activities, to have a conversation with Jost:Gios — a team administrator — tosinvestigate further.
what went on during the trail un and to-obtain a timeline of the events, and to aftend the next
practive or haye someone-attend the team’s next practice to ensure that the proper medieal
treatmént was belng provided to the'players. (SMF .208.)

Again, Mr. Sakiewicz did not contact Mr, Durbin or-anyone else within the. League’s
Commissioner’s office to: discuss Claimant’s actions relative-to the May 31,:2012 frail.run.

(SMF ¥ 209.) ‘Tothie conitrary, on ot about June 6, 2012, Mr. Sakiewicz received a voicemailand
an email from'the League ~ by way 6f Mr. Durbin — infotming Mr. Sakiewiez that a series of
allegations were made-against Claimant — thie:most immiediate is that Claimant was niot followitig:
the advice/input-of the trainer —and the League was performing aninvestigation into the-
allegations 2 (SMR §209.) Accordingly, while Mr. Sakiewicz already had knowledge of the,
Cléiniant’s actions. duging:the May 31, 2012 trail run from Dr. Humimer and Me: Rirshing, he was
dlso later made aware of Claimant’s-actions and thie fact that the Lieague was performing an
investigation into Claimant’s actions by Mr. Durbin on June 6,2012, (SMF {213

On or about June 7, 2012, Dr, Hummer sent Mr. Sakiewicz an email, which attached
another copy of Mr, Rushing’s May 31, 2012 letier to Dr. Hummer, as well as a letter frorm Dr,
Humstier to Mr., Sakiewicz dated June 7, 2012. (SMF § 216.) Dr. Hummer’s June 7, 2012 letter

notified Mr. Sakiewicz of the following:

% 'The investigation referred {0 in the June 6, 2012 email was in addition to the investigation the League was aiready
performing as aresult of the players union inter ference allegations previously made against Claimarit (at'the end of
May, 2012), and of which.Mr. Sakiewicz was previously made aware. (SMF §210.)
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« Players running a significant distance in-82 degree heat on conetete without the
availability of hydranon may put the players 4t risk of eleetrolyte imbalance or
subject them to risk of heat stroke;

. Pl'ayer's w:t‘h ejﬁs{mg '}owe'r eXfa‘emiiy injuriés’ cou'id' ‘ﬁava ﬂios‘e fnj'gzr:es"

. —reiates hiis severe-right lateral mid foot:pain to'the trail runs. His
“working diagnosisy is ‘mid foot capsular sprain and his creturn o play is
indeterminate.

(SMF 7214

To that end, although the investigation performed by the Leagiie was ot initiated by Mr.
Sakiewicz or dnyone ¢lse within the managemerit of the Philadelphia Unioh, M Sakiewiez was
keenly awareof Claimant’s inappropriate actions during the May 31, 2012 trail run and he did fh
fact perform. his own investigation on behalf of the Philadelphia Union relative to such-actions.
Il ARGUMENT

A, Staridard of Review

At fimes in this litigation, the Parties i}iave-indi}:ectry and, in some .caseﬁs',fcliiﬂeetéty-"‘-a'r_;gued
that the primary issue inthe instant litigation.is:whether the Philadelphia Union had “just.cause™

to terminate the Employment Agreement.”’

Such a classification of the primary issue’in this
matter is misleading. The Employment Agreement does not — in any respeet — reference a “just-
cause” standard. Rather, as noted in significant detail below, the Parties, after negotiating the

terms of the Employment Agreement through their respective counsel, agreed to provide the

Philadelphia Union with the authority to terminate the Employment Agreement should it

determine, in its good faith discretion, that Claimant engaged in certain conduct delineated

within the Agreement.

' In fact, Claitmant specifically utilized the phrase *“just cause” within his-Arbitration Derand.
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Accordingly, the primary issue-in this matter is not whether the Philadelphia Union had
“just cause” to-términate Clainvant in the tiaditional sénse; rather it is whether, in accordance
with the express terins of the Employrietit Agreement; the Phil adelphia Union had “a'good faith
basis to exercise its discretion to fermiiiate the: Employment. Agreemerit? In other words, the
resolution of the-instant litigation does.not involve:the “just:cause” standard routinely applied in
traditional labor arbitrations. Instead, it invalves-a.simploassessment of the basic principles of
Pennisylvania contract law.

B‘

The Employment Agreement contairis the following provisions relevant to the instant

fitigation:

On or about June 1, 2009, Claimant and the Philadelpliia Union-entered into a Manager
Employment Agreemerit (the“Employment Agréement”). (SMF §7.) Prior to Claimant’s
execution of the Employment Ag;eementﬁ;(ilaimmt?s: tetained counsel, William Daluga; Esq.,
negotiated the terms of the Employment Agreement on behalf of Claimant and, in fact, “was one
of the authors of the [Eiployment Agreement],” (SMFY 8.) In-executing the Employment
Agreement, the Parties agreed that the Employment Agreement would commence on June 1,
2009, and extend to-Decetmber 31, 2012 — unless “sooiier terminated as provided [within the
‘Emp}.o’ymént Agreement].” (SMF {11.) In this regard, the Employment Agreement contained
the following unambiguous termination provision:

...Club may terminate this Agreenient, and Manager’s employment

hereunder, upon written notice by Club to Manager in the event of the
oceurrence of any of the following:

¥ As détailed within the Philadelphia Unioi’s Proposed Statement of Material Facts, the Parties uitimately agreed to
extend the terms of the Employment Agreement 16 December 31, 2015, (SMF §§ 27-29.)
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ok

2y ...any material breach of this Agreement or the Pino
Agreamcnt by Manager;

(3) Manager’s gross negligence or willful misconduct in performing his
© duties hereunder;

EZY )

(SMF 9§ 14) ;(emﬁﬁas:&aﬁ&édf;)
As itrelates to Subsection (I1)(A)(5), Paragraph I(C)(v) of the Employment Agreement
provides, in pertinent part:

Manager éxpressly acknowledges and agrees that he shall be subject to
dismpkne by the-League. ..or Club...including without limitation, fines,
suspension (with or without pay) or termination of this Agreement if:

(v) be makes a statement or engages in conduct. ..that is materially
prejudicial to the interests of the League or the Team-or

‘materially detrimental to the public image and/or reputation of
the League, the Club and/or the game of soccer.

...Club. ..shall determine, in good fajth and its sole
discretion, whether Manager has engaged in any of the above-
listed behaviots.

(SMF § 13) (emphasis added.)
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In-addition to providing the Club with the “sole discretion”to deterniirie whether-
Claiinant enpaged in the conduct encompassed in Paragraph I{C)(v), the Employment
Agieenient, through Paragraph III(C), provided the Philadelphia Linion with the sole diseretion
1o enforce the termination provision — to enforce Paragraph II(A). Mors specifically; Paragraph
TIHC) of the Employment Agreement provides, in pertinent part:

Whether Club has terminated this Agreement pursuant to Paragrajh II{A)
or (B) shail be determined in good faith by Club-at.its: reasonable
discretion; provided that:

(i) prior to terminating Manager pursuant to Paragraph III(A), chibshall

speczfy in reasonable detail the reason Manager is being so térinated
and give Manager an opportanity-to respond thereto;

FA:

(m} prtor to tenmnatmg Ma:nager pursuant to. cia;z_sa @) 3)yor (7
) days o ure

'Manager such opporlumty to cure if Ciu‘b ﬂete ; £
faith. 1udgmen that the scourrenice is-of & natﬁrethat isnot: Qurabie or

that Manager’s contirived employment during a cute perxod oouild be
[sic] reasonably be expected to result in matérial Harm to-Club.

(SMF §15) (emphasis added:)

Under Pennisylvaria law, contracts are interpreted in‘accordance with the plain meaning
rule, which assumes that the intent of the parties to an instrument is “embodied in the writing
itself.” Duguesne Light Co. v. Wesiinghouse Elec. Corp., 66 £.3d 604, 613 (3d Cir.1995)
(quoting Hullett v. Towers, Perrin, Forster & Croshy, Inc., 38 F.3d 107, 111 (3d Cir.1994)).
Pennsylvania courts do not rewrite contracts to-change the plain meaning of the terms used.
Stenart v. MeChesney, 498 Pa. 45, 444 2d 659, 662 (1982) (citing Hagarty v. William Akers, Jr.
Co., 342 Pa. 236, 20 A.2d 317 (1941)). Moreover, Pennsylvania courts do not “distort the

meaning of the language or resort to a strained contrivance-in order to find ambiguity.” Madison
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Const. Co. v. Harleysville Mui: Ins. Co., 537 Pa. 595, 735 A.2d 100 at 106 (1999). If the writing:
on its face is clear and unambiguous; the parties” mutual intent is found orily in the express.
language of the agreement. Atkinson v. Lafayette College, 460 F:3d.447, 452 (34 Cir. 2006).

Here, the foregoing provisions of the Employment Agreement are unambiguousand only-
capable of one reasonable interpretation.. Pursuant to the express terms of these provisions, the
Parties agreed to give the Philadelptiia Union the $ole discretion ta terminate the Employment
Agreement if the Philadelphia Union: (1) deterimiiics —ini.iis reasonable discretlon — that
Claimant engaged in any of'the conduct delineated in Pafa‘graphn‘ft(g\,)’--‘o_-fﬁs_e Employment
Agreement; and/or (2)if it determines, in ifs good faith-discretion, that Claimantmade a
statement or engaged in “conduct...that is matérially prejudicial to the interests of the League or:
the Team or materially detrimental ftjdgtjhé'}iijbiic im'a'gei:a'ﬁﬂfots‘j'ﬁpﬁtagion of the League, the
[Philadeiphia Uniori] and/or the'game of goccet.” (SMF'W 13-16.y To putit another way, the.
Payties; through their respective counsel, negotiated and agreed to-provide the Philadelphia
‘Union with the ability o tecninate the Employment-Agreement if it had a good faith basis to
conclude that Claimant engaged in the conduct.delineated in Patagraph I(C)(v) or Paragraph
1I(A) of the Employment Agreement. This contractually allocated discretion is not surprising
considering the. context of the Employiment Agreement, which placed Claimant in'a position of
‘heing one of the Philadelphia Union’s most visible representatives while, at the same time,
providing him with.a significarit salary, the poteritial for bonuses, and other valuable
compensation.

2. The Philadelphia Union’s Oblisations Should it Exercise lts Discretion fo
Terniindgle the Emplovinent Agieement.

In exercising its discretionary right to ferminate. the Employment Agreement, the

Philadelphia Union - pursuant to the unambiguous terms of the Employment Agreement — is
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only obligated to act in in good faith and to provide Claimant with: (1) notice of the reasons:
surrouitding the termination; (2) the opportinity to respond; and (3) in certain limited
cireurnistaiices, the ability to cute his conduet. (SMF 1§:13-16.) The Employinent Agreenient
‘does not contafn-or reference-any other prerequisites or obligations thatmust beanet before the
Philadelphia Union exercises:this discrefionary right. In particular, the'Employment Agreement:
does not require the-Philad¢lphia Uttion to conduct a particular investigation irto actioris tiken.
by Claiiivant, nor does itréquire the Philadelptiia Union to.provide CEa.iniantéWiih#’ii"cicilftefin
amount of time before it exercises its discretionary right to terminate the: Employment-
Agresment. Wsimply requires the Philadelphia Union to exercise its discretion in good faith-and
to-provide Claimant with iotice; the opportonity to respond and, in-certain: limited-circumstances,
the ability to eure his aétiotis: (SMF Y 13-16.)

3 Claimanit’s Liniited Opportunityto Cave his Condiet,

Whiile the Employment Agreement provides-Claimant with the limited ability to cure his
conduct — only-applying to instances in which the Philadelphia Union determined that-Claimant
engaged In the condiict delineated within Patagraph TII(A)(2), (3), or (7) of the Bmployinent
Agreemerit — it further provides that the Philadelphia Unjon was under absolutely no obligation
to-provide Claimant with-an opportunity to. cure if it determined — in its good, ﬁm‘h jm(ginem‘-—
that the conduct engaged in by Claimant is of a nature that is not curable, orthat the continued
employment of Claimant during a cure period could reasonably be expected to result in material
harmi to the Philadelphia Union. (SMF §17.)

Accordingly, Claimant’s potential ability to cure is limited by the Employment

Apreement in two significant respects. First, it does not apply to instances in-which the

Philadelphia Union determined — again, i its sole discrétion — that Claimant engaged in any of
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the eonduct outlined in Paragraph II(A)4), (5),:(6), or (8) of the Employment Agreement,
Additionally, in the limited circumstances in which the ciffeprovision is poteritially applicable —
when the Philadelphia Union relies upon Paragraph III(A)(2),:(3) 6¢ (7) to termitiate the
Employment Agreement— Claimant would:still not'be provided with the-ability to cure if the,
Philadelphia Union determined, again, in its gaod faitl judgment, that the conduct-engaged in
by Claimant was of 2 natire that was not curable, or that Claimant’s continued:¢mployment
_dciri?ng the cute period could reasonably bé‘{eprétedf‘té fesult it matérial harini 1o the:

Philadelphia Union.

To that-end, the. Parties, after negotiating the terms-of the Employment Agreement
thirgugh counsel of their choice, expresslyagreed to provide the Philadelphia Union with the.
ability to:terminate the Employment Agreement i it deteimined — i its solé discretion —that it
has a gﬂod'faith basis'to conclude that Ci-airmn&e'r;fgqg;ed z_i—n.z_oferiaiﬁfddlineaicd-‘catf.egqr-i&s of
employee misconduct. Moreover, while, in cerlain timited instances, {the Employment
was.expressly given the discretion to determine whether the-ability to oure was inapproptiate
under the circumstances.

C.  The Philadelphia Union
Enployment Agreement,

a. Notice and Opportunily to Respond.

On June 13, 2012, at approximately 7:31 a.m., Nick Sakiéwicz sent Claindant an email
informing Claimant that he received a memo from: the Leagtie concerning ai investigation the

League had been conducting, and specifically outlining several of the findings made by the

37




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 46 of 116

League. (SMF 4320, Specifically, the June.13; 2012:email from Mr. Sakiewicz to Claimant
notified Claimant of the following findings raade by the League:

. G’Iﬁi&iff;iﬁl@jét);péfdfizeﬁffli’;ﬁe‘hézi}lt‘}i and safely of the players by restricting access to
water during training;.

. Claitnsnt Jeopardszed ‘thie bealthand. safety of injured players by requiring them to
participate in training activities againstibe adviceof the team medical staff,

. Claimant Jeopaidzzed the health -and  safety of the players by creating. an
atmogphere where concussion Sytptoms-should be kept from the ‘medical staff

and not:treated;

- Claitnant engaged i inappropriate physical-contact with rookie players as part of
an annual “hazing;.

. Claimant interfered with thie players right to ¢ontact the MLSPU with concerns;
and

. Claimant created ah overall “culture of feai” where-players did not believe. they
had the abnhty to raise and address concerns regarding their work environment
without reribution.

(SMF §321.)

Within the June 13, 2012 email, Mr, Sakiewiczalso asked Claimant to meet him in his
office at 9:00 g, to disouss the League’s findings in greater detail. (SMF §322.) Mr.
Sakiewicz was:actually *atixious” to-meet with Claimant to discuss the findings of the League
and to give Claimant an opportunity to respond.” (SMF §323.) Claimant did in fact meet with

Mr. Sakiewicz on June 13, 2012, at approximately 9:00-a:m. (SMF § 324.) Presentat the June

29 I fact, Mr. Sakicwicz’s plan for the meeting with Claimant was explained as foflows:

™y intention was to share the document with hirn that we drafted for his termination that outlined
six points [Dosument 36] and went through each point diligently with him. And if he would have
brought...concerns/ issues. ., objéctions/proof, anything in that meeting, Mr. Haines, I'n1 a
reasanable guy, { hired [Claimant]...to a fong-term agreement, 1 wanted to have a fong run with
[Claimant]:and bmidmg our team, § would-have fistened. I would have given Him 48 hours to
explain each-and every issue, But unforfunately the meeting lasted 25 or 30 minutes.

(SMF 1330,
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13, 2012 meeting, which lasted approximately 25-30 minutes, was Claimant, Mr. Sakiewicz, and
Mr. Debissehere. (SME {325-326.)

Duriig the meeting, Mr. Sakiewicz went through the six League findings —as
summarized in Mt. Sakiewicz’s.June 13, 2012 email — giving Claimant as much time as he
warited to discuss eagh finding® (SMF-§327) During this discussion, Claimant.was
specifically asked whther: the findings were true and his response was simply “this isn’t true™
and“this is bullskit; he did not offer any type of a substantive response to suggest that thie
League’s findings:wets aotually untrve,”' (SMF§328.)

Claimant acknowl¢dped during his testimony that, on the date of his termination, he was
provided with a copy: of the termination letter and made aware of the issues contained within the
térmiifiation letter. (SMEY335.) The términation letier advised Claimant that the Philadelphiia
Union was exeréising its-discrétionaty tiglit to-terminate the Employment Agreement, pursuait.
1o Paragraph JU(A); as aresult oft-

.. Gl_‘aimgmt‘»sﬁ-va'jrious hreaches of League Rules (including: the: League's CBA),

intluding physical confrontations ‘with players during a game:. resuilting. ini a-fine
and multi-game suspension, inferfering ‘with: the rights of players. to' contact the

MLSPU; subjecting players fo inappropriate hazing activities and engaging: in
behdvior that put the health dnd safety of the players at'risk;.

» Claimant’s material breaches of the Employment Agreement, including engaging
in discussions regarding and otherwise actively seeking, etmployment by other
professional soccer teams in Europe and making disparaging remarks to ‘third
parties regarding the Philadelphia Union and its management;

* Significantly, Mr. Sakiewicz had previously discussed several of the issues, ineluding the players’ interference
fssue with Claimant on multiple occasions prior to the June 13; 2012 meeting. (SMF 1329,

3 On June 13, 2012, at 9:33 a:m. — immediately after his June 13, 2012 meeting with Claimant conciuded - M,
Sukiewiéz sent an email ti-the Coramissioner of Major League Soceer, Don Garbey, informing him that Claimant
frad been terminated. (SMF §332.) In response, Mr. Garber sent Mr, Sakiewicz an enil asking “fhjow did
[Claimant] handle 2" (SMF{[333.) Mr. Sakiewicz responded to Mr. Garber’s inquiry, informing him that
Claimant acted — in typical fashion—very poorly and blaming everyone else. (SMF §334.) This email exchange
confirms that Clairnant was given the opportunity 1o respond to the reasons given relative to the termination of the
Employment Agreement. -
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N Claimant’s demonstrating gross megligence, including putting the health -and
safety of players at risk by requiring injured players to-participate in: stieriuous
trammg activities, not allowing players to have water during such -agtivities,
ignoring the advice of the athletic trainers regarding ‘which. players are hedlthy
enough to practice or play in games and creating an attosphere Where tedical
issues should be hid from medical staff;

. Claimani’s committing actions that have reflected in'a materially advetse maniner
on the integrity, reputation and goodwill of the Phliadeiphja Union (in the eyesof
thie League, U.S. Soccer, current and potential players, sponsorsiand fans);

. Claimant’s multiple. incidents of insubordination with respect to the Chief
Executive Officer; and

» Claimant’s various material breaches of Team Rules, includinig creating a hostile
work environment.and culture of fear for players:and:other front office: employees
by orally berating and physically intimidating:féllow’ employees

(SMF §335)
b.  The Issuanée of the Termination Letter.

Atter walking Claimant through the reasons surrounding the Philadelphia Unjon’s.
decisjori to exercise its discretionary right to terininate the Employment Agreement, Claimarit
Wwas provided with two-options: (1) he would be presented with an executed térfiination letter; or
{2) he.could sign a mutually agreeable separation agreement and release. (SMF 336.)
Claimant was then asked whether he had any questions.and Claimant sim ply asked-that the
termination fetter and separation agreement be sent to his atforney, William Daluga, Esq.>?
{SMF 9 337.) At Claimant’s request, later that same day — on June 13, 2012 ~ M. Debussehiere
sent both the termination letter and the proposed Separation Agieement to Mr, Daluga. (SMF
338.) Approximately three to four weeks later, Claimant, through Mr. Daluga, notified the
Philadelphia Union that he would be filing suit in Federal Court. (SMF 339.) As a result, the

Philadelphia Union formally issued the termination lefter to Claimant. (SMF q340.)

32 At Claimant’s request, later that same day — on June 13, 2012 Mr. Debusschere-sent both the termination lefter
.and the proposed Separation Agreement to Attorney Daluga. (Respondent Exhibit 63; Hearing Trans., 111:11-
112:13)
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As noted in Subsestion LB, supra, pursugit to Paragiaph [H(A)(2) and Paragiaph
1II(C) of the Employrient Agregment; the Philadelphiia Union had the right to terminate the
Employment Agreement if it determined — in its good faith discretion — that Claimant matertally

breached the Employment Agreement. (SMF 9¥14-16.) In othet words, if the Philadelphid.

Union had a good faith basis to determine that Claimant mitérially breached the Employment.

Agreeriont, it— in ifs sole discretion—could terindte tie Employment Agreement; 1t is

important to immediately reiterate that the Philadeiphia Union does not necessarily need to
establish a.material breach. Indeed, pursuantto theterms ofthe Employment ,Agrcen;ent, the.
Philadelphia Union is only required fo-establish that it had a good faith basis to deteimine that a
niaterial breach in-fiict-occurred. Seé Dugueshe Light Co. v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 66 F.3d
604, 613 (3d Cir,1995).(contrats ate interproted it accordance with the plain méaning rule,
which. assumes that the intent of the parties to-an instrument is “embodied in the-writing: itself.?);
Murphy v: Dugyesne Univ,; 565 Pa. 571, 777 A2d.418, 429 (Pa:2001); (itis sﬁt’t’le,’c’_iﬂjiaw that
“when a wrifing is clear and unequivoeal, its-fictining must be determined by its:content
alone.™); Steuart v. McChesniey, 498 Pa. 45,444 A,2d 659, 661 (Pa.1982) (the intent of the
parties to a writlen agreement is to be regarded as being embodied in the writing itself),

As noted within the Termination Letter, Claimant materially breached the Employment
Agreement in several material resp‘e.cts,” Foreinost; contrary to Paragraph I(B) of the
Employment Agreement, Claimant violated numerous League Rules (including the League’s
CBA with the MLSPU). Secondly; contrary to Paragraph VII of the Employment Agreement,

Claimant, during the time he was employed by the Philadelphia Union, engaged in discussions

% To reiterate, although it tlearly can, the Phitadelphia Union does not nesd to.establish a “material” breach;
pursugnt to the terms of the Employment Agrecment, it is.only required to establish that it had a good faith basis to
deterinine that a miaterial breach ocourred,
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with and otherwise spught employment with other p_r._oféssionéi’ soccer teams. Finally, Claimant,
contraty to Paragraph IX(D) of the Employment Agreément; made disparaging remarks.about
the Philadelphia Union 4nd its managgrment.

Each of the aforementioned breaches standing alone.amount to 4 material breach of the.
discretiowary.right to termifiate the Employment Agreement. However, the fact that Claimant
breactied the Bmiployment Apreemént ih several respécts gave the Philadelphia U fifon gvei
‘broader latitudé'to exercisé its'diseretionary ¥ight lo teriinate the. Empiqgment Agreement. See’
Kung v. Trustees of Univ. of Pennsylvania, 2010 WL 5596577 (Pa. Com. PL Aug 23, 2010)-qfd
in.part; vev'dinpartsub nom. Kang v. Trustees of the. U of Pa., 64 A.3d 30 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2012)
{(acknowledging that wherean employee continued to engage in misconductthat was-a violation
of eiployer’s policy—and thus, a breach of the employiment contract—a matetial bresch:of the
employiment contract ocours, notwithstanding the-fact that the first ineident.of miseondyet may
not have been:material by itself).

a. Claimant’s Violations of League Rules— Matérially Breaching
Paragraph I(B) of the Employment dgreewment.

As-noted within the Termination Letter, Claimant committed various breaches of League
and Team Rules, which amounted to.material breaches of the Employment Agreement and
provided the Philadelphia Union with a good faith basis to exercise its discretionary right to
termiinate the Employment Agreement.

1 Claimant s Violation aof the Collective Bargaining
Agreement by Interfering and Retalialing Against the
Players for Exercising Their Rights to Contact the MLSPU.
As part of the Employment Agreement, Claimant agreed to comply with all constitutions,

hylaws, rules, regulations, policies, guidelines, directives, instructions;, rulings, orders and
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agreements of the League. {SMF-9287) These categories-obviously include: Claimant’s

------

m"‘CB&* with the.-piay'e'r‘s; (SMF 9§ 38) Asontlined in spééffic detail in Section _fI’-I-,A., supra,

the record evidence illustrates.that Claimant, contrary to the termis.of the €BA, interfered with

and retaliated against the players for exercising:their rights to contact the MLSPU. ‘Indeed, the

record evidence establishes:

»

At the end of the 2012 preseéson trainifig
mc}udmg Mr Foese, wsﬁed wsth tho Ph

issue had been brought o the atférition ofﬁie MLSPU. (SMF 3839, 41)

Aithough Mr Foose beheVed the 1ssue was reso] ’ed Cla.nn”nl took: it upon

dn’ectmg them netto contict the MLSPU {SMF ﬂ 40 42-45 )

After meeting with Mr. GEland Mr. -m “his office,:Claimaiit held a team:
meeting and communicated:the same: miessage: the team —4hatissues, mcludmg
the SR issue, should be: brought to his. atténtion and fivt the Players Union.
(SMF 4 46.) Claimant admits: that, dyring: ‘this team meeting;. he told the players
thefollowing:

.+.S0-if any kind of issues will o¢cor, I told them hasically that
lease, if yon have any kind of concerns. any issues.. just to tell
them if you have any kind of issues, please see us fiist.so we will
not have problems or guestions from the Plavers Union about
any kind of concerns you have or you might have in the futare.

(SMF Y 48) (emphasis atlded.)

Following the team meeting, Claimant still did not believe the-issue was resolved;
he was determined to identify the player that brought tiie (NJEEN issue to the
attention of the MLSPU. Accordingly, Claimant called Mr. GRSM® and Mr.
G scparately, again, asking each of them to reveal the identity of the player
that went to the MLSPU with the (il issue. (SMF 1149, 51.)

# Although Claimant denies makmg this call, another Philadelphia Union player, (NN vas present at the
time Mr. @ received the.phone-call from Claimant and:confitmed, through his festimony, thaf Claimant did in
fact make this call to Mr. GNP (SMF § 50.)
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. Apparently unsatisfied with refusal of Mr. NN and Mr. GWto reveal the
identity of the. p}ayer that’ brought the W issue. to the MLSPU; Claimant
desided to contact Mr, Foose. (SMF 9§ 52.) During his conversation with Mr.
Foose, Ciazmant not: only informed Mr. Foose that he did not think it was

PP for playérs to bie talking-to-the MLSPU; but he-also specifically asked

Vi, Foose 1o’ ;dentlfy-t-he playerthat brought the SIS issuc to his attention —

to the attention of the MESPU. {(SMF4.53.)

. Although this was‘an “extremély-unusual conversation” for Mr. Foose, he-did not
immediatély contact the Leaguie, a5 He Was made aware of the communications
betweeri Claimant and M. WElland he was afraid -Claimant would refaliate
against Mr. G (SMF 1355 )

. Mr: Foose’s appretiension in this regard turned out to be-warranted, as Claimant,

admittedly ‘believing that Mr; QESENENND brought the MRpmEmEd issue to the
attenition of the MLSPU, traded Nz Wll2 meére two-weeks after Claimant. made
the telephone caH Eo Mr —s;;e aﬂy asking him whether he was the one

. After Mr. USRI was-traded, the MLSPU brought the-following three issues to the
attenﬁon.jof the League: dmmg aprescheduied meetmg ﬁ had with ’thc League on

) to dlsclose the nient:ty of mdmdua‘is‘
and (3)§ their: belief that Mr. Gl was traded in

taised the (D

fssiierwith the MLSPU (SMF 457 ')

To that end, the record evidence establishes that Claimant interfered with the rights of the.
players —namely Mr. QEEEand Mr, QEEENED-- to raiseissues with the MLSPU. Indeed, Claimant
not only directed the players not to coritact the MLSPU with issiies, but e also atternpted to
coerce the players (and Mr. Foose) to reveal the identity of the player that already brought an
issue — the (NN issue ~ to the MUSPU. Moreover, within a few weeks, Claimant traded
away the player he-admittedly believed was respoiisible for the SNl issue being brought to

the MLSPU.» (SMF §57.)

* It s worth reiterating that a game or two after Mr. (iifihwas traded — Claimant (hreatened the team, specifically
stating that:

. Jie-coulda’t be fired...he wasn’t afraid to do-aything in regards to the team...
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This interference and retaliation violated the express-terms of the CBA, which
specifically allow for players to raise issues to the MLSPU, whom, in turn, has the ability to raise
‘suich fésuies with thi Leagiie and, if fieessary, to file a grievarice on behalf of the player (Article
21 int}ieiﬂBA;;I{esponﬁﬁnt Exhibit 66.) Claimant’s repeated attempts to testrain, coerce, and
threaten the players:in an-attempt to prevent them from exereising their right to contaet the
MLSPU directly-conflicts with:and violates the express terms-of the CBA. This, in'tum, violates
Lieagire Rules and constitutes & riaterial breach of the Employment Agreeinent. Similarly;
Claimant’s retaliating agaivist M @l directly conflicts with and violates the express terins.of
the CBA, which, in turn; violates League Rules and constitutes a material breach of the

Employmetit Agreement.

Suchi breaches ar: m‘ateriaim cofisidering Claimant”s actions in this regard notonly

ReélationsAct (“NLRA”) Iuéiead;;ft is ‘weﬁ settled that coervively i—n,t‘a:rogratiqg.or.-re_tlaliaf’:mgg
agdinst employees to discourage union activities violates Section 8 of the NLRA., See Central
‘Transport v, NLRB, 997F;24-1180 (7th Cir,1993). If Claimant’s actions were enough to
constitute violations effthéllaw,bﬂfex‘a they were certainly enough to constitute a tnatetial breach
of the Bmployment Agreement and to provide the Philadelphia Union with a good faith basis to

exercise its discretionary authority to terminate the Emiployment Agreement. As noted in detail

...he wasn’t afraid fo shake the tree...he had traded away_and [the]

Ieadmg goal scorer...[he] wasn’t afraid to make moves and to roll with it.
(SMF 1.94.)

Accordingly, while Claimant maintains that his {rading of Mr. @lvas not retaliatory in-nature, the record-
evidence establishes that Claimant used his trading of Mr._referred 10 in his emotional statement,
to threaten the players.

* To reiterate, althongh it clearly. can, the Philadelphia Union does not need 1o establish a “material” breach;
porsuant to the terms of the Employment Agreement, it is only required fo establish that it had 2 good faith baszs to
déterrnine that a material breach oceurred.
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aboye; if the Philadelphia Union has a good fiith basis to determine that thie Claimant materially
‘bréached the E‘mplloyment Agreement, it Hias the di‘sefe,tionxto-fte‘rﬁﬁﬂitté the Employment.
Agreement: As detaiféd within the Termination Letter, the Philadelptiia Union made the.
decision to exercise its discretionary right in this regard, and, as a result, it:appropriately
‘fermindted the Employment Agreement and Claimant’s Arbitration Demand should-be dismissed
‘a4 matterof law on this independent basis alone.

i, Claimant’s Violation of Leagiie Rules Duyirig the April 21,
2012 Chivag USA game.

As-explained i specific detail in Subsection I(B), supra, during:the-April 21, 2012 game
agaihst Chivas USA, Claimant left the coschs Technical Aree, ‘chiarged-onto thie field.of play,
parfﬁc‘ipated in a “melee,” and initiated physical contact with:a.player on the opposing teans,
(SMIF 9 67-72.) As a-result-of Claimant’s actions in'this regard, he recsived ared card and was
gjected from the game, requiring the Philadelphia Union to:complete the ganie without their head
coach, (SMF§§62.) Subsequerit to the game, the Letgue conducted-an investigation and
determined that Claimant’s actions during the April 21, 2012 €hivas USA game violated League
rules;>” and, as a result, the League suspended Claimant for two additional:games.and personally
fined hini $5,000. (SMF §§ 73, 76.) Additionally, the League finied the Philadelphia Union
5,000 directly. (SMF 9y 74-75.)

Claimant’s actions during-the April 21, 2012 Chivas USA game indisputably violated
League Rules and, considering that Claimant was contractually obligated to eomply with all
League Rules, his failure to do so during the April 21, 2012 Chivas USA game breached the

Employment Agreement. Moreover, this breach was mateérial for several reasons. First, it not

¥ As detailed within the 2012 Game Operations Manual, coaches are net'permitiéd to leave the Technical Avea and
enter the field of play during a. game. (SMF §73.) Additionally, it is considered a Major Game Misconduct for-a
coach 1o engagé in “fighting” or*‘provoke a fight” during a game. (SMF §73,)
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only resulted in fines levied on both Claimant and the Philadelphia Union, but, more itiportantly,
it resulted in Claimant being suspendéd-unable fo coach — two.of the .Phiiad}el;phi}a.?un jon’s
hired to pexform — coach the Philadelphia Union — for two: League games. Also relevant to this
point is that the Philadelphia Union: lost both of these-games. (SMF {85, 87.)

Second, Claimant actually physically contacted a player on the opposing:team. (SMF §{
67-68, 72-73.) This aot in and of itself is teptehensible —there is no justification for Claimant
losing his temper to the poirit of phyS’ieé‘liy-fpuiéhfng' %i;j[),'ia}')/er-,v Indeed, there have been very fow
instances where a coach-of a professionalor collegiate team-in the United States initiated contact
with any player, let alone a.playeron the opposingteam. One such well-known instance
oceurred in the 1978 Gator Bowl bétween Clermson and Ohijo State, In'that game; Ohio State
coach, Woody Hayes, lost iis tefmper and punchied-a player for Clemson. Coach: Hayes, who had
won thtee cehsensus;naﬁi.ona’i-ich_a‘m'pi;ofn;s‘hips;-wa_'s:ﬁredi-:‘the,next morning. It was the final game
Coach Hayes eyfer»'goached.ﬁ Although we do not haye the benefit of knowing the contractual
language contained in Coach Hayes employment contraet, we do know that getting physical with
dplayer is simply unacceptable and watranted the immiediate termination of'a decorated coach.

Thirdly, Claimant’s actions.during the Chivas USA game were significantly
embarrassing to the Philadelphia Union. Indeed, the resulting embarrassment from Claimant’s.
‘actionts during this game was summed up precisely by the television broadcaster as follows:

And Peter Nowak Jost his mind there. Yeah, he should be sent off. That's
inexcusable. Inexcusable for a head coach to act in this manner.

...and that is what Baldomero Tolédo is telling him. It’s like: What’s your
justification? Just walk off. He”s telling him: Peter, just go.

3% kttg //www faxsgorts com colieoe-footbali/siorv/oh;o«state»«s«uroodv«haves shouidn-t-be-definad-by-the-
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...Look at Peter Nowak, See, that’s why he gets sentoff. ‘What are:you
doing on the field?
(SMF {315
Fourth, this isniot the fitsttime:Claimant was suspended from a game for-engaging in
similar actions; Claimant-also received a red card and was ejected for leaving the Techiical Area
chiring a U:8. Open Cup gamié-against DC United on April 6, 2011, (SMF{77.) Similacly, this
was notthe first tirtie heeceived ared card ejection fiom 2 game for leaving the Coich’s
Technical Area; he also pushed anothier Philadelphia Union employee; Rick Jagobs, aftet a
reserve-game in 2011. {(SMFY78.) In other words, despite being given several chances,
Claimant was sitmply wawilling to cofiduct himself in compliance with Lgégi?.@':llﬂ?é:é?g
Finally, dccordiag to Parageaph VII of the Employitient Agreexient, Claimant
contractually agreed thatany-and all breaches of the Employment-Agreetent would resultin
irrgparable harm. (SMF25.). Specifically, Paragraph VI of the Employment Agreement.
provides:
[Claimiant] represents and agrees that he has extraotdinaty and-unique:
knowledge, skill and abﬂzty as manager of a professional soecer team and
its opetations, that the services [Claimant] is to provide to [the
Philadelphia Union] hereunder cannot be replaced o the loss thereof
adequately compensated for in- money damages and-that any breach by
[Claimant] of this [Employment] Agreement. will cause irpeparable injury
to [the Philadelphia Union].
(SMF ¥ 25.)
Accordingly, Claimant knew and understood that he contractually agreed that any bredch
of the Bmployment Agreemerit would cause irreparable harm to the Philadelphia Union,

Moreover, this provision reiterates that the Philadelphia Union, in agreeing to hire Claimant,

bargained-for Claimant to actually be available to coach the team. As Claimant’s actions

* Significantly, the Employment Agreement contains a Non-Waiver Clause at Paragraph X1L,
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resulting it Claimant being dismissed from the remainder-of the-Chivas'USA game (missing part
of that game) as well as the next two League gamies,"the Philadelphia-Urion certainly was not
‘petting the benefitof its bargain.

To that end, Claimant’s actions during the. April 21, 2012 Chivas USA game clearly
violated League Rules, which, in turn, materially breached the Bmploymenit Agreement. As
neted in detail above, if the Philadelphia Union has a good faith basis to deterniine that the
Claimant raterially breachied the Employmeit Agresiment, it has the disorétion to terminate the
Employment Agreement. Considering Claiiiant’s ridiculous actions during the Aptil 21, 2012
Chivas game, it is extremely difficult, if not impossible, to:atgue that the Philadelphia Urion did
not, at'the very least, have a “good faith™ basis to conclude that Claimant-materially breached the.
Eraployment Agreement by violating Leagie Rules.. Asitclearly had a good faith basis 1o come
to-this Sonclusion, the Phitadelphia Union: had the discretionary-+ight to ferminate the:
Employment Agreement, ‘As detailed within the Termination Letter, the/Philadelphia Union
miade the-decision to exercise its discretionary right in'this regard, and, as a result, it
appropriately terminated the Bmployment Agreement and Claimant’s Arbitration Demand
should be dismissed as a matter of law on this indépendenit basis alone.

i, Claimant’s Violations of the League's Concussion
Protocols,

The League’s Medical Policies and Procedires Manual contains Concussion Protocols —
protocols that are, generally speaking, updated annually. (SMF Y228.3 Contrary to these

Protocols, which Claimant is contractually charged with knowing, Claimant. would make light of

' Tq reiterate, Claimant was also suspended from a U.S. Open Cup game on May 29, 2042, - Accordingly, as a result
of his mapprqpnate on-field actions — including leaving the coach’s Technical Area on two sepatate occasions as
well as his initiating contact with an opposmg playet — Claimant was acmaHy suspended.atid unabie to: coach the
Philadelphia Union for three (3) games in a seven (7) game stretch from May 5, 2012 through May 29, 2012. (SMF

1938
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‘the Tact that players had coneussions and, in fact; it was ot uncemmon for Claimant to-call a
player a “pussy” for having a concussion. (SMF{228-229.) Claimant would also tell players
that they ‘should not miss any tithe due tod conbussion — you are weak if you are unable play
ihirough'a concussion. (SME §.230.)

On June 1}:520:1 2, Mr. Fouse wds _m.a.»d‘éz;aw~atgfgféaf.patitern oftabuse directed by Claimant
against players who had suffered concussions, festifying on this pofnt.as follows:

Well, there are-several things:

; _@afted}éugg'es’ﬁon 'that there "s no such
thmg_ ) ,.concussmns}, the yiret

i for ROt bemg abie to get
,;z‘about piayers who are

ceme d«}wn OH ihem fw;n those ﬁrseiesures

(SMF 14231-232) (emphasis added:)
The concussion-issue was a significant issug for the MLSPU and Mr. Foose:

,..The concussion issue is a huge issue for us and a'big issue for me
persenaliy I hiad at that point just <ipem: the prior year before that working
with the League t0 develop a concugsion protocol and those efforts have
continued today.

1t’s a big issue in.our sport. I'spentyesterday actually at the White
House listening to-the President talk about how' important this issue is arid
how much we tieed to change this sort of macho culture that can be out
there with regard to this issue, that concussions have to be taken
seriously...Players’ lives are at risk. So my reaction was very, very
trong on both of these cases that there had been a real sort of
recklessness towards plavers’ safety shown in Philadelphia.

(SMF 4 233) (emphasis added.)
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Mk, Foose sits orithe Lisague’s concussion committee and was part of that committee in
May/Tune of 2012, when the issue.relating to Claimant’s treatment of concussions was brought
16 the attérition.of M, Foose and the MLSPU. (SMF 4 234.) Mr, Foose raised the issue relating
16-Claimant’s trestment of coticussions to the coneussion committee:

.| [Mr., Foose] sent d lengthy e-mail detallmg the information that 1 had
Ieamedi what had happened and saymg very forcefuil y that from my

mediea’i"staffs and that from‘.my pchpectnve thas wes' compietely
unaceeptablefo be happening in our League.

(SMEF§235)

Additionally, Claimanit’s iiapptopriate-handling of concussions — his creating of ari afiiiosphere
where concussion symptoms should be kept from the medical staff and not treated —was:
addressed by the League during its investigation and included within the League’s final report.
(SMF §236.)

T that'end, Cldimant breached Paragraph 1(B) of the Erploymeit -_Agreeméﬁt whih: he.
failed o comply with League Rules —specificatly, the Concussion Protocols within the League’s.
Médical Policies and Procedures Manual — by creating an atmosphere where players. felt they
ngeded to hide concussion symptoms, As noted in detail above, if the Philadelphia Union hasa
good faith basis to determine that Claimant materially breached the Employment Agreement,
then it has the discretion to terminate the Employment Agreement. Considering the pesition
taken by the MLSPU — ds.described within Mr. Foose’s testimony above — the Philadelphia
Union nnmistakably Had a good faith basis to determine that Claimant failed to abide by the
League’s Concussion Protocols and, as a result, Claimant breached thie Employment Agreesent,

With this known, the Philadelphia Union was clearly within its discretionary right to terminate.
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ttie Employment Agreement. As detailed withii the Términation Letter, the Philadelphia Union
made the decision to-exercise its discretionary right.in this regard, and, as: aresult, it
appropriately terminated the Employment Agreement and Claimant’s Arbitration Demand
should be dismissed as a matter of law on this independent basia alone,
v Other Miscellaneous League Rule Violdtions of Clajiriani.

As the head soccer coaclt of the Philadelphia Union, Claimant:is charged with-knowing
League Rules, including without limitation ensuring that the Philadelphia:Union fields a team
congistent with such rules, (SMF9287.) OnJuly 21, 2011, Claimant starfed an Academy Player
‘in ‘gt exhibition game against Everton FC, an English Preinier League teartt; (SME'Y288.) It
was a violation of the MLSPU rules to playan Acadeniy Player in this-exhibition game. (SMF ¥
289.) The following day, on July 22,2011, Mr. Dusbin sent an email to all League: Coaches and
Technical Directors providing them with.a Memo. outlining that Trialistand Academy Players
are not allowed to participate in gated exhibition games {hetginafter, the “Memorandum™).
{SMF¥290.) Claimant acknowledges that he recéived the email fiom Mr. Durbin sending the
Memotandum. (SME Y291 After receiving the email with the Memerandum, Diego Gutierrez,
who wis hired by Claimant as the Sporting Director, contacted Mr., Foose and asked whether the
Philadelphia Union could use Academy Players. for their game against Real Madrid. (SMF Y
292.) Mr. Foose informéd Mr, Gutierrez that he could not — it was prohibited. (SMF { 292.)

Despite his receipt of the Memorandum and the conversation Mr. Gutierrez had with Mr.
Foose, Claimant ignored a League rule and played an Academy Player during the Real Madrid
game. {SMF §293.) Claimant’s decision in this regard “caused a lot of angst around the

League.” (SMF ¥ 294.) Nevertheless, on August 25, 2011 — approximately one month after he
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allowed an Academy Player to play against Real Madrid — Claimant also permitted # Trialist
player to play in a gated exhibition game against the Harrisburg Islanders. (SMF9295.)

Claimant’s playing of the Trialist player in thé gated exhibition game againstthe
Harrisburg Islanders was his-secoiid violation of the Memorandurh seiit by Mr, Durbin ~second.
violation in the month since the issuarice of the Memorandum.. (SMF 9296.) Moie disturbingly,
Claimant spoke with Mr, Durbin:and informed him that he understoad itwas @ violation for thie.
insigned (Ttialist) player to participate in the gated exhibition game, but that he decided o pi{iy
the player anyway. (SMF Y:297.) Héalso ififormed Mr. Durbin that he disagreed with the rule
and would do it-again, (SMF1[297)

As a result o Claimant’s action in blatantly ignoring this League Rule, the Cominigsioner:
of Major League Soccer, Don Garber, fined the Philadelphia Union$25,000. (SMF §298.). The
Philadelphia Union was able to get the-$23,000 fine reduced to $15,000 through negotiation with,
the League, ™! but the other §10,000:was held in‘abeyanice in'case theré wefe-any future
violations. (SMF§299.)

Furthermore, within the Philadelphia Unjon. organization, the Team Manager is
responsible for the signing of all Honiegrown Players., (SMF § 302.) In this regard, on or about
May 1, 2012, the League-concluded that the Philadeiphia Union violated the League’s Home
Grown Player rule and sanctioned it as follows: (1) oss of $75,000 in allocation money; (2) a
$35,000 fine payable immediately; and (3) should the player be transferred — which is a
determination that Wiii now-solely be made by the League — the League will retain 2/3%s of the

transfer revenue with the Philadelphia Union only receiving 1/3. (SMF ¥ 303.)

*! From a timing perspective, it is worth noting that the $15,000 fine was billed to the Philadelphia Union on
February 22,2012, (SMF {300.) - ,
“The $10,000 that was held in abeyance was nitimately assessed against the Philadelphia Union, (SMF { 301.)
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»

Taking into.considetation thie’$5,000 Team fine — but ot the $35,000 individual fine:
imposed on:Claimant —as.a result-of Claimant leaving the Technical Avea and initfating contact
with aplayer during the April 21,2012 game against Chivas USA, the Philadelphia-Union was
tequiifed to pay $55,0001n fities from February 22, 2012, thiough Aptil 26,2012 solely asa
result of Claimant’s dctions. (SMP §] 304-305.) In other words, ina little-more:than-d twe
month spanin 2012, the Philadelphia Union was requited o pay in finesapproximately. 5% of
Claimant’s $373,050 salary—all as a result of Claimant’s violation of League Rules. This.
additional 15% expenditure, which does not even take into consideration:the loss of the
allocation tiongy and potential transfer revenue —is absolutely significant. Accordingly;
Clatmant’s breactinig. of his:obligation to comply with the aforementionied League Rules was
material-and-certainly provides the good faith basis for the Philadelphia Uniion to exereise:its
discretionary right to terminate the Einployment Agreement. As détailed within the Termination
Lefter; the Philadelptita Union made the decision to exerdise its discretjonary right i thi
and, as‘avesult, it appropriately terminated the Employment Agréetrierit and Clainiant’s
Arbitration Demand should be dismissed as a matter of law on this independent basis alone:

b Claimant’s Seeking-of Other Employment During.the Time he was
Employed by the Philadelphia Unjon — Materially Breaching the
Paragraph VII of the Employment Agreement.

Before the Partiés entered into the Empi'oyineﬁt Agreement, the Philadélphia Union was
required to negotiate a “buy-out” for Claimant relative to his then current contract with the
United States Soecer Federation (“U.S, Soccer™). (SMF § 19.) More specifically, the
Philadelphia Union, through Mr. Sakiewicz, negotiated and paid a $75,000 buyout to U.S,
Soccer in order to release Claimant from his contract. (SME 4 20, 251-252) Given that it

invested significant resources — including the $75,000 payment to U.S, Soccer— to bring
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Claimant to the téam, the Philadelphia Union had concens-about-Clainiant retutniing to. U.S.
Soccer while he was still under contract with the Philadelphia Union. (SMF§253.)
Accotdingly, the Parties included the following language within'Paragraph VIL of the
‘Employnient Agresment:
Furthérmore, during the Ferin, [-'Claimant;]: shall.not (1) engage inr
discussions with any other professional soceer team regarding
employment by such teatn.. .
(SMF §254:)

Claimant testified that he understood that, during the term of the Employment

Apreefnent, he was prohibited from engaging in “any-discussions with driy ¢lubs[,] and if any

clubsior federations ornational teams would:like to-engage with [Claimant] in discussion of the
contragt, that they need-to seek:the permission from the Philadelphia Unior...” :(SMF 23.)
 Nevertheless; Claimant, contrary to the-terms of Paragraph V11, engaged in discussions with and
otherwise sought employment with othet professional soecer teaitis — including U.S: Socter—on
several geeasions during the time he was employed with the Philadelphia Unfon.

i Claimant’s Ariempt to Return to U,S. Soccer While
Employed by the Philadelphia Union,

While he was still employed by the Philadelphia Union, Claimant reathied out to his
former-player representative and current sports broadeaster, Shcp Messing, in an effort to-seek
other employment. Pertinent in this regard, Claimarit and Mr. Messing were very close and, in
fact, Mr. Messing acted as Claimant’s advisor during the tinie Claimant was employed as the
head coach of DC United — another MLS team.* (SMF §265.) Their.relationship was to the

point that Claimant would refer players to Mr. Messing to represent and Mr. Messing actually

% Mr. Messing’s advisor relationship was 1o a degree where Claimant beliéved it necesséiry to give Mr. Messing a
championship ring after DC United won the MLS championship. (SMF ¥ 265.)
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recommended Claimant to Mt. Sakiewicz for the head coachinig position with the Philadelphia
Union. (SMFY266267)

Accordiiig to the testimony-of Mr. Messing— an unbiased and independent witness—in
April/May-0f 2010; before thestart of the 2010 Men’s World Cup in. South Africa, Claimant
contacted Mr: Messing and told him that, i the Unilted States Men’s National Soccer Team* did
not do-well in the World Cup, b wanted to 1ake over for Bob Bradley as Head Coach of the
Men’s National Soccer Team., (SMF 9§ 268.) Then,the week after the Men’s National Soccer
Team lost in South Africa, Claimant cilled Mr. Messing:and 4sked Mr., Messing to.speak to
Sunil Giilati — Presideiit of U8 Sdccer — aiid 5¢¢ if Claimant could become the next Head Coach
of the Men’*s National Soccer Teatn — he wanted to-take over fot Bob Bradley in this regard, who
was still under contract with U.S. Seccer at the time; (SMF §269.) Although he was reluctant
to, Mr; Messing did in fact reach-out to-Mr, Gulail on Claimant’s behalf — specifically notifying
Mr. Guldti that Cljaixﬁa;i{:_w:is;iiﬁtetbstéd;,;ini‘gﬁb-Bﬁrﬁtﬂ%}@"s; positian, (SMF §270.)

Claimant’s actions iy seéking to:teturnito the UiS. Sotcer — the exact entity in which the:
Philadelphia Union paid-$75,000 i order to bring hi to. Philadelphia—without guestion.
violated Paragraph VII of the Employment Agreement. In fact, the primary purpose of including
Paragraph VII ini the Employnient Agreement was to protect the Philadelphia Union from
Claimant taking this exact action — from Clainiant attempting to return to U.S. Soccer after the
Philadelphia Union paid it $75,000 to bring Clainant to Philadelphia.

ii. Claimant’s Seeking of Employmeni in Europe, Dubai and
the Emirates While Employed by the Philadelphia Union.

Although Claimant’s actions in seeking a return to U.S. Soccer is enough in and of itself

to establish a material breach of Paragraph Vi1 of the Employment Agreement, it is worth further

# Notably, the United States Men?s National Soccer Team is part of the United States Soceet Federation.

56




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 65 of 116

noting that; in 2012, while Claimant was still employed by the Philadelphia Union; Claitnant.
‘again contacted Mg, Messing in an effort to seek other employment.. This time, Claimant.asked
‘Wi Messing whether he could find Claimant a coaching position in Europe, specifically asking
"Mr, Messing to investigate 4 coaching position with the Polish National Team, a coaching;
‘opportunity in Scotland, and coaching possibilities in England. (SMF §1274-275)) Atthe sarie
‘time —in 2012, while tie was:still employed by the Philadelphia Union — Claimant also agked Mr.
Messing for the contact information of sports agent, Michael Morris, as Claimant thought Mr:
Morris eould tielp Him find another coaching position in Burope. (SMF §276.)

'Mr..'Meéﬁfﬁg@rbﬁi’déﬂé@[’a‘ima;ﬁt ith-the reéquested contact information of My. Morris
and, agcording 1o the testimony-of M. Morris — another unbiased and independent witness ~
Claimaat, while herwas still emp‘loyﬁd; by 'tha-Ph,iiadeiph ia Union, in fact contaeted Mr. Morris
oni’3 or 4-occasions asking.Mr. Morris to help find him a coaching position in the Emirates or in
Eurtipe. (SMF §§277:278) ﬂﬂ'{ii"qibjnﬁaﬁi)j;-==»aijOl‘di'rrg to Mr. Morsis, Claimant, while e was still
employed by'the Philadelphia Union; also sexit Me: Moiris his CV — his resume: (SMF §279.)
As reguqs,_ted:byﬁiaimant —aggin, during the time:he was employed with the Philadelphia Union:
~Mr: Morsis alsotesiified that:he actually reachied out on Claimant’s behalf to:clubs in‘the UK.,
Atnerica, Dubai and Burope ~ informing these clubs that Claimant was Teoking for a coaching
- positior. (SMF¥280.) As several of the clubs Mr, Motris reached out to o behalf of Claimant
asked for a copy of Claimant’s CV/resume, Mr. Morris sent Claimant’s CV/resume to the: clubs.
{(SMF ¥§281)

To that end, the testimony of these two independent, unbiased withesses, Mr. Méssing:
and Mr. Morris, indisputably establishes that, during the time he was employed by the

Philadelphia Union, Claimant “engage[d] in discussions” regarding-employment with other
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professional soccer teams. In this regard, itis wotth poiniting out that the testitony of Mr.
Morris— establishing that Claimant contacted him — actually corrohorates the testimony of Mr.
Messing, at least to the extent he testified that Claimant contacted him to. obtain Mr. Morris”
‘coritaet informétion, In other words, the testimony of these two witngsses —establishing.
Claimant violated Paragraph VII of the Employment Agreemerit— is consistert 'anéi'absdiufei){
credible.

Importantly, on or.about May 24, 2012, mere weeks before the Philadelphia Union
exercised ifs discretionary right to terminate the Employment Agresment, Mr. Messing called
M. Sakiewicz, unsolicited,-and informed him that Claiimant: (1) previously seughit
emiployment with U.S. Soccer; (2) was actively seekingiemployment in Europe; arid:(3) asked-for
the contact information of Mr. Morris, a well-kriown sports agent, (SME{282.) In-other words,

notwithstanding the finiing of Claimant’s actions in seeking:other émployment, Mr, Messing did

nit advise-Mr. Sakiewicz of Claimarit’s actions i this tegard until May 24, 2012

ifi. Claimant’s Atteinpt to Seek Other Eirgpiﬂy‘rﬂéﬁﬁ?‘hro‘z;g}é:
Veljko Paunovic:

In addition to the testimorty provided by Mr. Messing and Mr. Morris; thé record
evidence also established that Claimiant; duting the time he-was employed by the Philadelphia
Union, updated and submitfed his resume in an effortto seck other employment. More:
specificaily, on Aprif 30,2012, Claimant sent an email to Veljko Paunovic; which stated:

Let's work:the project togethér and ] fee! that it would be great to have

you as‘my assistant coach wherever 1 & we cango. Let me know what do
you think aboeut this opportunity.

(SMF 4 256) (emphasis added.)

' Mr. Messing was a former teammate and acquaintance of Mr. Sekiewicz. (SMF §282.)
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During his hearing lestimony; Claimant was asked what he-meant by “wherever 1 & we
can go™* and, in response, Claimant simply testified that he didn’t know — he had “no recollection:
whatsoever.” (SMF §257)) Considering Claimaat’s subsequeirt actions, it is clear that Claimarit
was referring 6 hirh looking for another coaching position — whére, assuming Mr. Paunovic
‘helped him secure the other coaching position, Mr. Paunovic could be his assistantcoach, To
illustrate, on the following day, May 1, 2012, at9:50 a:m., Claimant sent another email to. Mr,

Paunovic, thistime atfachirg bis resume. (SMF { 258:) The resume sent by Claimant to Mr,

Paunovic had been updated to. include the-Clairiant"s experierice-with the Philadelphia Urﬁc‘m‘;‘z‘s

(SMF 9§ 259.) Additionally; air 'tfh’ee.lafstﬁagéréfﬁ[dimaﬁt?s yesuing, Claimant wrote:

convemence

(SMF4260.)

Interestingly, on his resume, Claimant does tiot.include his Philadelphia Unjon email
address—he only includes his-personal email address. (SMF 4262.) Additionally, within one-
(1) minute of sending his resuri¢ to Mr. Paunovic—at 9:51 a.m., Claimant sent-another email to

M. Paunovic directing Mr. Paunovic to send future émails to his “personal email address.”

(SMF §263.) During his heating testimony, Claimant was asked why he directed Mr. Paunovic
to communicate with him at his personal emmail address and, in response, Claimant simply stated
that he “ha[d] no clue.” (SMF §264.) Although Claimant claims not to know, it is pretty
obvious under the circumstances that Claimant was attempting to conceal the fact that he was

seeking other employment in violation of Paragraph VII of the Employnient Agreement.

% Although the résume sent on May 1, 2012, to Mr. Paunovic was updated with bis Philadelplia Union experience,
at his deposition, Claimant unequivocally testified that, during the time he was employed by the Philadelphia Union,.
be never put together a resume or a CV. (SMF 7261.)
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To.that'end, Claimant, contidry to the tefms in Paragraph VII, ‘sought othér employment.
during the time he was employed by the Philadelphia Union. Each-of his actions in thisregard
without question breached the Bmployment Agreement. Moreover, these breaches were material
for several teasons. Foremost, given the significant resources the Phitadelphia Union invested to.
biing Claimanit to Philadelphia~ including:a $75,000 buy-out — it wanted to ¢nsure that Claimant.
remained a5 coach for the entite’term of the Employiment Agreement. Accordingly, it ensuted
that'the Empioymcnt Agreement included language that specifically prohibited Claimarit:-from
even engaging in discussions regarding other employment. This fact alone establishies'the
materiality of Claimant’s breach in this regard.

Additiohally; Claimant’s actions were significantly embirr'assi'qgjfd_tiie Philadelphia:
Union. - As-explained jn mote detail in Subsection [ILC:2.c., ifid; hotonly was Claimant
looking for other employment, but, in his-attempts to find new-employment, hre-was making
disparagifg remarks eoneerning the Philadelphia Union as well as its managément.

Aggin, the Parties expressly agreed, pursuant to Paragraph VHI within'the Employinent
Agreement, that any and all breachesof the Employment Agreement wo uld fesult in Irteparable
harm. (SMF 725.) Specifically, Paragraph VIII of the Employment Agreement:provides:

[Claimant] represents and agrees that he has. extraordinary and unigue
knowledge, skill and abdny as manager of 4 professional Soccer team dnd
its.operations, that the services [Claimant] is to providé to fthe

Philadelphia Ution] hereunder cannot:be replaced-orthe loss thereof
adequaiely compensated for in mnoney damages and that any breach bx

(SMF 4 25) (emphasis added.)
Accotrdingly, Claimant knew and understood that he contractually agreed that any breach

of the Einployment Agreement would cause irreparable harm to the Philadelphia Union. He also
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understeod that the benefit of the bargain for the Philadelphia Union was Claimant remaining the
‘coach: during the entire term of the Employment Agreement. Clajmant's:attempt to find other

enmiployment — o severa] oceasions —potentially-deprived the Philadelpliia Union of its

barggiinied-for benofitand, thus, such-actions indisputably. amaunt to-a aterial breach of the

‘Employment Agreement. At the very least, Claimants aetions ii::r:fh‘i&.i:rqgﬁfd;p‘rmide'the
Philadelphia Union with a good faith basis to exercise its-discre tzonarynght to terminatethe
Employment Agreement. As detailed within the Termination Leétter, the: Philadelphia Union
made the decision to exercise its-discietiondry. zfi;ght47 iti this regard, and, a5 a vésalt; it
appropriately tefminated the Employriieiit Agréement and Claiimant’s Arbiteatior Demand

should be dismiissed as a matter of law on thisindependent basis alone:

< Claimant’s Making Disparaging. Remarks Concerning.ihe
Philadelphia Uriton — Materially. Biedching iragraph IX(D) of
the-Employment-Agreetient.

In executing the Employm eiit--.Azg;ééﬁiﬁéﬁt,-‘Cl"aifn:aﬁiitf- and the. Phil adelpl'HaUmon %{grﬁ‘eed to.
the following:

(D) ...during the Term and for twelve monthisthereafter, Manager and the
exeeutives of the Chib_shai} refram i‘ram mald n an .‘ dxs‘ araging remarks

emplovees or the Stadium, on the one hand and Mari geror ?ma, on the other
hand.

(SMF 1 24.)

The record evidence establishes that Claimant bresched.this provision of the Employment
Agreement. More specifically, Mr. Messing testified that, during the time-Claimant was
employed by the Philadelphia Union, he met with Claimant for about an hiour gnd Claimant made

the following statements to him:

7 1t iy important to reiterate that the Philadelphia Union did not leani of Claimant’s actions In seeking additional
employment until May 24, 2012 — mere weeks hefore the Philadelphia Union exercising its-discretionary right to
terminate the Employment Agreement, .(SMF 1282.)
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««<We spoke: for-an-haut and the glst of —not the gist; that conversatzon
wus (Cianmaut} telling me: L ha  the Trell : adelphia.
: e sty 1(1 'i‘}nf, 2 don’t knew whaf ﬁ:ev’l ¢ domg and

(SMF §271).(emphasis added.)
‘M. Messing further testified that Claimanit:fo1d him that “Nick [Mr. Sakiewicz] doesn’t have a
fucking clue”; “[tJhey don’t know what they're-doing: They bave no money.” (SMF {272.) On

or about May24.2012; within there weeks of the Philadelphia Union exercising its diseretionary

‘right to terininate 1he-E=mgi:6yﬁieﬁf Agreenient, Mr. Messing called Mr. Sakiewioz, unsolicited,

and informed him of Cliimant’s disparaging remarks inthis regard. (SMF §282.)

To thatend, Mr. Messing —again; an uribiased, independent witness — testified that
Claiinant, contrary to Paragraph IX of the Eimploytient Agreement, made disparaging comments
about the Philadelphia Uniori aid Mr. Sakiewicz, Suich Sortments are without guestion
damaging to thereputation of both the Philadelphia Union and Mr: Sakiewicz — they.go directly
to the heart of Mr. Sakiewigz” ability and the financial viability.of the Philadelphia Union. OF
note here, Mr. Messing wag a well known-and regarded soceer breadcaster. Claimant was
essentially making these comments to a journalist without any-concern as to whether they would
be more publicly canmunicated by Mr, Messing. Claimant’s making of such comments during
the time he was employed by the Philadelphia Union clearly amounted to a material breach of
Paragraph IX of the Employment Agreement, At the very least, Claimant’s actions in this regard
provide the Philadeiphia Union with a good faith basis fo-exercise its discretionary right to

terminate the Eniployment Agreement. As detailed within the Termination Letter, the
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Philadelphia Union.made the-decision to exercise-its discretionary right™ in this regard, and, asa

yesult,:it -agprqppigtgly‘_termiiija;e,d?::thc Employment Agreement and Claimant’s Arbitration

Asnoted within the Termination Letter, the Philadelphia Union also exercised its
'&isénét‘tbﬂ‘aiﬁy-{rfigﬁt':t‘o?féﬁnihﬁt’e‘fhé Bmployment Agreement as a result of Claimant éngagifig in
“gross negligetice or W‘iﬂ’fﬁilﬁ.nisieciﬁdﬁct in performing his duties...” In particular, the
Termination Letter advised Claimant®® that the Philadelphia Union was exercising its

diseretionasy fight to ferminate the Employment Agreement, inter-alia, due to-Claimant’s: (1)

initerfering with and/or retaliating against players for exercisinig, their MLSPU tights: (2)
jeopardizing thehealth -and safety of players by forcing them to participate inl uiiprecedented
teaining activities without hydration; (8) jeopardizing the health and safety of players by
distegarding thé advice of the head athletic trainer and forcing/injured players to participate in
the u‘ﬁpl;‘écédentédf'tlf{éiiﬁihgfaeti%ziﬁés; (4) jeopardizing the hedlth and saféty of the players by
creating an atmosphere wheté the players felt they were required to hide concussions from the
medical staff; and (5).subjecting the players to inappropriate hazing activities. (SMF 4 335.)
Claimant’s actions in this regard were, to put it mildly, reprehensible and not the
expested actions of an individual responsible for being fhe face of a professional soccer
franichise. Moreover, theése actions without question provided a good faith basis for the

Philadelphia Union to terminate the Employment Agreement due.to Claimant’s.engaging in

“® 1t is importaut 16 teiterate that the Phitadelphia Union did not learn of Claimant’s actions in seeking additional
employnient untif May 24, 2012 — mere weeks before the Philadeiphia Union exercising its discietionary righit to
ferminate the Employment Agreement. (SMF ¥ 282.)

* Claimant was also-advised on the specific issues amounting to gross negligence via email-on June 13, 2012.
(SMF{32L.)
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“gross negligence or-wiliful misconduct.” Indeed, duetothe seriousness of Claimant’s:actions,
the question should not be “whetherthese.actions sonstit,.utegg_ross;;,1eg1§gen;:e providing-a good
Faith basis for the Philadelphia Union to terminate the Brnployment Agreemeit;” it should bé:
“how can these actions not constitute a good faith basis for the Philadelphia Union to terminate
the Bmployment Agreement for gross negligence?”

However, even if it was assumed, conirary to the‘indisputable record evidence, that,
under-the factual circumstances, it'was questionable whetherthe Philadelphia: Union had a goed
faith basis to exercise its discretion to‘terminate the Employient Agréement, the positions taken
fb__y the Lieague and the MLSPU. relative to Claiimiant™s actions indisputably confient that the
Piiiladejlph}a Union had a good faith basis to exercise its. discretion and-terminate the
Employment Agreement. Indeed, as explained in'more detail below, the League and the MLSPU
~thé two. primary entities controlling the business of professional soecer! in‘the United States-—
ot only believed that Claimant’s actions weis sighificant enough to-warrant the fermination of
the Eruployment Agreement, but they both actually took pasitions that left-the Philadelphia
‘Unijon-with no choice butto exercise-its diseretionary right fo terminate the, Employment
Agreement.

a Claimant’s Interfering with and Retaliating Against Players for
Exercising their Rights 1o Contact the MESP UL

Asnoted in more detail in Subsection 1LA. and TILC2.4., ,s'ypra,so‘ the record evidence
establishes that Claimant interfered with the rights of the players — namely Mr.(li#and Mr.
@ - o raise issues with the MLSPU. Indeed, Clainiant not only directed the players not to
sontact the MLSPU with issues, but he also attempted to coerce the players (and Mr. Foose) to

réveal the identity of the player that already brought an issue —GERSSSEENF issue — (o the

% In the interests of judicial economy, the Philadeiphia Union will not reiterate the facts ontlined within fhese
subsections; rather it will incorporate the same herein by reference.
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MLSPU. Significantly, within his.own testiniony, Claimant’s admits that he told the players riot
to contact the MLSPU, specifically testifying:

..:80 if any kind of issues: will ocour, I told, ihem basically that please, if
¥ou. hnve an‘ kmd of CONCETHS, HOY | 1ssues,4 jllst fa teii them 1f you have

(SMF § 48) (emphasis added:)

Of note, this message was communicated to the entirg team i‘hladdition”to:M”r.—and-;Mre
D ol lowing Claimant’s collective meeting with those gentlemen as the (R
GRS (SMF 1 46-48;). Inaddition to Claimant’s.admission in this regard, the record:

evidence — created through the. testimony- of séveral indépendent and unbiased witnesses —
establishes that Claimant repestedly interrogated players (M. G and Mr. (SEENED) as well-as.

M. Foosein anattempt to ascertain the identityof the individual that brought the ijiiliissves
to the attention of the-MLSPT.. Ttis well settled that coereively interrogating employees to
disconrage union.activities violates Section 8(a)(1) of the NLRA. Sambo s Restaurants, 247
NLRB 777 (1980) (“by-askirig the'employees to reveal the identities of the employees.
resporisible for the Unjon [activities] and by asking whether [an employee] was responsible for

the Union, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.”).

In addition to Claimant’s repeated attempts to interrogate, coerce; and threaten the
players {as well a5 Mr. Foose), the record evidence also establishes that Claimant rétatiated
againist the player he admittedly believed wasresponsible for raising the (il issue with the
MLSPU. (SMF §57.) In fact, Claimant, in an emotional statement he made to the team, used
the fact that he traded this player — (MR- to threaten the team. (SMF §94.) It is also
well seltled that retaliating agairist an employee for engaging in union activities. violates Section
8 of the NLRA. 3815 9" Avenue Meat and Produce:Corp. d/b/a Compare Superinarket and'
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Uhnited Food-and Commiereial Wotkers: Union, Local 342, 2013 WL.2992089 (N.L.K.B, Div. of
Judges Jul 20, 2012) (Employer violated Sections §(a)(1):and (3) of the NLRA by discharging
.employee in tefaliation for his union activities and his protected concerted activities).

Accordingly, Claimant’s répeated attemipits to fterrogate; coeree, and theaten thie players
ian attempt-to prevent them from exereising their right to contact the MLSPU vislated: the law;
Similarly, Clafmants teading:of a-player in retaliation for that player exercising his right to.
contact the MLSPU violated the. law. ‘Considering that Claimant’s-actions-in this regard clearly.
violsted the law —specifically: the NLRA — such actions, withoutia doubt, amounted to gross
negligence and/lor willful misconduet providing & good faith basis for the Philadelphia Unisn'to
exercise its discretionary right to tetminate the Employment Agreement, Indeed, how eould the
Claimani’s actions in.violating the.law not smount to gross negligence-or willful miseonduct?
Simply. put, it catinot, Morgovef, as-noted in detail ahove, if the Philadelphia Unjon detetmines
‘in gopd faith the Cliimant sngaged in gioss negligenee, it has the discretion to términate the,
Employment Agreement, As detailed withi the Termination Lietter; the Philadelphia Union
‘made the decision to:exercise its discretionary right-in this regard, and,.as a result,: it
appropriately terminated the Employment Agreement and Claimant’s Arbitration Demand
‘should be dismissed as a matter of law onA this independent basis alone.

b. Claimant’s Jeopardizing the Health and Safety of the Players by
Forcing them to Participate in Unprecedented Training activities
Without Hydration.

Asnoted in more detail in Subsection IL.B,, supra, the record evidence establishes that
Claimant jeopardized the health and safety of the players by foreing them to participate in an
unprecedented trail fun without hydration. Indeed, the testimony of Claimant, the players and

the athletic trainers established the following:

66




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 75 of 116

. The Philadelphia Union played a League gawie on May 26, 2012 against Toronla,
and although Toronto had not yet won'a: game atithat p@mt i the season, it ended
up beating the Philadelphia Unioni.. (SMFE] 90-91.). After the game, Claimant
made dn “emotional statément” to the players that incladed:

We were supposed to haye five days off,.but not Eim:going to think
about how long that’s-actually going to- be. We oing to get
home, we’ie goinng to work hatd, we're going to: shake-tree, and
we're gomg to figure out who sticks-and: whodgesn’t... My job 18
not going anywhere, I can’t befired.

Cancel your mps We're going to go back and we're going to
work hard. h

...he couldi’t be fired. . .he wasn’tafraid to do anything inregards
'to the team..

He wasn’t aftaid to shakie:the tiee...ie had traded away (il
-and Tthe] leading goal scorer...[he]-wasi't afraid to make
moves and to.roll with it.

. As threatened in his “‘emmfonal statement” after- the: Toronfo ;game, Claimant
caneelled the players’ ‘schieduled days off — 1e players o cancel their
vacation plans — dnd made the players, for{
at a trail located at the Youth Soccer: Center Y. SCP)-on:
99.)

it history, show up
Viay 31, 2012. (SMF 9

. ‘The trail, which is located appro}nmate}y 100 -yatds from:the YSC facility; is a
biacktop/oement/pavement trail ‘that is’ approximately two body widths wide,
uneven in parts with rolling hills, and- apprommately 1.3 siles in lengfh, (SMF ]
100-101.) On that particular day, May 31, 2012, it was lot and. sunny, about.80.
degrees and humid, (SMF¥ 102.)

» Shortly after the players arived at the trail, Claimant -directed them to begin
running the irail; he did not inform them how far he ‘was making them run, he
simply told them to-keep running until he told them to stop.. (SMF-§ 103.)

. Although water yas available to the players, Claimant admits that he told the
players that they were not able to have water and he, in fact, did siot let the players
have water during the run. (SMF §108.)

. Claimant further admits that he took the reusable “squirt™ bottles provided by the
Athletic Trainers from the playersand threw tliem inthe bushes. (SMF 4 109.)
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» Believing that the denial of water to the players jeopardized theix health and
safety, especially consxdermg the weather and the arduous nature of the trail run,
the Philadelphia. Union’s Head. Athletic Trainer Paul Rushing, confronted
Claimant about his decision to:deny water to the players. (SMF {111.)

. Desp:te M. Rushing’s tepeated gfforts to conivinze Claimant that the denial of
witer to the players: duri  trail mun. jeopardized their health and safety,
Claimant refirsed 10 cor;cede‘ posmon -stating he “didn’t care,” he was * ‘going

to make men outof [the players].” (SME 9 114.)

. Claimant also-admiis that made/the following statements to Mr. Rushing during
the May:31, 2017 trail fims

No fuckifig: watet® piit-the- water back, water will make you lose
foens:and, if; you Te. th}rsty you are weak.

(SMF{1 18

. Claimant knew that MLS -games were actually: being stopped to allow players to
take breaks and: sty: ‘hydrated.. (SMP-Y 130.)

* Nonetheless, and against the clear directives-of Mr. Rushing, Claimant refused to
allowy-the plg_ycrs 1o hydrate during the trail run; he simply told them. to keep
fuhning until he told thetniostop, (SMFY 115)

. Claimant: aiso‘-?physm&ily took water bottles out-of the. hands.of Mr. Rushing and
: i who~ had a0 individual disposable boftle
npped otit of" 'h;s hands iay Claimant. (SMFY7112; 114)

3 After initially arguing’ ith Claiinait regatding the players® accéss to watér durinig
the frail run, Mr: Rushing — as he was extremely concerned about players
becommg dehydrated —fried to-sneak water to:the players, but Claimant, otce
again, physically took the: water bottles from Mr. Rushing, walked through the
players and threw the water boftles into the woods/bushes. (SMF § 116.)

. Tn total, the players ran three or four Intervals, totaling approximatsly 10-12 miles
— all ‘on 4. conerete surface, in hot and humid weather; and without the ability to
hydrate. {SMF ¥ 116.)

There is no question that the foregoing actions ot Claimant amounted to gross negligence

and/or willful misconduct providing the basis for the Philadelphia Union fo exercise its
discretionary right fo ferminate the Employment Agreement. At a starting point, Claimant’s

requiring of the players to run 10-12 miles on a concrete surface was, to put it mildly,
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unprecedented and-absurd. Indecd, Mr. -and Mr. G, two players with extensive
experience playing in'the League as well as with the U.5. Men’s National Soccer Team,™!
testified that they had never been asked to run 10- 12 miles before, In fact, M[’- testified
‘that the 10-12-miles was “roughly twice as long as [he’d] ever run [before] 52 ': (SMEY 1547y

To ‘cbm;;oﬁﬁd'”lhe ridiculous.léngth-of the run, Claimant; against the advice ofthe Head
Athletic ‘Trainer;made the decision to deprive the players of hydration. Although the denial of
‘water to pi@yersarunni ng that distance under any circumstances is simply nonsensieal and absurd,
it was especially teoubling on this particular occasion as the record evidence establishes that the.
':-.\k?eiﬁtiier?duriqg the runi was 80 degtees.and humid. A simple Google search can uncover-
Tuindreds of instances where young athletes — ranging from high school athletes toprofessional
athletes in the'National Football League — die as a result of heat exhaustion and dehydration:
‘While:the Philadelphia. Wnion playets— in this instance — were lucky enough to survive this 10~
12 riils ruii ofi conotete surface in ot and humid weather without hydration, it does Hot fean
thiat Claimant’s actions did not put the tiealth arid safety of these players at risk:™ To thie
contrary, his actions, which, again, overraled and incited a confrontation with the athletic
trainers, absolutely jeopardized the health and safety of these players.

To make niatters worse, as explained in Subsection ILB., supra, there was absolutely no

compelling justification to wartant Claimant taking this risk. In fact, it-is hard ~if not

51 Specifically, Mr. Qi testified that he has approximately @ years of experience playing in the MLS,
specifically playing for approximately@® different MLS tearns and having approximately Qlifdifferent coaches; be
also played for the U.S. Mational Team i

" P (SMF § 153.) Similacly, Mr. @ testified that he had approximately iyears of
experience including his time playing for the U.S. Men’s National Soccer team. (SMF 9 156.)

52 M. Foose also testified that the length of the frail run “was completely out of whack with anything that fhe] had
‘ever heard.of finy coaching staff doing within the League.” (SMF 1 194) i

#% Atthough the players were lucky enough to avoid heat exhaustion, the record evidence does éstablish thata
handful of players were thjured as a result of the arduous natuze of the trail run. In particilar, Mr. SR fered
4 stress veaction that kept him on crutches for a few days. (SMF ¥ 146.) Additiorally, MESSSNEN coxnpiained
that his “feet were on fire.” (SMF § 149.)
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impossible — to imagine a‘Scenario where it would be appropriate to-withhotd hydration from
professional athletes, especially if those athletes are being asked fo-run 10+12 miles:* Claimant
does-attempt to justify his actions “after-the-fact® by s.,.aying:hewi;thhdd :waier~f1*‘o;m‘;'§ﬁ1e:_p:l_ayer~_s
because-one of the players, \JNNE was sick and he'did not want the sickness to-spread. Not
only does this statement fly in'the face of the record evidence-— which ¢ledrly illustratés. that
Claimant never mentionied Mr. WM sickness onthe date of the riin,” but, even ifaccepted
agitrue, it does not even come close to.amounting to a compelling enough reason to denyplayers
hydration during a 10-12 miletun, This isparticularly true where there-werg coolers filled with
inexcess of 60 individual / disposable boitles of Gaforade and water less than 100 yards away

frotnthie trafl. If Claimant was in fact worried about \YRESMEENEP spreading his virus, these

individual / disposable bottles could have been distributed-tosthe players. 1f this-wasin fact

Claimant’s concern, why did he forcibly take W

ndividual/ disposable water

bottle?’ There is:simply no explanation for Clalinant®s.conduct in this regard. His*“explanation”
eflects hiis subsequent tealization that his.conduct wds completely out-of-bounds and represerits
nothing niore than:a veiled-attempt to cover-up his-grossly inappropriate and boorish behavior on
May 31", (Also see in this regard Subsection TILC.S., supra.).

To that end, Claimant, presumably as punishirent for the team losing to T c'>.r()111‘0_;515 forced
the players 1o run approximately 10-12 miles on a concrete surface, in hot and hiumid weather,
and without the ability to hydrate. Moreover, during the trail nun, Claimant became very

confrontational and, in fact, physically toock water bottles, including at least one individual

** There is a reason why Mr. Gl and Mr. @S through their entire careers, never had andther jnstance in
which a water limitation was placed upon them during a raining session. (SMF 9 157-158.)

3% 1t is important fo note that Claimant offers absolutely no corroborating ¢vidence with regards to this claim. In
particular, it is:rather telling that Claimant could not preduce one witriess'to confirm that he was actually concemed
about spreading the sickness o

% Mr. QI actually testified that he'believed the Clalmant’s actions during the May 31, 2012 fraining session
were meant to “punish™ the players. (SMF § 159y
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disposabie water bottle, fioni Mr. Rushing and the players: Claimant actions in this regacd were:
inappropriate, unprofessional and, most ianpmtariﬁy,_je‘o‘pardizgd the health and:safety of the
players. At the-same timme, there is no-question that.such actions amounted to gross negligenge
and/or willful misconduct providing a-good faith basis for the Philadelphia Union to exercise it
discretionary Tight to terminate the Eraploymeit Apreeiient. As detailed within the Termination
Letter, tlie Philadelphia Unjon made the deeision to-exercise its-discretionary right in this r‘egard
and, as a result, it appropriately terminated the Employment Agreement,jandCiei’;imam’"s,.
Arbitration Demand should be dismissed asa:thatter of law on this independent basis.
X2 Clannant ‘s Jevpardizing the Health.and Safety:of the Players by
stregardmg the Advice of the. Head Athletic Trainer-and Farcmg
Injured Players to Participate in Training Activitiés.

As detailed in Subsection 1B, supra,Y in-addition to refusing to allow players to hydrafe

during the 10-12 mile trail run, Cléimatit, also in contravention.of the strenuous objection ‘ofithe

evi‘&enc.e‘ﬁﬁtablisﬁe&ﬂiat,-ﬂ'nftﬁﬁ :&at@oﬁtfheatmﬂ‘mns Mr. Rushiing informed Claimant iriside the.
YSC facility that there were four players on the injury list and that he-wanted these players-to
remain in the YSC facility for treatment; due to the extent of their injuries. Mr. Rushing did not
think it was appropriate in this regard for these players to participate in an intensive training.
session. (SMF{Y 131, 141.) As admitted by Claimant, contrary to Mr. Rushing’s opinion, hie
“ordered” these four injured players to participate in the trail run, (SMF 138.) In other words;.
Claimant, over the advice of the athletic trainers, required the four injured players to participate
in a trail run that was, according fo a player with over @ years of professional soccer experience,

twice-as long as any run he was ever asked.to do. (SMF { 153-153.) 1 additiotr to overruling

%7 In the interests of judicial economy, the Philadelphia Unifon will not reiterate the facts outlined within this
subsection; rather it will incorporatethe same herein by reference.
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M. Rushing with régards to-these four players, Claimant-informed M. Rushing fhiat neither fi¢
nor the team doctors wete going to make decisions regarding the ability of'a ,piai;y@::' totrain or
play in a game; these decisions were now going to.be made by Claimant.” (SMF { 137)

‘Whilethe Philadelphia Union players-were lucky enougli-fo:be able to.avoidany: seriois
injuies as4 testltof Clafmant’s réfusil to provide acoess fo water; the same cdnnot be said of
Claimant’s decision to force theinjured players to participate jin-thie teail run. l'ndeéd«,fﬁs?. avesult:
of their forced participation, at least three players suffered set-backs withi their injurics, likely
réquiring thesg players to miss additional playing time, (SMF { 144;) Mercover; at least two of
the'i njyr.eﬁ ,playg“r‘sfqréea to participate were unable to play i the next ganie for the Philadelphia
Union. In-fact, both of these players were unable to play for it Jeast sixteen (16) days aftef the.
run. (SMF {145 Additionally, a “handful” of players came to Mr; Rushing afterthe May. 31;.
2012 run seeking treatment —with several of the players being referred to-a-dogtor the next day
6F Withiii the next coviplé of days. (SMF 1§ 146140, One player; Mr. SR actualty.
sustained a stréss reaction.as a result of the arduous nature of the trail fin. (SMFY146). In
other words, the ’injured. players were, over the advice of the athletic trainers, required to
partieipate in a'trail run that was so intense that healthy players actually sustained 'ii;juries_,
Undei such eircumstarices, there is absolutely no justifiable reason for-Claimant to have ignored
the advice of the athletic trainers and forced players with significant irijurfes ‘to-'par‘.tficizpate- in‘the
trail run,

As a result of such participation, several of these injured players suffered setbacks
relative to their injuries. In other words, Claimant actions not only jeopardized the health and

safety of the players, but they actually affected the health and safety of the players, as several

%% Such astatement was quite inferesting considering Claimant acknowledges'that he is not'a Heensed athletic
trainer. (SMF 4143}
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players exacerbated their injuries-due to their forced participation.. This directly affected the
Philadeljihia Union, asthe setbacks suffered by these players:resulted in the players missing
‘additional ;pia;,{,i'ng‘ time..

There is absolutely no.question that Claimant’s actions in this régard amouted to gross
negligence and/or willful misconduet providing:a good faith basis for thie Pliilddelphia Union to
exercise its discretionary right fo terminate-the Employment Agreement. As defailed within the

Tetmination Letter, the Philadelphia Union miade the-decision to-exercise ils discretionary right

Tivthis regard, and, asa result, it appropriately terminated the Biployment Agreerient and
Claimant’s Arbiteation Demand shiould be dismissed as:d matter.of Taw.
Although unnecessary given the circumstances, the-outrage exhibited by-the League and
the MLSPU upon learning of Claimant’s actions {n-foreing injured players to parficipate in the
‘trail run confirms that the Philadelphia Uition, 4t the very, least, had a:good faith basis to exercise
its discretionary authotity to teiminate the Employrient Agreerent. -Tn fact, based npor the.
resulting actions of the League and the MLSPU, the Philadelphia Union was essentially left-with
no choice but to exercise its diseretion in thisregard:and Claimant’s.glaim should be dismissed
on this independent basis alone.
d  Claimant’s Jeopardizing the Health and Safety of the Players by
Creating an Atmosphere Where. Players Felt the Need to Hide
Concussions from the Medical Staff.
As noted.in more detail in Subsection I11.C,2.a.iii., supra, the League’s Medical Policies
and Procedures Manual contains. Concussion Protocols — protocols that are, generally speaking,
updated annually. (SMF §228.) Contrary to thesé Protocols, Claimarit would make light of the

fact that players had concussions and; in fact, it ‘was not uncommon fot Claimant to call a player

a “pussy” for having a concussion. (SMF ¥ 228-229.) Claimant would:also tell players that
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they should not-miss-any time due to-a-concussion ~you are weak if you are unable play through
aconcussion. (SMF230.) Mr, Foose testified as to Claimant’s pattern of abuse directed

against players whohad siffered concussions as follows:

(SME 1 231-232) (emphasis:added:)

Based upon these stateriients, Ciaimant had creafed an atmosphere where players were.

aftaid to speak up and be honest about thelr: symptoms for fear of the reaction and the
consequences that would come down on'‘them from those:disclosures. Considering the
importancs of this issue. to the MLSPU and League, Claimani®s actions in-this regard were.
significantly alarming. (SMF §233.) As isreadily known, the existence of concussions in
professionial sportsis significantly. By way of exainple, the NEL is currently facing a number of
lawsuits aver its handling of concussions. Accordingly, Claimant’s actions regarding
concussions not only jeopardized the health and safety of the players, but it alsc subjected the
League and the Philadelphia Union to potential liability — both from a public ielations standpoint
and from a fonetary standpoint.

Based upon the foregoing, there-is absolutely no question that Claimant’s actions in this
regard amounted to gross negligence and/or willful misconduct providing a good faith basis for.
the Philadelphia Union to exercise'its discretionary right to terminate the Employment

Agreement. This good faith basis is compounded by the position taken by the MLSPU — as
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described within Mt, Foose’s testimony above — as well as the josition taken by the League — as
described withinithe MLS Report. As detailed within the Termination Letter, the Philadelphia
“Union madé the decision to exercise its diséretionary right in this regard, and, as a result, it
,"q]';projj‘éiéteiyftéﬁﬁi’t-zéied the. Employmént Agreement and Claimant’s Arbi tration Deriand
should b dismissed as a matter'of Jaw on this independent basis alone.

8 Claimant’s Subjecting of Players to Inappropriate Hazing
Aetivities,

Claimant brought the idea of spanking rookie players following training camps:to the:
Phitadelphia Union, as he had also spanked players-when he was the head coach of DC United.
(SMF§ 237.). Clalimant admits that he participated in a practice following the training ¢camps of
2010, 2011 and 2012 where players were spanked. (SMF ¥238.) Claimaht also:adnitsthat this
practice included Claimant dipping his hand in ice-water and then spanking the roolcie players;
‘sometimes choosing to hit the players with-a:sandal. (SMF ¥§239-240.). Claimant further

-admits that §

 participated in the {ilftraining
cainp: (SMF{241.) At that time; Giaimantphysicaily‘épat’t‘ked Mr: SR who, agaih, was
T (5] 242)

Tmportantly, Mr. Sakiewicz became aware of the “spanking™when he was:shown 4 video
of the ritual in (M. (SMP §243.) Considering the volatile nature of hazing activities.in sports,
Mr,-Sakiewicz was.extremely concerned by the content of the video, Indeed, a simple Google
search can.uncover hundreds of hazing incidents where athletes — ranging from high school to
professional sports ~ sustained significant injuries, including death, as a result of being subject to
certain hazing activities, Understanding this, as well as the fact that Claimant was actually
physically hitting the rookie players — to the point that an ice bucket was needed. to-nunb

Claimant’s hands — Mr, Sakiewicz, as soon as he and Claimant were alone,-approached Claimant
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and told him that he did niot want the “spanking” to-happen again; he wanted Claimant to “cease
doing it? immediately.”® (SMF §244:) However, in March/April of @B M. Sakiewicz found
out that, gontrary to his direct order to Claimant, the rookie hazing ritual ~ineluding the:
Spanking of 4 minor.— Had again taken place at the ¢onglusion of training camp in Febroary of
WMl (SMF §245.) In other words, Claimant ignored Mr. Sakiewicz?s direct order foi him to
cease “‘spanking™ / hazing activities.

Claimant’s complete disregard of a direet order given fo him by Mr. Sakiewicz — who,
socording to the Employment Agreement, is Claimant’s diréct report —amounted to
insubordination. (SMF{10.) Such i-n'subordi‘natibﬁ,;_-especiﬁlly-c‘t)n'sidetii:'&g-,fiﬁ iivolved sich a
sensitive issue, absolittely amounted to gross .,a;qg‘i:ijgence:cr witlfiil misgonduct providing:the
‘Philadelphia Union with a good faith basis to terminate the Employment. Agreement. Indeed,
Claimant®s refusal to follow this dirgct order:not only jeopardized the health and-safety-of the
players, but it also subjected the Philadelphia Uniorn to Tiatillity — both. from:# public relations
standpoint (if it became known to.the puiili"c) and from @ monetary standpoint (if a player
sustained 4 serious injury).

Notably; Claimant’s blatant disregard of Mr, Sakiewicz’s order to cease “spanking” the
rookie players was ot the first time Clainant engaged in insubordinate behavior, Indeed, in or
around Augustof 2011, Vioce President of Operations, Rick Jacobs, came up with the idea of
inviting all the high school coaches to PPL Park for a symposium where the Philadelphia Union
could share its plan for rolling out its youth soccer program, (SMF §306.) Mr, Sakiewicz

thought it was a good enough idea to warrant a collaborative, brainstorming session and asked

%2 Mr. Debusschete corraborates the testimony of Mr. Sakiewicz, testifying tliat he knew Mr. Sakiewiez had directed
the Claimant to cease the “spanking.” (SMF {245.)
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M. Jacobs to-send sent-out an-etail. (SMF 3 0‘7;)_ Mr. Jacobs agresd and sent sich-an efiail to
a variety-of people, mistakenly failinig to copy Clajmant-on.the email, (SMF 1308

Although Mr: Jacobs apologized for not including Claimant on the email, Claimant
became very upset — inciting a significant amount of back=and-forth emails.. (SMF{309.) Mr:
Sakiewicz repeatedly asked Claimait to féet with ini to discuss the-issue of Mr. Jacobs leaving
him off of the email, but Claimantrefused to meetwith him. (SMF {310 Inaddition to his
refusal to comply with Mr. Sakiewicz’s reasonable request to-meet with him, Claimant also had
his attorney send M. Sakiewicz correspondence advising him that Claimant is ot required to
‘report him; rattier, e repokts to. the ownier-of the Philddelphia Union, Jay Suganhan, In othier
words, Claimant was tellingMr. Sakiewicz ~ the CEQ of the Philadelphia Union —that he does
not have to listen to.him, (SMF‘{[BI 1.}, Mr. Sakiewicz responded to Claimant, citing to the:
pertinent provisions of the Binployment Agreement ¢learly illusteating that Claimant roported to
M, Sakiewitz: (SME{312)

This prior insiibordinate-behavior simply deronstrates that Claimant had a history of
insubordinate-behavior; he was-a loose eannon with absolutely no respect for authority. Tn-other
words, Claimant’s insubordinate history illustrated that he had no intention of ever rectifying his
behavior; Claimant was going to continue to.do what lie wanted to de. This repeated
insubordinate behavior, on top of the-overall seriousness of the hazing issue, clearly amounted to
gross negligence and/or willful misconduct providing the Pliiladelphia Union with a good faith
basis to exercise its discretionary authority to terminate the Employment Agreement, As detailed
within the Termination Letter, the Philadelphia Union made the decision to exercise its

discretionary right in this regard, and, as a result, it appropriately terminated the Employment
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Agreement and Claimait’s Arbitiation Démind:should be dismissed 4s a matter of Taw ofi this:
independeént basis alone.

4.

‘ Uman or~Mdférzaliv Demmental fo the )
the League, the Philadelphia Union i1

A discussed ininore detail within Subsection 101B., supra, Paragraph TI(A) of the
Employment Agreement allows the Philadelphia Union to:terminate the Employment Agreement:
{Fit, in itsreasonable:discretion, determines in good faith that the following occurred:

XK
(%) Manager"s commission-of any action or involvement in.any oceurrence
~that {x)-brings Manager into public disf epute or {y)-reflects iira
materially adverse manner on-the mte rity, reputa tion. or goudwill
of Club o the Tearn;

(SMEYY 1"441;5). (emphasis added.)

Paragraph I(C)(v) of the Employment Agreement allows the Philadelphia Union to
‘terminiate: the Employntent Agreement if it, in its sole discretian, determines in good faith that
Claimant:

ook
(v) makes a statemient or engages in conduct. . thatis
materially prejudicial fo the interests of the League or the
Team or materially detrimental to the public image and/or
reputation of the League, the Club and/or the game of

§OCCEI‘»,

(SMF Y 13) (ernphasis added.)
Accordingly, pursnant to the express terms of the Employment Agreement, the
Philadelphia Union could terminate the Employment Agreement ift (1) it determined — in iis

reasonable discretion — that Claimant committed an action or was involved “in any oceurrence

78




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 87 of 116

that (x) brings Manage into publi¢ distepute of (y)reflocts in'a materially adverse mantier on the
integrity, reputation or goodwill of Chibyor the Team®;-and/or (2) it determined, In ifs sole
discrefion, that Clajmant made'a staterient.or engaged in “conduct. ..that is materially prejudicial
to-the interests of the League or the Team of mateiially deteimental to the public fmage and/or
tepitation of the Lea gue,‘ih'e‘6’1118 aiid/or thie:gatne of saccer?” (SMEY] 13-152) Significantly,
while the' Employment Agreement does provide Claimant with a limited ability-to-cure his
conduct in certain instances, such:a right to cure does.not-apply to Paragraph HI(A)(5). or (6)
aitd/or Paragraph I(C)(v).

As outlinied in specific:detail thioughant this Brief; stiortly afier the.comencementof
the 2012 season, Claimant began engaging in patterii of teprehensitilé tonduct that withiout
iquestion fell-within the ambit of Paragraph TLIA)(5)-(6) and/or Paragraph [(C)(¥). Tndeed, as
noted throughout this Brief:

a Claimant, contrary ta the terms of the CBA as'well asithe law (NLRA), interfered
with the rights of the players by threatenit g,y coerciig, ‘and restraining players from.
exercising their right to Contdot the MLSPU;

e Claimant, contrary to the terms of the CBA as-well:as-the law-(NLRA), retaliated
against a player tie believed contactéd the MLSPU with the D issue ~
trading the player and, thereafter, pointing-out the trade to the other players as a
form of intimidation;

» Claimant; in violation of League Rules, left the coaches Technical Area, ran onto.
the field, paxt;cxpated in a “melee” with the players; and physically pushed a
player on the opposing team, resulting in the broad¢aster making the following
statement: (SMF Y 72.)

And Peter Nowak lost his mind there, Yeah, he should be sent off.
That’s inexcusable. Inexcusable for a head ceach to act in this
manner. ’

...and that- is what Baldomero Toledo is telling him. It’s like:

What’s your justification? Just.walk off. He's telling him: Peter,
Jjust go,
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(SMF §13.)

'y

..:Look at Peter Nowak, See, that’s why he gets sent off. What
are:you doing on the-field?.

\

Claimant’s jeopardizing of the hiealth and safety of the players by forcing thern,
against-the strenvous: objectaons of the athletic trainers, to participate. in an
unprecederited 10-12 trail raii on 4 coficrete surface, in hot and humid ‘weather
without tiydration ~ includinig Claimant actually physically ripping water bottles
out of the hands-of the players.and the ‘Head Athletic Trainers.

Claimant’s, agaznst the: strénueus objections of Mr. Rushing, foreing m_lured.
players; to participate-in unpre :dénted trail ron on 4 conclete surface, in hot
and humid weather without t n, resuliing in several of these injured players
suffermg setbacks reiatwe foithelr injuries, In other words, Claimant’s actions-not

-only jeopardized the healthiand: safetyof the piayers, but they actually affected the

health and safety of the-players:

Claimant's making of" dzsparagmg remarks.-about the Philadelphia Union to- Mr.

Messing; specifically telling Him:

.. We:spoke for an Hour and thie-gist of — not the gist; that
converSatmﬁWas {Clalmant] telling me: 1 have to get the hell vut
of Phliade]pﬁw “These guys ate'sfupid: They don’t kriow what
‘th d d they’re broke. They have.no motey. . .that also

a

3 nvetsation 10 me because:lie was bad

-meﬁthmg and siammmg g teamn in the League...But he was.off'the
wallat that point: saying that they’re stapid, they don’t have a'clug,
and they’re broke...

‘Nick [Mr, Sakiewicz] doesn’thave a fucking clue; [tThey don’t
kuow what they’re.doing. They have no money..

(SMF §§271-272.)

Each of the foregoing actions of Claimarnt without question broughit Claimant into public

disrepute, reflected in a materially adverse manner an the integrity, reputation and goodwill of

the Philadelphia Union, was materially prejudicial to the interests of the League and the

Philadelphia Union, and/or was materially detrimental to the public image or repufation of the

League, the Philadelphia Union and/or the game of soccer. Most importantly, each of these

actions by Claimant: (1) reflected in a-materially adverse manner on the integrity, reputation and
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; (2) was materially prejudicial to the interests of flie

‘goodwill of thie Philadelphia Union

Philadelphia Union; and (3) was materially detrimental to-the public image or feputation of the:

Bhiiladelphia Union.

Asa staiting point, Claimant’s actions during the April 21, 2012 Chivas USA game were
“oiit df sositrol™and Sighificantly embarrassing to the Philadelphia Union. Mr, Sakiewicz
testified relative to this point as follows:

It weis:more than mﬁmatmg /it was alarming, it was embarrassing: . 1
Kriow all the owners in the League, including Mr. Anschutz, whose narie

"iS on the trophy,who I worked for for six years, who are watchmg ‘this,
.:and the ﬂrst thmg that pops in m_y head is: What kmd of team; is Nlck

 And this-was fnote than _]l]St heat of the moment, codch rumlmg ‘onto the
field, playérs engaging in 4 fight. This was the beginnings of‘a brand that
Jayad T did not-want to have as a clubs and it was. hurtful, it was
disappointifig; it was alarming;.and it was tough to watch.

M. Sakiewiez further testitied that Claimant actions during the April 21, 2012 Chivas
USA ganie did niot comport with Philadelphia Union policies and procedures in-at least two,
respects, specifically testifying:
.++Theré is our purpose staterent, which I alluded to eatlier,: which lays
out -a lot of detail about things like the brand, our core beliefs; our greatest
imaginable challenge, which is to become one of America’s most-admired
soccer brands; and:then there’s an employee manual. And then, of course,
there’s [Claimant’s] contract, which addresses a lot of those
responsibilities; roles, duties, and things that we expect out of [Claimant].
(SMF 4 316.)
During his testimony, Claimant actually acknowledged that he received negative feedback as a

result of his actioiis during the April 21, 2012 game against Chivas USA —which is easily

confirmed by reiterating the reaction of the broadcaster during the game. (SMF 972,317)
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Additionally, the disparaging remarks made by Claimant fo My, Messing —that Mr.
Sakiewioz and the Philadelphia Union were broke and did niot know what they were doing ~
absolitely. constitute a “statement. ...that is materially prejudicial to.the-interests-of...the
{Philadelphiz Union] or matetially detrimenal to the publi¢-image and/or fepittation of the
[Philadelphia Uttion].” Tn this fegard, it is important to réiterate that Mr. Messing is not only a
hroadezster for the League, but he is also well-known i the U8, soceer community and he could
have easily utilized this information to-further defate the public image or reputation:of the
Philadelphia Union.*

The remaining issues— the interference/retaliation with the players MESPU rights and the
jeopardizing of the health and safety of the players by withbolding water anid forcing injured
players to. participate in a strenuons 10-12 mile trail run — all became significantly embarrassing
when he League took it upon itself to investigate Claimantand:then issued the MLS Report.
Indeed, the issuance 6f the MLS Report had 4 significant hiegative ifripact on the position/posture
of thie, Philadelphia Union withi the League, 1he MLSPU, and the players. Mr. Sakiewiez
specifically testified on this point as follows:*"

Q. Was the June 12‘“‘, 2012, repqrt_-em'banassin & to you?

A.  That would put it lightly...It was bevond embarrassing.

¥ 0o dlso; Oirv. Buehler Lumber Co., 373 Pa. Super, 515, 519-20, 541 A.2d 1143, 114546 (1988), quoting
generally O Well v. Schneller, 63 Pa.Super 196 (1916) with-respect to gmployment contracts as follows:

It was not necessary for the defendarits {empioy@rs} to show that appetiee’s [employee’s] conduct
caused them to suffer any foss. A master is not compelied to keep-an ‘employee, hired fora given
term, in his service until the master’s business has suffered pecuniary foss, whire the employee is
disobedient and quarrelsome with co-employees When the master Is justified in believing that
the employee*s conduct is-such that an injury or ioss torthe business or disorganization of affairs is.
likely to follow from such conduct if it is permitted to continue, the master-would be warranted to
discharging the employee.

6 Mir. Sakiewicz further testified that be believed Claimant’s actions affected the organization, the fans, the
sponsors, broadcast partners, affiliates, and investors, (SMF ¥319.)
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Q.  Didyou feel Jike it had a detrimental inpact on the team’s position of posture.
with the-League and the Players Union?

A.
(SMF §318))

In addition to Mr. Sakiewicz"s subjective:beliefs regarding the effect the MLS Report had
on the Philadelphia Union, the tedord evidence conclusively establishes that Claimant’s actions.

absolutely affected the, -iiife'gi‘fty;.téﬁutat§0ﬁ,§g;o@'GWi1}. and public image of the Philadelphia Union

—at least i the eyes ﬁfih‘.esLjé'z‘zﬁgu.e:-and‘ttﬁevM’iﬁSPU. Indeed, as noted in-more detail in
Subsection ILD., supra; based ypon thefindings within the MLS Report, the MLSPU believed
Claimant’s actions.during the May 31, 2012 trail run created a “very, very dangerous situation”
for the playets, specifically foting:

it was:a hot day; it was dn extremiely hurnid day — both of them were ~
»and»ttte 1en B h of the runs. was com .Ieteiv out of Whackwu‘h angthmg

(SMF 4 194) (emphasis.addedl.)

Accordjingiy, the MLSPU took the following position relative to Clatmant:

We certaml took a4y osxt:on and I thmk our gsiticn reaIi from June

it safe for ozzr members to vhave him as-coach of the team. So ﬁom the

morent we.learned about the runs and the things that happened with those
as well as the concussion issues, our position was he can’t continue as
coach.
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(SMF ¥ 195) (emphasis added.)

Significantly, Mr. Foose, who had Ted the MLSPU sitee ifs iniception’on. Aptil 1, 2003;
testified that the MLSPU had never proviously (or subsequently)taken the position that acoach
needed to be removed from ateam. (SMF ¥ 196) In this instance, however; the MLSPU felt so
‘strong in-its position relative to Claimant that it informed Mr. Durbin: th’a,t=.itimaS;ieQntampiafiq'g 8
strike-or withholding players from team activities if Claiment continued to-coath the

Philadelphia Union:

$o this was a-conversation that took place between: Jon Newsnaii {sounsel
for MLSPU] and myself on the loth and when wé V_'iked Abolit what wag

(SMF{ 197) (emphasis added.y

Simply put, the MLSPU believed that Claimant’s actions were so reprehensible that they
‘not only warranted his being “fired s the coach [of the Philadelphia Unjon),>” but, should the
Philadelphia Wiifon not take that action, it would potentially withhiold the players from training.
(SMF 99 197-198.) Importantly, Mr. Durbin — and the League — shared the'sare view as Mr.
Foose, with Mr. Durbin specifically testifying that Claimant’s actions could not be corrected and,
as a result, he believed Claimant “need(ed] to be fired.”® (SMF 94 199-200.)

The positions of the League and the MLSPU illustrate that Claimant’s.actions affected
the integrity, reputation, .goodwiB and public image of the Philadelphia Union — at least in the

eyes of the League and the MLSPU. Indeed, their positions without a doubt iffustrate that the

“ 1t is extremely lmportant to reiterate that both Mr. Durbin and Mx, Foose came 6 their conclusions — that
Claimant could not continue to coach the Philadelphia Union — on their own, completely. independent of Mr.,
Sakiewicz or anyone. else from the management of the Philadelphia Union, (SMF § 200)
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Philadelphia Union, at the very least, had-a good faith basis to exercise: its disereticniary authority
to/terminate the Employment A greement pursuait to Paragraph IH(?{&}"{S)-}(G)fandﬂ.Para’graph {(C).
As detailed within the Termination Letter; *thcgli’fhﬂaﬂe}ghia‘{Inionzmadé the deeision to-exercise
its discretionary right in this-regard; and; as 4 result, it appropriately tetminated the Employment
Agreernent and Claimant’s Arbitration Démaﬁd-'shoui_dBe-;giiSniiﬁs“iéfét as & matter of law. Again;
while the Emiploynient Agresment docs provide Claitnant with a limited ability to-oute.his
conduet in certain instances, such a right to cure does not-apply to Paragraph .}li(A:)f(S,)}(‘(i) and/or
Paragraph I{C)(v).

3 Claimant’s Failure 10 Comply-in-all Material Respécts with Team Rules or:
League Rules.

As discussed in more detail within Subsection IILB,, supra; Paragragh ILIAN7) ofthe
Briployment Agreement allows the Philadelphia Unign-to tetiniinate the Bploymient Agreement
if it; in its reasonable discretion, detérmines in goad Faith that Claimant failed “to comply in all
material respects with Team Rutles. ..or-League Rules. In this regard; the Philadelphia Usnion
-already détailed Claimant’s violations of League-and Tean Rules. within Subs¢ction II.C.2.a. of
this Brief. In the interests of judicial economy; the Philadelphia Union will not reitetate those
arguments herein; rather, it will iticorporate such arguments herein by reference.

Based upon the argumients presented in Subsection 11.C.2.a., it is absolutely clear that the
Philadelphia Union had a good faith basis to exercise its-discretionary-authority to-terminate the
AEmp’ioymen‘t Agresment pursuant to Paragraph III(A)(7) for Clalmant’s violation of League
Rules. As detailed within the Termination Letter, the Philadelphia Union made the decision to
exercise its discretionary right in this regard, and, as a result, it approptiately terminated the
Employment Agreement and Claimant’s Arbitration Demand should be dismissed as a matter of

law on this independent basis alone.
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The P}xﬂadel; h;a Umon was Directed by the League to Termibiole-or.

As discussed i more defail Within'Subsection TILB., supra, Paragraph II(A)(S) of the
Employrient Agreemeritallows the Phifladelphia Urifon to terminate the Employment Agreement
if it is directed by the Comnissioner of the Leapue to terminate or suspend the Employment
Agreement. In this regard, the record-evidence establishes that, as a result.of Claimant’s
inapproptiate conduet towards the playeis, the League ultimately directed the Philadelphia Union
tortenminate ~ atthe very least, suspend — the Employnient Agreement and, as such, the
Philadelphia Union was:within its right-totefirinate the Employment Agréement withiout any
furttier monetary obligations to Claimant.

To illustrate, the following background is relevant. On Sundaynight, June 10,2012,
while Mr. Sakiewicz wa it Florida, Me, Dutbin ¢alled Mr. Sakiewicz to advise him of the
results f thetultiple League investigations it Claimant’s actions. (SMF§218.) During their
conversation, Mr: Durbin told'Mr. Saklewicz that the Tieague was.going to provide him witha

formal reéport; but that, in the meantime, Claimant could not be near Philadelphia Union

piayersfg: (SMF 9219 Mr. Durbin furthier-informed Mr. Sakiewicz that he wanted Claimant to
be terminated the following day, on Monday, J une 11, 2012, specifically sending Mr. Sakiewicz
the following email on June 11, 2012:

This cannot last until the weekend. You gave me your assurance

this would happen wed. [gic]. It was my reconmendation for it to

happen this moraing.
(SMF 9 221.)

M. Sakiewicz, however, wanted and, in fact, requested additional time before making a

final determination to terminate. Claimarit, (SMF 4 222.) As the Philadelphia Union had two

% OF note here, the Leagug, and not the Philadelphia Union, technically employs the players, (SMF §:220.)
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games comiigip; he wanted to-receive:and réview the actual Iieague report to.confifm the
results of the A?[_Jﬁggiaé’s investigation, and he wanted time to falk to the Philadelpliia Union
.owners andinvestors. (SMF §222.) ‘Mr. Durbin — within several back-and forth emails with M,
Sakigwitz 0t Junie 11,2012 — informed Mr, Sakiewioz that Claimant had 10 be terminated no
fically tellin

Jater than: 'tﬁe*iﬁc‘)mif{g;bf Wednesday, June 13, 2012 — speei My, Sakiewicz that

Claimant“cannct train the team on [Wednesday, June 13, 20121...”% (SMF §223)

Tha;day}b.e’i“@;e the deadline imposed by Mr. Durbin, on June 12, 2012, M. Sakiewicz
réceived an eivaf] from Mr. Durbin attaching an MLS Report detailing the results of the League's
invéstigation irito the fmultiple complairits it received relative to Claimant, (SMF §225.) The
following day, ;tﬁéz?.ﬁi‘lﬁdélﬁhiﬁ‘ Union-— based upon the directive of Mr, Dutbin as-well a5
Paragraph INI(A)(8) of the Employment Agreement — exercised its diseretionary rightto.
‘terminate.the Employment Agreement.

Tmipoitaily, Paiagraph TH(AY(8) of the Eniployment Agreemeitt-allows the Philadelphia
Union: to:teriminate the Employment Agreement if'it is directed by the Comtnissicuier of the
League to terminate or suspend the Employment Agreement. Accordingly, even Af Claimant
‘were to argue that the League did not direct the Philadelphia Union te “terminate” the
Bmployment Agreement; the Philadelphia Uriion also had the discretionary right to terminate the
fEmplloymentcA?g;‘eement if'the League directed the Philadelphia Union to “suspend” the
Agreement, Considering — as evidenced in the aforementioned emails ~ the League directly”
informed the Philadelphia Union that Claimant was not allowed to train the team (or be near the

players), it is‘quite clear that the League, at the very least, directed the Philadelphia Union to

M, Sakiewicz, who has been an executive in Major League Soccer for 19-20 years, had never seen an instance in
which the Leagtie prohibited & coach from participation in practice — while coaches havé been red carded and unable
to coach In games, he had never éxperienced a coach being unable to practice or be around-players between contests.
{SMF §224.)
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“suspend™Claimant, Either way, the Philadelphia Union appiopriately exercised its discretion to.
terminate the Employrient Agreement,

Of note, during the pendency of the instant Arbitvation, Claimant filed a separate fawsuit
in the United States District Court for the Eastern Distriet of Pennsylvariia-against the League-
antd the MLSPU; (SMF{ 344.) Within this lawstit, Claitiant alleges that his firing was ordered
by the League. (SMF 9345,) Specifically; Claimant alleges the following in his Complaint
apainstMLS and the MLSPU: *##*

25.  During the discovery phase of Plaintiffs case against the Philadelphia

Union, Plaintiff learned that his termination was:precipitated by an

investigation demanded by the Major Teague Socger Players Association
and conducted by the Ma_;or League Soccer whiich resulted:in a Report,

Ak

27, During the-deposition testimony of Philadelptiia Union President and
owner, Jay Sugarman related to-the-arbitration: he Phitadelphia
Uftiion and Mr. Nowak (the “Arbitration”™), Mr. Sugartman testified that the:
decision to fire Piofr Nowak was based on:a; directive from MLS that M.
Nowak beterminated as a coach,

28.  Duririg the Arbttratlon hearing coridueted:in late May of 2014; the
Executive Director of the Players Unjon testified thatan mVesﬁgatlon of
Piotr Nowak was demanded by the’ Player s Union in May of 2012 over a
disputed training exercise.

Fokdk
30.  The termination of Piotr Nowak, as coach of the Philadelphia Union

was precipitated and direcfly cansed by Major League Soceer and
Major League Soccer Players Association.

3 3

Tn taking these averments in a federal complaint, Claimant was obligated, subject to
sanctions, to comply with Rule 11 by osily making factial contentions that have evidentiary
support, Fed R.Civ.P. 11. If Claimant's allegaﬁons are taken as frue = which, as described

above, comport with the record evidence — then the Philadelphia Union properly exercised its
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discrétionary right to terminate.the Empleyment Agteement puisuant t6.Paragraph III(A)(S)
Indeed, at the very least, the simple fact that Claimant is making these-allegations in a federal
lawsuit illustrates that the Philadelphia Union must have-had:aigood faith basis to believe it was
directed to tenminate-gr sispend the Employment Agreement by the League.

Significantly, while tii,eEmpiGy.mént Agreemet does provide Claimant with the-ability
to-cure his-conduct in Gertait: instances, such-a right to cuie does not-apply to Paragraph
TII(A)(8). Accordingly, the Philadelphia Union properly exercised its discretionary right to
terminate the Employment Agréement and, as a result, it-appropriately terminated the
Employment Agieement and Claimant’s Arbitration Demand should be dismissed 4s a matter of
law on this stand aloné basis.

Dr

As noted in‘tnore detail ‘within:Subsection 1I1.C.3., supra, while the Employment-
Agreemeént provides Claimant with the limited ability to cure his conduet, it is limited in two
significant respects. First, it does not apply to instances in which the Philadelphia Union
determined, in its sole discretion, that Claimant engaged in any of the conduct outlined in
Paragraph III(A)(3), (6), o (8) of the Employment Agreement: In other words, Claimant has
absolutely no ability to cure his conduct should the Philadelphia Union determine, in its good
faith discretion that Claimant: (1) committed an action or was involved “in any occurrence that
(x) brings Manager into public disrepute or (y) reflects in a materially adverse manner on the
integrity, reputation or goodwill of Club or the Team™; (2) made a statement or engaged in

“conduck...that is materially préjudicial to-the interests'of the League or the Team or materially
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detrimental. to-the public image and/or réputation of the Leagiie, the'Club and/or the game of
soceer”;-and/or-(3) if the Clubris directed by the Commissioner of the Ledgiie to Termitiate or:
suspend the Employment Agreement,

Acecordingly, relative:to the arguments presented by the Philadelphia Union‘in
Subséétions 1114, and 11.C.6., supra, Claimanit had absolutely i ability to gure: Indeed,onée
thie Philadelphia Uriion had . good faith basts to determiné thiat the Clairtiant efigaged inthe
conduct outlined in Paragraph HI(A)(5), (6), or (8) of the Employment Agreement, it could.
exerciseits-discretionary right to-terminate the Employment Agreement — it was:under no:

conttaetual obligation even to con;si’den‘ providing Claimant with the ability o cure:such condugt.

2 Tﬁe Phdadeivhza Umon iy Under No Oblz az‘:on_to P_mwdaCZalmani w;ﬁz an

Thets are limited circumstances where the Employment Agreement does potentially
provids Claimant:with the ability to cure his conduct. These cifouimstantces aré limited to
inistances in which the Philadelphia Union determines, in its'good faith discretion, that Claimant
engaged in the conduct delineated within Paragraphs HI(A)(2), (3), or(7) of the Employment
Agreement, Howevet,.as outlined in more detail within Subsection IIL.C3., supra, the
Philadélphia Union was under absolutely no obligation to provide Claimant with.an opportunity
to cure, if it determines — in its good faith judgrment — that the conduct e‘z;gag_éd in by Claimant.is
of a nature-fhat is not curable, or that the continued employment of Claimant during a cure period
could reasondably be expected to result in material harm to the Philadelphia Union. (SMF §17.)

As outlined in the Termination Letter, at the time it exercised itsdiscretionary right to

terminate the Employment Agreement, the Philadelphia Union-alse determined, in its good faith
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juidgmient, thatthe Claimant’s aetions wers “fiot.capable of beig cured™and that.Claimant's
continued employment “would continue to‘cause material hatm...” (Respondent Exhibit 36.)
Under the circumstances, the-fact that this “judgment” of the. Philadelphia Union was made:in
“good faith” is absolutely indisputable: Indeed; the-conductengaged in by Claimant—namely-
his: (1) interfering with-and/or retatiating against players for exeroising their MLSPU rights; (2)
jeopardizing the hiealth and safety of players by foreing thienn to participate in unprecederited
‘training:activities without hydration; '(3;3";’}eapaﬁizinghthe,ﬁealt,h. and. s‘ajﬁa;y‘_ef:p}%aygﬂs:by
disregarding the advice-of the head athletic trainer-and i‘emi’ngI:i,nj;jmedgplay@;sz’to participate in
the inprecedented training activities; (4) jeapardizing the health.and safefy of the players by
creating an atmosphere'where the playeis feltthey were required-to Hiids concussioris from the
medical staff; and (5) subjecting the:playersta ‘napproprite-hazing activities —is simply not
curable and rose to:the level that the continued employment.of Claimant conld capse material
Harm 1o thie Philadelphia Union.

As d starting point, in order to.have:an opportunity to-cure, the matter at hand must in fact
be curable. How ean the Claimant cure his interference:and retaliation relative to'the players
engaging in union activities? He.could c.cr‘tain"l‘y “promise” not to-do it-again, butthe tiade of
Mr. GEIs final and cannot be reversed. Additionally, the player intimidation has occurred and
‘the quelling effect it had on the players during Claimant’s remaining tenure with the Philadelphia
Union can not be reversed. As to the level of fear among the players and the MLSPU, not even
Bob Foose was willing to raise the interference issue with the League until after Mr, Gl as
traded by Claimant for fear of retaliation. Moreover, how can Claimant cure his-actions during
the April 21, 2012 Chivas USA game? Again, he can “promise” sof to-do it again, but that does

nat remedy the fact that Claimant pushed an opposing player and-was suspended and unable to
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coach-tivo Ledgue ganies. The embatrassiignt to the Philadelphia Union may diminish over
time, but-can’t be ameliorsted by Claimant.. Further; how can Claimanit cure the $55,000 in fines
the Philadelphia Union.wasrequired topay in 2012 as a result of his actions? A “promise™ not

to.do it-againwill nét reimburse the Philadelphia Union for the lost $55,000. How can he cure

‘the fact that hie breachied the Ermiploymignt Agresiment by-seeking additional employment and
making disparaging remarks about the tear anid:its management? Again, a simplé “prornise” not
to:do it-again-or *sorry I told folks you were-broke and stupid™ cannot rectify his actions in this
‘regard; he still made these commentsto a broadeaster who could have easily utilized this
infortiation to further defsine the: public fmage-or reputation of the Philadelphia Union.
Addiﬁ0ﬁé§1y,;"ilew¥-'caﬂ.» Claimant cure l"ﬁl‘@fﬂﬁhtﬁatzii‘c‘;p‘laeed his'hend in an ice bucket and
“slapped” @M during a hazing ritual hie was already directed to cease? He cannot- thiere is

against thedirect

noway to'take back the fact that he slapped:rookie players, includin

order of Mr; Sakiewi¢z. - As & final and peliaps most important éxample, how can Claimant care

his actions telativeto. &i‘&May& ?3‘13, 2012 traif run? Again;, lié-can certainly “promise™not to-do it
again, but'such a “promjse™ is:hollow-and camnot remedy the fact that ke put the health and.
safety of the players at significant risk. How can Claimant remedy the exacerbated injuries-
suffered by the players— requiring the playérs to miss additional playing time and/or how can he
remedy the new injuries suffered by players, resulting in those players missing playing timé?
Theanswer to ¢ach of the foregoing queéstions is, simply, “he cannot cure these actions.”
Indeed, considering the serionsness of such actions, a simple “promise” not to do it again and/or
“apology” is simply not enough to *cure” the harm these actions have already created.
Claimant’s actions are tantamount to-an individual punching or striking another and then

apologizing and promising not to do it again —that individual cannot take back the punch, nor

92




Case 2:12-cv-04165-MAK Document 45-3 Filed 01/05/16 Page 101 of 116

can fie “curs” the fact thaf he has assaulted another. ‘The conduct has already been eomplesed.
The ¢rfme:¥iatas O'cct;rr'ed. Claimant is simply not entitled contractiially to.a mu‘iii}gan‘fcbr»hfiﬁ
ag‘rﬁs;ély‘-‘x‘ﬁ'@pl})‘rqpﬁiate‘actions. Accordingly, while Claimant may regret his actions — although it
does not appear:as though he does ~ the conduct and its resulting harm have already occurred.
There is-siniply no feasible way. for Claimant to rectify the Tact that he traded a player and
‘intimidated g tedm; the factthat players health and safély was put in jeopardy during the May 31,
2012 teail rut, the fact that players were injured:or exacerbated existing injuries duking the May
31,2012, the fact that hie was suspended for two games, and the fact thathe “slap ped” em—_—

Simply-put, the-actions.engaged in by Claimant could not be reasonably cured and, thus,
the Philadelphia Haton éxercised its good-faith judgement not to provide Claimait with an-
opportunity toéurs. Regardless of Claimant’s zealous arguments ta the:contraty; that 18 all that
i$ required of the.Philadelphia Union contractually.

Even if weassume; arguendo, that Claimant’s conduct was curable - a:fact that flies/in:
this face. of the fecord evidence:and common sense — the providing:of Claimant with the-ability. to,
-cure his.condact would haye caused “material harin™ to the Philadel phia Union, ‘Tndeed, as

sutlined in detail above, the MLSPU. believed that Claimant's actions warrantéd his termination
—warranting him.being “fired gs-the coach [of the Philadelphia Union}.” (SMT §198.)
Similarly, Mr. Durbin — and the League — shared the same view as, Mr. Foose, with Mr. Durbin
specifically testifying that Claimant’s actions could not be corrected and, as 4 result, he believed
Claimant “need[ed] to be fired.” (SMF §y 199-200.) How could Claimant cure his actions in
this regard when the League was communieating to the Team that Claimant could have no
contact with players after June 13, 20122 Of particular note, Mr. Foose and the MLSPU

believed Claimant’s actions created such a “very, very dangerous situation” for the players, that
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tlye ML.SPU was contemplating a strike or withholding players from team activities if Claimant
continued to coach the Philadelphia Union. (SMF §197.) In other wotds, if thePhiladelphia
Union provided Claimant with the ability'to cure his coriduct, it would have been materially
harmed, as the- MLSPU could have withheld the players from theteam. ‘Considering:such an
action would have left the Philadelphia Union without a team, it is quite obvious that the
Sontinuéd employment of Claimant would have resulted in"miaterial harmi to the Philadelphia:
Union.

Based npon the foregoing, it is indisputable that the Philadelphia Union’s decision not to
provide Claimant with an opportunity to cure was made in “good-faith.” It is quite clear.from
the record evidence that Claimant’s condyict was nat ¢urable and, even if it was, Claimant’s
continued employment duringa period of cure would Have resultéd it traterial haim 1o the team
and would have been materially. detrimental to the Team’s position.and standing with the Leagne-
and MLSPU,

E.

sz Eﬁgaged iH Actmn& i}:éf Fafl’ed 10 Cotggort wiffr the Sfandar{fs g -Gm;d A

Faith and Fair Dea:‘mg.

Under Perinsylvania contract law, “a material breach by orie-party to a contract entitles
the rion-breaching party to suspend performance.” LBL Skysysters (USA), Inc. v. APG-America,
Ine., 2003 WL 2140240, at *27 (ED.Pa. Aug. 31, 2005) (citing Widmer Eng’g, Inc. v. Dufalla,
837 A.2d 459, 467 (Pa.Super.Ct.2003) (the general rule is that if a breach is deemed “material,”
then the non-breaching party is discharged from all liability under the contract, and miay suspend
its own performance.)). Additionally, under Pennsylvania contract law, if it is determined that
the party seeking to enforce a contract has engaged in actions that failed to comport with

standards of good faith and fair dealing, then it follows that the other party is relieved of its
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obligation to perform under any contract that may have existed. Falls v State Farm Ins. Mut.
Auto, Ins. Co., 774 F. Supp. 2d 705, 711-12-(M.D, Pa. 2011).

More specifically, in Falls v. State Farm Ins. Miit: Ao, Ins. Co., 174 F. Su pip. 2d 705;
711-12 (M.D. Pa, 201 1), the.gourt found amaterial breach-of an'employserit contract where the,
employee used his coworker’s username:and password to: log into the employer’s computer
system in order to compléte required coursework for the coworker. In granting summary
judgment for the employer on the plaintiff-eniployee’s bréach of contract claiim, the court:

reasoned as follows:

[W]e find it clear beyond peradverniture that [plaintiff] materially breached his
emiploytent contract with [etnployer], Loggingon to anothier émployee’s
account and. campletmg coursework-that femployer] expecfed {a cowarker] to.
complete is at & mmu‘num, nethfcai behavxot;_ 'Ixxs wWasa breaeh of frust that

Most importantly, [plainti il : . : | faith
and fair dealing. Every contract in Pennsyivama 1mposes o each party a duty of
good faith-and faii’déaling in its performance and its enforcement. Donahue v:
Federal Bxpress Corp., 753 A:2d:238,.242 (Pa.Super.Ct. 2000) (internal citations
omitted). “Good faith has been definred as ‘honesty in fact in the conduct or
transaction conicerned.’™ J1d, “An sgency relationship is a fiduciary ane . . [fhus:in.
all matters affec:tmgthe subject of the agency, thea act wi

utrnirost good faith in furtheiing and advaneing the prineipal’s intérests.
gToll. Inc. v. Elias/Savion Adver,, 811 A.2d 10, 21 (Pa. Super Ct.2002).
[Plaintiff] did not act in‘good fazth To repeat; his actions in completing [his
coworker's] coursework were dishonest. [Employer] was thus relieved of its
obligation to perform under any contract that may have existed.

Falls, 774 F. Supp. 2d at 712 (M.D. Pa. 2011) {(emphasis added.)
Pennsylvania contract law.controls the instant dispute. As outlined in detail within
Subsection 111.C.2., sz;,;pra,"’j Claimant materially breached the Employment Agreement in

numerous respects. Furthermore, Claimant's actions in this regard failed to comport with the

% in the interests of judicial economy, the Philadelphia Union will notreiterate those arguments herein; rather, it
wiil incorporate the same by feferénce.
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standards of good faith and fair dealing. As a result, pursuant to Penasylvania. contract law; the
Philadelphia Union is discharged from all liability relative tothé Employment Agreement — it is
relieved from the-monetary obligations that serve as the basis for-Claimant’s Arbitration
Demand, -Acgordingly, Claimant’s Arbitration Deniand has no-basis and shotild be dismissed as

gmatter of law,

E  An amIAII Credib:k fy D .
Phile ; ? [ Against Clapmint;

Ii is-well seftled that, within an arbitration proceeding; findings of fact and‘inferences:to:
be diawn therefrom are the exclusive province of the-atbittator. MartikBrothers, Inc: v: Kiebler
Slippery Rock, LLC, No. 08-1756, 2009 WL 1065893 (W.I.Pa: Apr. 20; 2009) (citing Exxoh
Shipping: Co. v. Exxon Seanien’s.Union, 73 F.3d 1287, 1297 (3d Cir 1996): ‘Based upon the
record-evidence established-during the 5-day Hearing in the instant litigation, itis indisputdble.
thal all factiial determinations as well as the resulting inféfences therefrom must beresolved in
favor of tlie Philadelphia Union. Indeed, with all due respect to Clainant, thie'only consistency
inhis testimony was that it consistently conflicted with the testimorty-given' by-tie.other
witnesses and hard evidence ~with many of the-other witnesses being completely independent,
having absolutely no interest in the outcome of the instant litigation.

For instance, and by way of specific examplé,“ Claimant testified that, during the May
31,2012 trail run, he did not “personally take water bottles away from the players” or
“physically take anything out of anybody’s hands.” (SMF § 346.) However, a former playerof
the Philadelphia Union, GEENMEN testified that, during the May 31, 2012 trail run, he
attempted fo drink out of an individual disposable water bottle, but Claimant physically took the

bottle out of his hands and threw it to the side. (SMF ¥ 347.) Similarly, Claimant initially

% Although not exhaustive, the following illustrates several of instances where Claimant’s testimony directly
canflicted with ihie testimony of other witriesses.
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testified that he did not*“throw any [of the water] bottles up intd the woods” during the May 31,
2012 trail run. (SMF § 348:) Howevet, a cutrent player; SN testified that he
specifically witnessed Claimant take:the water bottles and hide them in the woods ~telling
‘players “you guys don’t need water. (SMFY349.) Uponhearing Mr. (estimony,
‘Claimant —when he was recalled as a:rebuttal witness — revised hig testimony-and admitted that
hie did take the water a5 described by M. SEEER: (SME {350,)

As it furtherrelates to the water litnitations Claimarit placed oty the players, Clajriant also
testified that, subsequent to-the May-31, 2012 run, he did not limit the players:to one. water bottle
per practice or place any other water limitations;on the-players. (SMF §351.) However, two.
‘playets, Mr, (NP and GNENGN, o5 vl ds the Assistant Athletic Trainer, Steve
Hudyma, all-testified that Claintarit did in factplace volume water iitativris on the players
during a practice subsequent:fo the May 31, 2012 trail run. (SMF4352)

Additionally, Claimant testified that, during.fhe May 31,2012 frail:run, he did not advise
the Head Athletic Trainer of the Phifadelphia Usiign, Paul Rushing, that the medical staff would
ho longer make the determination as to whiich players are healthy enoigh to play in each game or
participate in the training sessions—such.deterfinations would now be made by the Claimant.
(SMF § 353.) Mr. Rushing, however, specificaily testified that, duting the May 31, 2012 trail
run, Claimant explicitly informed him that neither Mr. Rushing nor the team doctors were going
to make decisions regarding the ability of a player to train or place in-a gariie; these decisions
were now going to be made by Claimant, (SMF §354.) Similarly, Claimant also testified that
Philadelphia Union player (ENENERNND v s able to play in the June 5, 2012 game — only

five days following the May 31, 2012 trail run. (SMF ¥ 355.) Mr. SN however, testified
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that he was unable-to play imtil at least sixtéén (16) days after'the May 31, 2012 trail run. (SMF
4356

Claimants testimony-concerning his hazing of the players as well as his testimony
regarding his interference with-the players® right to.contact the MLSPU was also inconsistent.
As it relatgs to hazing; €laimant testified that he was.nevertold to cease the hazing, (SME
357,) Mr. Sakiewicz; however, testified that he:approactied Claimant and explicitly told him that
he wanted the hazitig to tease imtediately: ;(SMF % 358.) Mr. Debusichere corroborated the:
festimony of M, Sakiewicz; specifically testifying that M. Sakiewicz told Claimant to stop the
‘hazing. (SMEY358,)

‘With regards o his interference with the players® right to contact the MLSPU, Claimant
‘testified that he itever told the playeis they were not-allowed to britig issues to the MLSPU.
(SMF359.). However, several players,including wittiout limitation Mr, SSias well as
I spocifically testified that Claimant told the players:not to.contact the MLSPU, &
(SMF §360;) In this sime fashiion, Claimant also-denied calling M. (ESiand/or Mr. e
aiid-asking thetn who-reported the. qEJJlPissue fo.the MLSPU. (SMF{ 361.) Both Mr. (il
and Mr. SRS however, testified separately and unequivocally that Claimant did in factcall
them and ask them who reported the (lPIssue to the MLSPU — the call to Mr. Sllwas
actually confirmed by anather Philadelptiia Union player, Mr. (Ui who happened to be
preseit during Claimant’s call. (SMF §362.)

Interestingly enough, Claimant further testified that hie did not contact Robert Foose, the

Executive Director of the MLSPU, to ask him to disclose the identity of the Philadelphia Union

§ Sipnificantly, additional players could have been produced to confirm Claimant’s actions in this regard; however,
Claimant agreed during the hearing that he would simply stipulate to the fact that the other players would festify in
the same fashion as Mr. QD 2nd M. GEE In the interests of judicial efficiency, the Philadelphia Union agreed
10-this stipulatiomn.
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players who-¢ontacted MLSPU regarding the SN issue —actually testifying that henever

had'a phoiie conversation with Mr. Foose during tf

ie time hie was employed by the Philadélphia

Union, (SMF§363.) Mr. Foose, howevet, unambiguously testified: that Cldimant not only

-called him, but that; during the-call, Claimant actually asked Mr. Foose to identify:the player that
f'brb‘gg‘bﬁ{tzﬁfo;-;i_ss‘ije to his attention — to the attention of the MLSPU. (SMFq 364.)

Anither gigrificant issue in which Claimarit’s festimony contradicted that of witiesses
‘W,i’thﬁ%ibsdiuteiyﬂo jiterest:in the outcome of the instant li’fig?ﬁo‘ﬁ iivolved Claimatit, contraty 10
the terms-of the Employment Agreement; seeking other employment during the time he.was
employed with the. Philadelphia Union. Indeed, Claimant testified that, during: his employment
with thie Philadelphia Usifon, he did not look to'sée what other employment opportitiities were:
Messing; testified that Claimant reached out to them duting the time he was employed-as the.
‘head coach:of the Philadelphia; Union-in an €ffort to find other employment. (SMF {366.) The
testimony-of these independent witnesses Is furthier corroborated by Claimant’s émailingiof his
resiinié to Mr. Paunovic: (SMF ¢ 256-264.) 256-264.)

Simitarly, Claimant also testified that he never told Shep Messing that Mr, Sakiewicz did
not know what he was doing and/or that the Philadelphia Union did not have any-money. (SMF
49'367.) Mr. Messing, however, specifically testified that Claimant made both of these statenzents
to him. (SMF 4 368.) Claimant also initially testified that Shep Messing did not bring, him to
the United States-as a player, but, a few moments later, changed his testimony -and explicitly
statéd “faJnd 1 communicate that to Mr. Messing, who was yery upset that he brought me here
[to the United States], [yet] he didn’t even have commission for my playing time here in Unit.edv

States, and 1 didn’t give him anything.” (SMF §369.)
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Claimant’s inconsistent testimony-—testimony:that directly conflicts with other witnesses
~even réaches issues that are not technically material to the tesolition of thie instant litigation.
Indeed, Claimant testified that he-paid $25,000-to-the United States Soccer Federation in order to
take the head coaching position with the Philadelphia Union. (SMF 4372.) When he was
presented with the cancelled checks illustrating that the-Philadelphia Union actually paid the full
$75,000 required fo release Claimant from his contract:with the Unifed States Soccer Federation,
Claitnant testified that the Philadelpkia Union initially paid the $75,000; but that it later deducted
$25,000 from his paycheck. (SME §373.) Theuncontroyerted documents produced.in this
matter, however, illustrates that the Philadelphia Union paid the:fiill $75,000 to release Claimant
from his contract with the United States Soceer Federation and that the Philadelphia Union never.
deducted $25,000 from the payments it made fo. Claimant. (SME374.) Moreover; the express
fanguage of the Employment Agreement confirms that e Philadelphia Union paid the entire
$75,000 — specifically outlining:that Claimant would havetoreimburse the:Philadelphia Union
for the $75,000 it paid fo.U.S, Soceer Federation if Claimant terminated the Employment
Agreement prior to'the start of the 2010 MLS season: (SMF {375.)

June 1, 2009, and that he did not have it as of the date of his hearing testimony. (SMF ¥ 376.)
However, Claimant testified that, prior to his erployment with the Philadelphia Unioti —when
tie 'was working with the U.S. Soceer Fedetation — e went to Brazil for purposes of obtaining his
UEFA ‘P.ro‘ license. (SMF §377.) Additionally, the resume Claimant produced during discovery
further illustrates that Claimant obtained (or claimed to obtain) a UEFA Pro Coaching License in

Brazil in 2009. (SMF ¥ 378.)
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As final examples, Claimant testified that he did not push-anyone during the April 21,
2012 game against Chivas USA — the game in which Claimant received:a red card and was
gjected for “initiatinig contaet with an cipp’ﬁsihg;pia}’/érlf?’ (SMF 4.379.) Not only did the Ledgie
fine-and suspend Claimant for initiating contact with an‘opposing player, but the Phifadelphia
Union produced a video:of Clajmant during the April 21, 2012 Chivas USA game, which
unquestionably llustrates thiat Claimant-actually physically pushed the opposing team’s.
goalkeeper. (SMF §380,) Similarly, Claiinant denies that he made certain statements to-the
players after the Toronto-game —specifically denying that he said: (If) he was going to “se¢-who
falls out of the trec-and who’s Jeft standing™; (2) “Pvetraded-the leading scorer and I've traded
the OGN ; 2::d:(3) “you can’t-do anything to me, P'm the GM, the manager, and 1 can
never gét fired>* (SMF {381,y The'testimony of the-players, however, clearly establishes that
Claimant made these statements to the players after the Toronto gatne. (SMF 9 382:)

To that end, ;the;:on%iy-consistcnqy-wi‘thin Claimant’s testimony is-that it consistently
confliets with the testimony giver by other withesses — including those witnesses thathave
absolutely no interest ifi the-outcome. of the instant lifigation. 1t iay be understandable if
Claimant’s testimony-simply conflicted with otie or two intérested witnesses, as he could ague
that sueh conflicts were the result of those witnesses providing self-serving statements in attempt
to further their position in the instant litigation, YHere, however, witnesses with absolutely no
incentive to fabricate their testimony, especially under oath, have presented testimony that
directly conflicts with the testimony given by Claimant. If it did not in fact occur, why would
Mr. Foose — an attorney and officer of the eourt — testiﬁy that he received a phone call flom
Claimant in which Claimant asked him to disclose the identity of the piayers that brought the

-iésue to the MLSPU? Similarly, if it did notactually occur, why would Mr. Messing
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‘testify that Claitant- made disparaging remarks about the Philadelphia Union dnd why would
both Mr. Messing-and Mr. Morris testify that Claimant contacted them in an effort to séek other
employtnent opportunities? Additionally, what incentive would the playérs-and thie trainers have
to fabricate testimony relative to. facts and circumstances surrounding the May 31, 2012 trail.
ran? As-afinal example, why would Mr. Gl and M. JJlffabricate testimony. relative to.
Claimarit*s-actions in interfering with the players” rights-to contact the MLSPU? The sitple
answer 1o every one of these questions is that they would niot; each of these witnesses testified in
this fashion because it repregented the truth. Indeed, not only-were all of fhse witnesses utider:
oath, but they had absolutely nothing to gain by committing perjury,

Simplyput, Claimant either has difficulty remembering details, or he is simply
-fabricatirig facts in hopes of prevailing in thie Instant litigation, Eithietway, his téstirony is
untristworthy-and, as a result, any and all factual determinations, inicluding inférences drawn
therefrom, must be.made in favor of the Philadelphia Union.

G Any dwmiounis Deemed Owed to Claimani by the Philadelphia Usnion Cannit Be
Cafca{atetf {fm‘d After it is Dez‘ermztxeréwke:ker C[dzma;;f recewed any,

The Employment Agregment contains a mitigation clause, Paragiaph (DY, which
explicitly provides as follows:

Club shall have the right to mitigate and set off against its obligations to
pay such Severance Payments any amounts Manager and/or Pino earns or
receives as a result of any services Manager renders for, or rights granted
by Pino to, another person or entity, whether as an employee, consultant or
independent contraolor, subsequent to such termination dnd through
December 31, 2015 (the “Severance Period”), regardiess of whether such
services or rzghts are comparable in nature to the employment hereunder
or to the tights granted under the Pino Agfeement orsoccer related,

(SMF 7383.)

% The Employment Agreerient initially stated Decenber 31, 2012, but this-was extended by the 2011 Extension-
Agreement. (Respondent Exbibit 5.)
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Based upon this contractual provision, any amount deemed owed by the Philadelphia
‘Uhion to the Claimant canndt actually be calonlated until it isdetermined whether Claimant
teceived any cofiipensation ot other monies through December 31,2015, In this regard, it is
worth notinig that, in October of 2014 —since. thedonclusion of the.5-day Hearing ~ Claimarit
was ableto secure employment as the Technigal Director .ﬂfOrAn,ﬁg?-:l&& ‘Barbuda®®
Accordingly, it is quite obvious that, pursuant to Paragraph IH(D), the Philadelphia Union would
e eittitled to offset should Claimatit — contrary to the clear fecord-gvidence ~ prevail in any
fespect telative to the instant litigation,

Accordingly, in aceordance with the express terms of the Employment Agreement -
Paragraph II(D) — any award given to Claimant i this matter must be-subject to two things: (1)
it muist b subject to Claifnant providing:his tax réfum for éach yeat inwhich he is awarded any
compensation; ard (2) it mustaHow for fhe- Phiiladelphia Dniion:to:oredit. any compensdtion
received by Claimant during each year.{as detailed within histaxreturn). In other words; any
award given to Claimant must indicate that any amounts owed by the Philadelphia Union are not
payable. until it can be determined whether Claimant received any-compensation for a given year.

IV, COUNTERCLAIMS

Equally important in this'matter are the counterclaims of'the Philadelphia Union,

A.  Claimant has Refused to Reimburse the Philadelphia Union the Remainin

Balanee of the: $85.000 Advauce.

On.or about June 1, 2009, the Philadelphia Union and Claimant’s Limited Liability
Company, Pino Sports, entered into an agreement whereby Claimant agreed to provide the
Philadelphia Union with his marketing rights — to use Claimant’s photographs, quotations, name,

and image and likeness for publicity or promotional purposes (heréinafier, the “Pino
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Agrgemént”), (SMF9385.) On or about March 15; 2071, the Parties entered into an Advance
"and"Pfé‘d?gje Conseént Agi‘éefmént;fwhéréi‘ﬁfthe Phi’]ade!_'phiaﬂnion agreed to advance Claimant the-
remaitider of the. 2011 fee and the entire 2012 e the Philadelphia Union owed to Claimant
pursuant to'the Ping Agreement. (SMF1| 386.) At the Henring, the Parties agreed that, of the
‘tofalamount advanced to Claimant, 346,680.33 was anearned at the time Claimant’s
employmient was tetminated. (SMF ¥1387.) The Pasties also-agreed that the interest rate
‘ap‘pli@ab{é:t‘ciﬂlaimant?‘s:unea‘rﬁec‘l‘-faﬁvﬁﬁce GF$46,680:33 is 8%. (SMF {388:)

The Eec,OEdaeviﬂmce'estdbiféh;@s}fhat(}lﬁﬁnant0we§ this money and has absolutely no
excuse for not-payment. Indeed, Claimant has not even attempted to offer a shred of evidence to
dispute this debt, Accordingly, the Philadelphia Union respectfilly reduests the entry of an

Order requiting Claimaiit to remit $46,680:33, plus accimulated interest, costs and attorneys’

fees to -iheP]:kiiaﬂé{;ﬁhin‘U’Iﬁdng_

B,

As part of the Deeember 20, 2011 EﬁtensibnAﬁgreemcnt; the Philadelphia Union loaned
Claimant $60,000. (SMF9389.,) The Parties agreed that, as of the date Claimant’s employment
was terminated, $53,717 of the $60,000 loan temaitis outstanding. (SMF 4390.) The Parties
also agfeed that the interest rate applicable to the inpaid loan balance is 7%. (SMF § 391)

The record evidence establishes'that Claimant owes this money and has absolutely mo
excuse for non-payment. Indeed, Claimant has nat even attempted to offer a shred of evidence to
dispute this debt, Accordingly, the Philadelphia Union respectfully requests the entry of an
33.717

Order Fequiring Cldimant to remit Tus accumulated interest; costs and attorneys’

fees to the Philadelphia Union.
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C.  Attorneys’ Fees and Costs.
The counterclaims of the Philadelphia Union also include-a request fof attorneys” fees-
and:¢osts, This élé;i‘znf is based upon the following language with the Agreement:
Wit respect to any dispute arising hereunider, the prevailing party shall b
enititled to prompt reimbursement from the othes party for treasonable
attopneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection therewith..

(SMEY 26

Thé Philadelphi Union’s countérclaim in this regard is threefold: (1) it seeks its
atornays’ fees and costs associated with having this matter rermoved from the: United States
District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania to the American Arbitration Assocition;,
{2)-t seeks the-attorneys® fees and costs associated with defending Claimant’s. Arbitration
Demiind; and (3) it:séeks the atforneys” fees and costs associated with the filing o its
Counterclahiss.

Asattorneys? fees and costs are ongoing and continuingto decruerelative fo the instant
litigation, and, considering that such attorneys’ fées and costs'will continue to acerue through the.
issuiince bf thie Award enfered in this matter, if is assumed putsuant to the stipulation entered at
the hearing of his mater that its counterclaim in this regard will be addressed through the
stbmission of a fee petition after the issuance of the Award in this matter.

V.  EXTENSION OF THE NOVEMBER 20,2013 CONFIDENTIALITY ORDER

On or 2bouit November 20, 2013, your Honor issued an Order, which implemented the
November. 15, 2013 Protective Order subinitted by the Parties. Pursuant t this Protective Order,
the Parties-agreed to keep all “information, documentation or testimony provided ‘dinring
discovery, hearings and/or at any arbitration of this matter” confidential. ‘Paragraph 7 of the

Protective Order specifically provided that it would remain in place uiitil the “latter of the date
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the final Arbitration Award is entered or the date the Arbitrator.addresses the-applicability of
[the] Protective Award beyond the date of the final Arbitration Award.”

In this regard, the Philadelphia Union coritinues to veh‘eﬁléﬁﬁy.rﬁai‘nié'{nfﬁmi the
Protestive Oider should remain in place indefinitely. In support ofits position, the Philadelphia
Union willnot reiterate each and every argument it presented within fhe submissions it made
prior to the entering of the November 13, 2013 Protective Order; father, in the interests of
judicial economy, it will simply. incorporate those argurients hefein by reference. However, it is
irmportant enough o reiterate that the Employment-Agréement:specifically conterriplated all

matters between the Parties to remain confidential, expiiciﬁ_y providing:

and 1ts aﬁilmfes, other teams aud other players on: thc one haaé and
the Manager and Pino, on the other hand, as well as this Agrecment,
the Ping Agregment and the riegotiations related thereto, with the
strictest confidentiality; and

information.

(SMF % 24) (emphasis-added.)
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To that end, the Parties explicitly contracted to keep all information — including the
Employmerit Agreement —confidesitial. This: fact alori¢ warrants the extending of the November
15, 2013 Protective Order indefinitely. Indeed, to do othierwise, would breach the-Employtient

Agreemen tw

Respectfully submitted,
BUCHANAN INGERSOLL & ROONEY PC

By: /s/ Thomas 6. Collins
Thomas G: Collins, Esquire
PATD No. 75896
Anthony F, Andrisano, Ji., Esquire
PA 1D No, 201231
409'N. Second Street, Suite 500,
Haryisburg, PA 17101
Phone: (717) 237-4800
Fax: (717) 233-0852.
E: thomas.coll ins@bipe.conm
E: anthony:andrisano@bipe:com
Altorneys for Philadelphia: Union

Dated: December 5, 2014

» Significantly, in the past, Claimant has opposed the extending of the November 15,2013 Profective Order to.the
Award issued in this matter, as lie, should he prevail, waats to-use.if to *vindicate” himself since the “public” has
become aware of the reasans surroundmg his termination. This argument, however, fails to take into-account that.
the only reason the “public” has become aware.of the circumstances surrounding his termination is because he
attached the terminafion letter to a pleading he publicly filed in the United States District Court for-the

Eastern District.of Pennsvylvania. (SMF 3422
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1 hereby certify that T am this day filing a copy ‘of Philadelphia Union’s Post Hearing
Brief by Blectioni¢ Mail with the American Arbitraticri Association and .serving & topy via
electronic mail and United States First Class Matl, Pé‘s‘t{{vgevil?‘n'epaiﬂ, tper the persons fndicated
below:

Clifford E. Haines, Esquire
Hollie Knox, Esquire
Haines & Associatés

1835 Market Street, Suite 2420
Philadelphia, PA 19103

/s/‘ T hamaa G Col[zns

Coum‘erela:m C{a:man;
Date: December 5, 2014




